
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

KR/COUNCIL 

Please ask for: Karen Rist. Democratic Services Officer 
 
13 January 2023 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 23 JANUARY 2023 
 

Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on Monday, 23rd January, 2023 at 
6.30 pm 
in the Council Chamber - BBC 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES to sign the minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

D.   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS  
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

F.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

G.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 

 
1   PEER REVIEW REPORT (Pages 11 - 42) 

 

 A report by the Assistant Director – Corporate.  
 

2   JOINT SCRUTINY OF THE SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS 
PARTNERSHIP (Pages 43 - 78) 
 

 A report by the Chairman of the Review Group Councillor Edward Mossop. 
 

3   AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES (Pages 79 - 86) 
 

 To receive the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 3 October 2022. 
 

4   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2023/24 (Pages 87 - 102) 
 

 A report by the Head of Revenues and Benefits (PSPS) 
 

5   PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCILS CONTRACT PROCEDURE 
RULES (Pages 103 - 140) 
 

 A report by the Assistant Director – Finance. 
 

6   TREASURY REPORT (Pages 141 - 166) 
 

 
A report by the Interim Treasury and Investments Manager 

 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  
5 p.m. on Wednesday 18 January 2023 
 

 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314226  e-mail 
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk 



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held at the Council Chamber, Municipal 
Building, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR, on Monday, 21st November, 2022 at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anne Dorrian), in the Chair 
Councillors Brian Rush, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM, Peter Bedford, 
Katie Chalmers, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anton Dani, Deborah Evans, 
Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, 
Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judy Welbourn, 
Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Growth), Section 151 Officer, Democratic 
Services Manager and Deputy Monitoring Officer ELDC, Assistant Director - Finance 
(Deputy S151 Officer), Assistant Director - Wellbeing and Community Leadership, 
Community Safety Manager and Democratic Services Delivery Manager 
 
44   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 26 September 2022 were taken as 
read and signed by the Mayor as a correct record.  
 
45   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Tracey Abbott, Alan Bell, David 
Brown and Martin Howard. 
 
46   COMMUNICATIONS 

 
The Chief Executive announced that under Section 85 of the Local Government Act 
1972, Councillor Chelcei Trafford had ceased to be qualified as a Member of the Council 
and a subsequent resignation had also been received.  The office was declared vacant 
and would be filled at the elections for the Borough Council on 4 May 2023.  
 
The Chief Executive reported the receipt of a Birmingham 2022 Commonwealth Games 
Souvenir Baton given in recognition of the part the Borough played in the Queen’s Baton 
Relay.  The Baton would be added to the Council’s regalia collection.  
 
47   DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were no deputations or petitions. 
 
48   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were two questions from Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe, a question from Councillor Judith Skinner, two questions from Councillor 
Anton Dani and a question from Councillor Brian Rush. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



The questions from Councillor Dani were directed to Councillor Tracey Abbott who was 
not present at the meeting, therefore the questions were not asked.  
 
 
Question asked by Councillor Stephen Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Given your involvement in the scenario surrounding the provision of Christmas Lights for 
Boston, when are Members, and Scrutiny Committee Members in particular, going to 
have sight of all the documents associated with the procurement process for the 
provision of Christmas Lights in Boston? 
 
Response by Councillor Nigel Welton  
 
I understand the Monitoring Officer is currently considering this matter and it would be 
improper of me to seek to influence any response that the Monitoring Officer will provide 
following his consideration. 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Under Section 5 of the statutory guidance for overview and scrutiny, issued in May 2019 
and adopted by Council in October 2019, scrutiny members have powers to access 
information.  When will the Monitoring Officer release the information? 
 
Response by Councillor Nigel Welton  
 
I refer you to my previous answer. 
 
 
Question asked by Councillor Stephen Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
According to DEFRA’s Strategy White Paper published in June 2022, DEFRA defines its 
seafood strategy as ensuring the delivery of a prosperous seafood sector and, with that, 
healthier and more sustainable diets achieved by all.  DEFRA initiated the UK Seafood 
Fund in December 2021 to support the long-term future of the UK fisheries and seafood 
sector. 
 
Boston’s cockle fishing fleet is facing ruin following Eastern-IFCA’s recent decision to 
curtail access to the Wash fishing grounds.  Given that Boston’s fishing fleet is one of 
Boston’s few remaining local industries, what practical assistance is the Executive of 
Boston Borough Council planning to give Boston’s fishermen to ensure the survival of 
this vital local industry? 
 
Response by Councillor Nigel Welton 
 
To date I have as you know organised a member meeting that enabled representative 
from the industry to address members of the council and present their concerns this 
invitation was also extended to our MP, who attended. 

Page 2



Full Council 
21 November 2022 

 

 
 

At a full council meeting following this a meeting a representative of the fishing industry 
asked a question of me as portfolio holder. This was followed up with a meeting with him 
where a letter was drafted and sent to the relevant minister. This letter and its response 
was forwarded to all members of the council. 
 
Your response personal to me via email was:- 
 
Hello Nigel 
 
Thank you for your message and the attachment. 
 
Well, the attachment seems to merely explain the procedure for dealing with issues, and 
nothing more.  It’s now up to Matt Warman to support Boston’s fishing industry by 
delivering a result that resolves the issues.  We’ve done our bit in highlighting the 
issues, but we can do no more: it’s all up to Matt now. 
 
Thanks again for supporting colleagues and Boston’s fishermen. 
 
Regards 
Stephen 
 
Even though as a lower tier council our remit is very narrow, this is very frustrating 
however I and the department continue as many other members of this council do to 
raise these issues in any arena where it is appropriate. 
 
In addition to my involvement on a political level I requested the economic development 
team to examine the situation.  They are currently in conversations with colleagues at 
the Borough of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk looking at parallel concerns, if any across 
the region that can be galvanised to enable a holistic ‘single voice’ approach of local 
authority support for our fishing sector. 
 
It is our understanding that the Marine Maritime Organisation (MMO), who has the 
responsibility to perform quality assurance on the byelaw and any supporting evidence 
provided has received the IFCA Wash Cockles and Mussels byelaw for quality 
assurance. We are of the understanding that the Boston fishing fleet have submitted 
comments as part of the consultation process and that this process is still underway. 
 
However, approximately £65 million in grant funding is available through the 
Infrastructure Scheme is part of the UK Seafood Fund. We are more than happy to work 
closely with and will encourage representatives of the Boston fishing fleet to apply for 
funding especially in areas of improved capability at harbours, processing, and 
aquaculture facilities and fleet modernisation. 
 
Round 1 is now closed for applications. However, Round 2 will open shortly, and will 
focus on improved capability at ports, harbours, processing, and aquaculture facilities. 
Further rounds will open later in 2022. They will focus on fleet modernisation and 
recreational sea fishing. 
 
I hope this provides some reassurance that we continue to work with all those involved 
to provide as much assistance that we can. 
 

Page 3



 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Woodliffe pursuant to paragraph 11.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
The shellfish industry is an important contributor to the local economy, the fishermen are 
fighting to preserve their livelihood and looking to the Council for support.  What strategy 
does the Executive have in hand if the cockle industry ceases to exist? 
 
Response by Councillor Nigel Welton 
 
The Economic Development Team are well experienced in dealing with the fall-out from 
industry and have access to resources if needed. All Councillors should be involved in 
making representations to different bodies and continue to fight their corner.  
 
Question asked by Councillor Judith Skinner pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Could Councillor Goodale inform the Council what date he was first aware of the letter 
sent to the council from Christmas in Boston dated April 2022, stating that they could not 
put on the Christmas light display without further funding and what steps he took 
regarding this matter. 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Goodale  
 
I first became aware of the letter in May and because there was a comment regarding a 
grant BTAC had given the Group within it, it was subsequently provided to the first 
quorate meeting of the committee in order to inform Members of the Community Group’s 
decision not to accept the grant of £5,000 this financial year.  
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Skinner pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Why did you not raise it with the portfolio holder? 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Goodale  
 
The letter was taken to the first available meeting.  Unfortunately the July meeting was 
inquorate so it was circulated at the following meeting.   The letter was not solely 
addressed to me it was to all Members.   
 
Christmas lights is part of the visitor economy not a BTAC function.  The Council as a 
body decided not to fund Christmas lights, BTAC is governed by that decision.  If a 
community group had asked for a grant it would have been considered.   
 
I assumed the Portfolio holder had been informed as being responsible for town centre 
management and is the Cabinet liaison member for BTAC. 
 
Question asked by Councillor Brian Rush pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 
of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Page 4



Full Council 
21 November 2022 

 

 
 

Councillor Skinner, would you agree that it is a sad state of affairs, when we have to 
spend scarce public money, on security measures such as those that have been 
introduced. 
 
Whilst I am quite sure that these measures will be a comfort to us all, it is also sad that 
this administration have now had to introduce these new, but now necessary, security 
measures, and indeed, despite the additional public expense, it is clear that we have 
also now had to employ extra security staff, to see that these room barriers are being 
utilized properly to divide the public viewing gallery from the Council meetings area. 
Would I be right then in assuming, that all of these security measures, have come as an 
extra cost to the public purse? 
 
With that in mind, would you please now tell me, and all of the people of Boston 
Borough, just how much public money has now, had to be spent, in order to protect 
deliver and utilize all of these public security measures? 
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner  
 
Thank you for your question Councillor Rush. 
 
There have been a number of national events that raised significant concerns regarding 
the safety and security of elected members. Indeed both Jo Cox Labour MP for Bately 
and Spen murdered in the street following a constituency surgery in Birstall; Sir David 
Amess Conservative MP for Southend West was fatally stabbed during a constituency 
surgery at Leigh on Sea.  
 
Anyone, regardless of their background or political affiliation, should feel safe to become 
a councillor and be proud to represent their community.  
 
But the increasing level of abuse and intimidation aimed at local politicians is preventing 
elected members from representing the communities they serve, deterring individuals 
from standing for election and undermining local democracy. 
 
Debating and disagreeing with one another is a healthy part of democracy, but abuse 
and intimidation crosses the line into dangerous territory. The right engagement matters. 
The public separation a rope approximately £100, it is a quality rope. Costs for the 
attendance of Customer Services Officers totals £1418.68 for the period May to 
September. The invoice for October has yet to be received. 
 
Indeed timely debate is required (don’t chat for too long) as if meetings go on longer 
than 21-00 extra costs are incurred for the continued presence of Customer Services 
Officers. 
 
Supplemental question asked by Councillor Rush pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 
the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
Councillor Rush made a statement which did not contain a question.  
 
Response by Councillor Paul Skinner 
 

Page 5



As an experienced Councillor you should be aware that open cases of any kind cannot 
be discussed in Council. 
 
We have many individuals that seek information through requests indeed that is a 
healthy part of democracy. 
 
The Local Government Association’s campaign ‘Debate not Hate’ sums up the situation.  
A national campaign to address this behaviour experienced by Officers and Members.  
 
Unfortunately, there are those, giving the benefit that they have forgotten how to 
communicate during lockdown, probably thinking that there is no recourse to expressing 
less than truthful opinions on social media and in the press.  Fortunately the libel and 
slander laws are still present for those who can afford to pay.  As our mothers’ told us 
manners maketh man, and probably also if you can’t say anything nice don’t say 
anything at all.  
 
 
49   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
The Chief Executive reported there were no questions from the public.   
 
 
50   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
None 
 
51   SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 

 
Councillor Paul Skinner introduced a report by the Assistant Director – Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership setting out a Community Safety Strategy for 2022-25. 
 
The report detailed the duties placed on local authorities and other named statutory 
agencies in relation to crime and disorder and outlined the current Community Safety 
Partnership arrangements across the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
area and in Lincolnshire as a whole.  
 
The Community Safety Strategy had been produced to demonstrate the work of the 
South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership (SELCSP) which was 
working collaboratively with the County Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP), to address 
crime and disorder at a local, sub-regional and County level. 
 
The Strategy had been prepared using the format of the last partnership plan of 2016-
19.  An Action Plan for 2022/23 would support the strategy and sit with the SELCSP.   
 
Information from the county strategic assessment had been reviewed along with routine 
data on crime and anti-social behaviour from Lincolnshire Police, information from the 
pilot initiative StreetSafe which allowed people to anonymously report areas they felt 
unsafe, and perception data from the Lincolnshire Crime and Policing Survey.  This had 
been considered alongside the county priorities identified for the SLP. 
 
Five priorities were detailed in the plan which was attached at Appendix A of the report:-  

Page 6



Full Council 
21 November 2022 

 

 
 

• Anti-social behaviour (ASB) 

• Hate crime 

• Safer streets and night time economy 

• The safety of women and girls 

• Vulnerability and safeguarding 
 
It was noted that a Strategy had not been produced since 2019, however it was 
recognised that the work undertaken locally should be acknowledged and 
communicated to partner organisations and the public.  
 
The Strategy promoted the dedication and commitment of partners working across the 
SELCP in tackling crime and ASB and aimed to provide a focus for actions to be 
developed to address the priority community safety issues that impacted on 
communities within the sub-region. 
 
The report had been considered at the meetings of the Corporate and Community 
Committee on 6 October and Cabinet on 9 November, and the recommendations were 
endorsed.  
 
The strategy and partnership working were welcomed by Members, but some concerns 
were raised regarding: 
 

• The decision to switch off street lighting which was detrimental to the safety of the 
community; 

• Omissions in the strategy in respect of disabled, partially sighted and blind 
residents particularly in regard to cars being parked on pavements which resulted 
in people having to walk on the roadway; 

• People congregating in large groups and street drinking caused fear and 
intimidation; 

• Fear of crime was discouraging people to visit the town which was detrimental to 
the businesses. 

 
It was highlighted that the concerns raised were not within the control of the Council, 
they were the responsibility of the Police or Lincolnshire County Council.  The dual 
hatted Members were urged to relay the concerns to the County Council.  
 
In summing up the Community Safety Team were thanked for an excellent example of 
cross partnership working in the production of the strategy and Members reminded of 
the survey being conducted by the Police and Crime Commissioner which everyone 
should be encouraged to complete.  
 

RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Community Safety Strategy and identified priorities for the South 
and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership for the period 2022-
2025 be adopted. 

3. That delegated authority be granted for the Deputy Chief Executive 
(Communities) to finalise with the Portfolio Holder a programme for the 
development of a Community Safety Action Plan. 

Page 7



 
52   AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
It was moved by Councillor Peter Watson, seconded by Councillor Anton Dani 
that the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 18 July 2022 be received. 
 
53   MOTION TO RESCIND A PREVIOUS DECISION 

 
It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble, seconded by Councillor Anton Dani 
and  
 
RESOLVED that the decisions made at the meeting of the Council held on 26 
September 2022 in relation to the Financial Outturn 2021/22 report be rescinded. 
 
54   FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2021/22 

 
Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced a report by the Strategic Finance Manager 
(PSPS) setting out the draft financial position for the Council at the end of the 2021/22 
financial year, and seeking approval for the transfer and drawdown of reserve funds and 
carry forward of capital budget in the sum of £3.55m. 
 
Members commented on the continued financial losses incurred by the Geoff Moulder 
Leisure Pool and downturn in parking income referred to the in the report.  
 
It was noted that options regarding leisure provision were being reviewed with an all 
Member Workshop arranged for Tuesday 6 December.  
 
It was moved by Councillor Johnathan Noble, and seconded by Councillor Paul 
Skinner and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That the transfer of £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 

2022/23 budget be approved, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the 
Council in 2021/22 but required in 2022/23.  

 
2. That the drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve be 

approved which is the Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the 
reduced Business Rates received in 2021/22.  

   
3. That the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be 

transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will 
help realise future revenue savings and service improvements. 

 
4. That the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6 of 

Appendix A be approved.   
 

 
 

Page 8



Full Council 
21 November 2022 

 

 
 

 
55   TO CONSIDER RESOLVING THAT UNDER SECTION 100(A)(IV) OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006, 
THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING FOR THE 
FOLLOWING ITEM OF BUSINESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT IT INVOLVES 
THE LIKELY DISCLOSURE OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PARAGRAPH 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE ORDER. 
 

It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, 
the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 
 

 
56   HONORARY FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH 

 
A minute of this item has been lodged separately with the Council  
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting ended at 8.18 pm) 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23rd January 2023 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

LGA Peer Review Report and Action Plan 

To note the findings of the LGA Peer Review and associated Action 

Plan 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Paul Skinner, Leader of the Council 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

Suzanne Rolfe, Group Manager – Insights & Transformation 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The Local Government Association (LGA) undertook a Peer Review of the South & East 

Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP) in October 2022. They have provided a report 

detailing their findings and an action plan has been developed in response to the 

recommendations. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

• To note the LGA Peer Review Report and Action Plan 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is good practice to publish the LGA Peer Review Report and to agree the resulting actions 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 1



1. LGA Peer Review Report 

1.1 The LGA Peer Review took place from 10th to 14th October 2022. 

1.2 Eight peers spent five days onsite across the three council locations, preceded by reviewing 

a range of documents and information provided in advance. They had over 50 meetings and 

spoke to almost 200 people including external stakeholders. 

1.3 The team considered the five themes which form the usual core components of a Corporate 

Peer Challenge (CPC) but uniquely through the prism of the Partnership. 

• Local priorities and outcomes 

• Organisational and place leadership 

• Governance and culture 

• Financial planning and management 

• Capacity for improvement 

1.4 The peers found that the Partnership has been a good thing for the Councils. It has raised 

aspirations and brought together shared expertise, learning and capacity. Externally it has 

secured greater visibility and profile. The next step is to translate exciting ambitions into 

reality. The recommendations and action plan provide the framework to build on the strong 

foundations identified in the report. 

 

1.5 The full report is attached at Appendix 1. 

  

2. LGA Peer Review Action Plan 

2.1 Actions have been identified against each of the recommendations, with a lead and 

timescale recorded for each action. 

2.2 The delivery of the actions will be monitored by the Leadership Team at their monthly 

governance meeting and by Stakeholder Board and Joint Strategy Board. Delivery will also 

be reported in the six monthly Partnership Performance Report to each Council. 

2.3 The LGA offer a six-month Progress Review session to share progress against the action plan 

and discuss next steps.  This is being arranged for mid-2023. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The LGA Peer Review has provided us with an independent external assessment of the 

Partnership – what is working well and opportunities for improvement. The monitoring and 

delivery of the action plan will enable us to take those opportunities and continue to work 

collaboratively across the Partnership for our communities. 

 

  

Page 12



EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The LGA Peer Review has provided us with an independent external assessment of the Partnership 
– what is working well and opportunities for improvement. The process itself and the resulting 
recommendations and action plan provide the framework to build on the strong foundations 
identified in the report. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH & EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “organisational and place leadership.” 

The Peer Review Action Plan will be implemented across the Partnership. For example, developing 

and communicating widely a collective understanding of the Partnership’s purpose, future 

direction, and timescales for delivery. 

The Partnership annual scrutiny review aligns with the Peers’ recommendations. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “priorities and outcomes.” 

One of the recommendations is to “define long term strategic place shaping ambitions across the 

Partnership and consider if appropriate committing to one shared set of priorities.” In response, an 

action has been identified to agree the future approach to Corporate Plans by January 2023. 

In addition, a further action is to identify opportunities for key shared priorities as part of the 

development/refresh of the Partnership Plan/Corporate Plans by November 2023. 

STAFFING 

There are a number of recommendations and actions which will have implications for staffing. In 

particular, service integration, use of Section 113 agreements and review of terms and conditions. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “governance and culture.” 

There is an action to undertake a Constitutional Review to continue to seek opportunities for 

alignment. 

DATA PROTECTION 

No implications specific to data protection in this report. 

FINANCIAL 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “financial planning and management.” 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “governance and culture.” 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Stakeholders were involved in the Peer Review process and the details are set out in the report. 

The action plan includes timescales for delivery of each of the actions. 

Page 13



REPUTATION 

The report notes that externally, the Partnership has secured greater visibility and profile on 

particular issues, such as its growth activities. It recommends that establishing a collective 

understanding of its future direction and single approach for key place-based issues will provide 

clarity, foster collective buy-in, and enhance the Partnership’s long-term strategic place shaping 

influence. 

CONTRACTS 

One of the key themes of the Peer Review was “governance and culture.” 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

No implications specific to this report. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

No implications specific to this report. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

No implications specific to this report. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

No implications specific to this report, although climate adaptation is mentioned as one of the 

areas of opportunity for a single Partnership-wide approach. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

No implications specific to this report, although one of the actions is to report sub regional Indices 

of Multiple Deprivation data as part of the Performance Framework. 

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in every area of 
the UK, with each containing a globally competitive city, with the gap 
between the top performing and other areas closing. 

Research and 
Development 

By 2030, domestic public investment in Research & Development outside 
the Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and at least one third 
over the Spending Review period, with that additional government funding 
seeking to leverage at least twice as much private sector investment over 
the long term to stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country will be 
significantly closer to the standards of London, with improved services, 
simpler fares and integrated ticketing. 

Digital 
Connectivity 

By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable broadband and 4G 
coverage, with 5G coverage for the majority of the population. 

Education By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths will have significantly increased. In 
England, this will mean 90% of children will achieve the expected standard, 
and the percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the worst 
performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

Page 14



MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-quality skills 
training will have significantly increased in every area of the UK. In 
England, this will lead to 200,000 more people successfully completing 
high-quality skills training annually, driven by 80,000 more people 
completing courses in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Housing By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of 
first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is 
for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with 
the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a devolution deal 
with powers at or approaching the highest level of devolution and a 
simplified, long-term funding settlement. 

 

ACRONYMS 

• CPC: Corporate Peer Challenge 

• LGA: Local Government Association 

• MTFS: Medium Term Financial Strategy 

• PSPSL: Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd 

• S&ELCP: South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

• SLT: Senior Leadership Team 

 

APPENDICES 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A LGA Peer Review Report 

APPENDIX B LGA Peer Review Action Plan 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

  

Page 15



CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. This is being 

reported directly to Council to inform all Members. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe, Group Manager – Insights & 

Transformation 

Suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: James Gilbert, Assistant Director – Corporate 

James.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner, Leader of the Council 

 

 

Page 16

mailto:Suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:James.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk


Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



LGA Peer Review 2022
Our Action Plan

P
age 33



Scope of Peer 
Review which 
took place from 
10 to 14 October 
2022

Local priorities and outcomes

Organisational and place leadership

Governance and culture

Financial planning and management

Capacity for improvement

P
age 34



Action Plan
Monitoring 
arrangements

Leadership Team (monthly governance meeting)

Stakeholder Board

Joint Strategy Board

Council via six monthly performance update

Action Status 

Completed

Not started NS

On plan

Off plan but mitigation in place to get back on plan

Off plan and no mitigation

P
age 35



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

1. Develop and communicate widely a collective understanding of 
the Partnership’s purpose, future direction, and timescales for 
delivery.  

2. Invest in enhancing communications – both internal and 
external – to match the scale of the Partnership’s aspirations.  

Develop a Partnership Communications Strategy. 

Group Manager -
Communications

July 2023

Undertake an internal communications and 
engagement review and implement revised approach 
based on findings.

Jan 2023

Increase profile of the Partnership and its role in 
delivering outcomes in external communications.

Ongoing

Develop a clear narrative for the Partnership that is 
communicated internally so it can be easily 
articulated externally by colleagues/Members.

Feb 2023

3. Define long term strategic place shaping ambitions across the 
Partnership and consider if appropriate committing to one shared 
set of priorities. 

Agree future approach to Corporate Plans. AD - Corporate Jan 2023

P
age 36



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

4. Embrace opportunities to join up around a single approach for 
key place-based risk and opportunities - such as flood risk, climate 
adaptation, housing delivery and economic strategy - and commit 
resources accordingly. 

Identify opportunities for key shared priorities as part of the 
development/refresh of the Partnership Plan/Corporate Plans.

GM – Insights 
and 
Transformation

Nov 2023

Develop joint funding bids on Partnership-wide priorities. Corporate 
Management 
Team

Ongoing

Ensure we commission the right skills to undertake specialist work 
where the necessary skills aren't available in-house.

Ongoing 

5. Bring consistency to structures, systems, and governance, 
building on best practice from across the Partnership and 
elsewhere. 

Partnership Review of organisational structure. Senior 
Leadership 
Team

Aug 2023

Constitutional Review to continue to seek opportunities for 
alignment. 

AD -
Governance

Ongoing

Continue to align teams. Corporate 
Management 
Team

Ongoing

P
age 37



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

6. Develop a single Transformation team, approach and long-
term rolling plan - linked to MTFS - across the Partnership and 
PSPS Ltd. 

Single team to be implemented across the Partnership.
AD – Corporate

Nov 2022

Develop and commence delivery of a transformation programme 
with PSPS.

May 2023

7. Further align performance, risk and financial reporting and 
management, ensuring Assistant Directors drive service plans 
that contribute towards each council’s MTFS budget gaps. 

Continue to develop an Annual Delivery Plan that focuses on 
alignment.

Corporate 
Management 
Team

By March each 
year

Continue to align teams. Ongoing

Implement shared Portfolio Holder meetings Partnership-wide. Leaders of 
Councils

May 2023

P
age 38



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

8. Prioritise ‘getting the basics’ in place and working well. This will drive greater productivity and workforce satisfaction and should include:  

a) Speed up provision of a single IT platform for all three 
councils 

Adopt Digital Strategy and ICT Roadmap.
AD – Corporate

Mar 2023

Bring forward a business case for a single Partnership M365 tenancy. Mar 2023

Ensure adequate training is provided to support the roll out of new ICT. Ongoing as ICT 
is deployed

b) Agree and communicate scale of service, staff and policy 
integration and likely timescales

Develop the Annual Delivery Plan and ensure this is widely 
communicated within services so programme of activity is known 
Partnership-wide.

Corporate 
Management 
Team

Mar 2023

c) Undertake an organisational skills audit Undertake a Skills Gap Analysis that is forward looking and addresses 
any gaps identified through training and development (where a skill is 
particularly specialist commissioning may be a better route)

Group Manager 
– Organisational 
Development

Sept 2023

P
age 39



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

8. Prioritise ‘getting the basics’ in place and working well. This will drive greater productivity and workforce satisfaction and should include:  

d) Consider how the councils can optimise their use of Section 113 
agreement to facilitate further collaboration and cultural change 

Encourage use of Section 113 by Assistant Directors in their 
services.

Assistant 
Directors

Ongoing as 
need arises

e) Undertake a timely review of the terms and conditions of all staff from 
across the three councils, including salary structures.

Undertake a review and consider opportunities for 
alignment. PSPS – HR

June 2023

Ensure colleagues are kept informed. Ongoing linked 
to review

f) Increase focus on supporting staff Deliver the Workforce Development Strategy. Group Manager 
– Organisational 
Development

Ongoing

Ensure Employee Assistant Programme is easily accessible. Jan 2023

Continue to embed values and behaviours. Ongoing

P
age 40



Recommendations Action(s) Lead Timescale

8. Prioritise ‘getting the basics’ in place and working well. This will drive greater productivity and workforce satisfaction and should include:  

g) Consider whether the arms-length local authority trading 
company model (LATCo) remains the optimal vehicle to deliver 
SELCP’s long-term ambitions 

This has been considered by the PSPS Stakeholder Board 
following an external review and the LATCo remains an 
asset to the Partnership and therefore an appropriate 
delivery mechanism for the Partnership.

Stakeholder 
Board

COMPLETED

h) Develop an holistic performance reporting framework for the 
Partnership 

Bring strategic partnership indicators into the 23/24 
Performance Framework. GM – Insights 

and 
Transformation

April 2023

Report sub-regional Indices of Multiple Deprivation data 
as part of the Performance Framework.

April 2023

i) Continuously learn and share best practice from and with 
elsewhere

Assistant Directors and Services Managers to embed the 
sharing of best practice culturally within their services. 

Corporate 
Management 
Team and 
Service 
Managers

Ongoing

Develop case studies for sharing within the sector (LGA, 
District Councils Network etc) 

Ongoing

Embed a learning culture Partnership-wide. Ongoing

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23rd January 2023 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Joint scrutiny of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

To review the Partnership’s progress after its first year. 

KEY DECISION: No 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Paul Skinner 

REPORT OF: Councillor Edward Mossop (ELDC) on behalf of the Partnership 

Scrutiny Task Group 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees of Boston Borough Council, South Holland District Council, 

and East Lindsey District Council commissioned a joint Scrutiny Task & Finish Panel to undertake 

a review of the progress on the opportunities identified in the approved business case for the 

South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership.  

Note:  All content is contained in the attached Partnership Task Group report and not summarised 

in this covering report. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the attached report (Appendix A) and associated recommendations. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To note the recommendations put forward by Scrutiny Task & Finish Panel as part of a scrutiny 

process. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 
Page 43

Agenda Item 2



1. REPORT 

 

1.1  This report brings forward a joint scrutiny report, attached at Appendix A. The scope of this work 

was set out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees at ELDC, SHDC, and BBC and is attached 

at Appendix B. 

 

1.2 This report has been presented to each of the Partnership Councils’ relevant sovereign scrutiny 

committees before being presented to Council. The scrutiny work undertaken was required 

under the Partnership’s Memorandum of Agreement and is an annual commitment.  

 

1.3 All content is contained in the attached Partnership Task Group report and not summarised in 

this covering report. 

 

1.4 The Leaders of each Partnership Council have collectively considered the recommendations.  The 

Leaders thanked the Panel for their work and are pleased to be able to accept 9 of the 10 

recommendations made.  The only recommendation Leaders jointly felt unable to accept is 

recommendation 6 – this conclusion was reached as Member allowances are a sovereign Council 

matter and not something the Partnership should seek to influence. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The opportunity to learn from the Partnership’s first year of operation. 

IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

The recommendations contained in the report at Appendix A are similar in many ways to the 

recommendations that came from the recent Partnership Peer Review. Much of the work needed to 

address the issues raised is already underway and will help us drive the Partnership forward. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

STAFFING 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

DATA PROTECTION 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

FINANCIAL 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

 

Page 44



STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation with a number of councillors and officers was undertaken and helped form the basis of 

the final report and recommendations. Details of these consultations can be found at Appendix C, D 

and E of this report.  

REPUTATION 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

CONTRACTS 

none 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

none 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Only those considered by the Panel in the attached report. 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

none 

ACRONYMS 

none 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Report of the panel 

APPENDIX B Scoping document 

APPENDIX C Questions for guest witnesses 

APPENDIX D Questionnaire results 

APPENDIX E Meeting notes 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

Page 45



CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item was previously considered by: 

Environment & Performance Committee 22nd November 2022 

 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Councillor Edward Mossop (ELDC) on behalf of the 

Partnership Scrutiny Task Group 

Covering report signed off by: Rebecca James, Scrutiny Officer 

Covering report approved for publication: James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

 

Page 46



Appendix A 

1 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY PANEL OF THE PARTNERSHIP 
 

Joint Scrutiny of the Partnership – Final Report 
 

Councillors ELDC: F. Martin, E. Mossop (Chair), H. Matthews 
Councillors BBC: J. Welbourn (Vice Chair), J. Skinner 
Councillors SHDC: S. Walsh, B. Alcock, M. Booth 
Officers: James Gilbert (Assistant Director, Corporate) Rebecca James (Scrutiny 
Officer)  
Guest Witnesses: Councillor Craig Leyland (Leader, ELDC), Councillor Paul Skinner 
(Leader, BBC), Councillor Lord Gary Porter (Leader, SHDC), Councillor Jonathan Noble 
(Finance Portfolio Holder & PSPS Board Member, BBC) Councillor Peter Coupland 
(Finance Portfolio Holder, SHDC), Councillor Richard Fry (Finance Portfolio Holder & 
PSPS Board member, ELDC), Rob Barlow (Joint Chief Executive), Christine Marshall 
(Deputy Chief Executive / S151 Officer), Adrian Sibley (Deputy Chief Executive, 
Programme Delivery), Michelle Sacks (Deputy Chief Executive, Growth), John Leach 
(Deputy Chief Executive, Communities), Councillors Nick Worth (Deputy Leader, 
SHDC), Nigel Welton (Deputy Leader, BBC), Graham Marsh (Deputy Leader, ELDC), 
Rodney Grocock (PSPS Board Member, SHDC), Lewis Ducket (Chief Executive, PSPS), 2 
members of the staff forum (anonymous) 
 
Background and Introduction 
 
On 1st October 2021, Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District Council, and South 
Holland District Council formed the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 
The Councils each retained their independence but have been working towards a 
single officer team to deliver the Partnership Business Case for the sub-region and 
each Council’s respective priorities. The Partnership was projected to deliver £42 
million in savings over ten years; whilst providing all three Councils with greater 
capacity to deliver their priorities. 
 
The approved business case demonstrated a number of opportunities for the 
Partnership. Progress on these identified opportunities form the basis of this annual 
joint scrutiny of the Partnership and can be found in the scoping document at 
Appendix B. 
 
The panel met 5 times, interviewed 18 witnesses with a set of standard questions, 
found at Appendix C, and conducted a short questionnaire among all Councillors to 
canvass their views. The results of the questionnaire are attached at Appendix D. 
Notes from the meetings can be found at Appendix E.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Appendix A 

2 
 

Panel Discussion and Analysis 
 
“Be impactful rather than do too much too soon” 
 
We have interviewed a large number of the Senior Leadership Team (Councillors and 
Officers) over the past month. From our discussions with them, it is clear that there is 
widespread support and satisfaction in the direction the Partnership is travelling. 
Financial saving, still the major driver, has been justified along with the sharing of staff, 
the opportunities for their advancement and the bigger single voice at a strategic level 
were the most quoted examples of the benefits of the Partnership. Examples of how 
successful funding bids such as the UK Prosperity Fund have brought benefits to the 
three Councils have been demonstrated. The ongoing discussions at Government level 
over IDB’s as yet unresolved, were cited as difficult conversations prior to the 
Partnership.  However, there is recognition that the Partnership in order to develop 
successfully, has to work harder to develop that single organisational culture and 
there are still significant barriers preventing progress in this. These include the 
integration of ICT, a stronger relationship with PSPS, constitutional alignment and 
service reviews. 
 
We also interviewed the Chairman and Chief Executive of PSPS to enquire how the 
organisation has adjusted with a third partner, South Holland District Council joining 
the Partnership. PSPS has had to rise to significant challenges such as staff turnover, 
recruitment, capacity and working from home in addition to the assimilation of Boston 
Borough into PSPS over the past two years. As the Partnership has evolved, it has 
asked more of PSPS and therefore a re-prioritisation of plans is required.  Closer 
working with PSPS at the onset of this journey would have helped as they should be 
seen as a key facilitator to the Partnership, described by one as a fourth partner. 
Ahead of the Partnership are some major service reviews and it must be understood 
that this will be resource-hungry taking up to two years to fully align teams. An 
enhanced transformation budget will be required to progress this. 
 
The panel were keen to sound out the views of a wider selection of staff and asked to 
interview members of the Staff Forum. The forum has representation from across all 
three Councils and meets every six weeks. There is frustration about the alignment of 
ICT across the Partnership especially when staff are unable to access different IT 
systems at partner offices. There is uncertainty over the alignment of pay and 
conditions and no clear timescale. Overall, communications with service managers, 
team meetings and response to requests appear inconsistent with the One Team 
approach. A clear, consistent, and honest message to staff about the purpose of 
service reviews for example, is needed otherwise staff will just assume that it is about 
cuts.  
 
As with the joint scrutiny of the Alliance between Boston and East Lindsey, all 
Councillors were asked to complete short questionnaire on the progress of the 
Partnership. There were mixed responses but there were more Councillors willing to 
engage and respond this time.  A key theme emerging for Councillors were response 
times across the Partnership, including PSPS not only for Councillors but for staff and 

Page 48



Appendix A 

3 
 

members of the public. Other responses cited frustration with ICT and more targeted 
communication to the public, making them aware of the benefits of the Partnership. 
There is an opportunity for more Councillors to act as a ‘sense check’ to ensure that 
officers are aware of what direction councillors want to go in as our recommendations 
are more targeted and time lined than our scrutiny into the partnership last year. We 
are keen to see these recommendations together with the recommendations arising 
from the Peer Review Group tracked through the three Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
along with regular updates on progress. 
 
I would like to thank all the Councillors who took the time and trouble to take part in 
this important piece of work. Also, I must thank Rebecca James and James Gilbert for 
supporting us and for their invaluable advice. 
 
Recommendations  
 

1. Alignment of ICT systems and processes across the Partnership will begin 
with a scrutiny group reviewing the draft Partnership ICT Strategy 
document. An initial meeting will take place by the end of January 2023 
and then adoption of an ICT Strategy and associated action plan to be 
completed by April 2023; 

 
2. Communication needs to be improved – including: 

 
2a) To remind all staff of the requirements surrounding Member response 
times at a service/directorate meeting, in line with each sovereign council’s 
constitutional requirements. This should be done by the end of January 
2023; 
 
2b) Ensure the internal communication review addresses issues raised by 
staff (Council and PSPS) and is completed by the end of January 2023 and 
then start to implement any recommendations by February 2023; 

 
2c) There should be more targeted and relevant communication to the 
public to raise awareness of the Partnership and specifically its benefits. 
The websites to be updated by the end of January 2023 to include more 
information about the Partnership’s work to date; 

 
2d) To develop a Partnership Communication Strategy during 2023/24 and 
for this to be identified as an action in the  next Annual Delivery Plan; 

 
3. With regard to the alignment of key policies, a list of those identified on 

the policy register to be part of the Annual Delivery Plans going forward, 
to be taken to each Council’s relevant scrutiny committee for review; 

 
4. The three Leaders to consider the merits of aligning Portfolio roles and 

responsibilities across the Partnership to assist with a more streamlined 
system for officers to work with; 

Page 49



Appendix A 

4 
 

 
5. The Cabinet / Executive to consider the merits of aligning the 

Constitutions of the three Councils where appropriate; 
 

6. To recommend that the Partnership asks the Independent Renumeration 
Panel to ensure that in undertaking its next review it takes on board the 
different levels of Member allowances across the Partnership; 

 
7. Involve PSPS at an early stage in the development of each year’s Annual 

Delivery Plan to ensure joined up working and planning / capacity for 
planned work. Officers to meet to agree how this would work by the end 
of January 2023; 

 
8. The Group Manager – Organisational Development to look at the barriers 

to successful recruitment and retention of staff to mitigate capacity issues, 
including apprenticeships,  succession planning and progression 
opportunities for current staff. A review with recommendations on 
tackling the issues to be completed by March 2023; 

 
9. Ensure there is sufficient funding in each Councils transformation budget 

to support the service review programme; 
 

10. Ensure that the pace of change is realistic and achievable. 

 
 

 
Report author: Councillor Edward Mossop, ELDC 

 
 

Page 50



Appendix B 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY TASK & FINISH GROUP 
Project Scoping Template 

 

Topic: Joint Scrutiny of the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

 
 
 
 

Objectives and Key Issues: 

 

The function of scrutiny within each of the partner Councils plays an important 

and key role within the overall governance arrangements for each of the 

partnership Councils and for the Partnership as a whole.  

The approved business case demonstrated a number of opportunities for the 

South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership. 

Progress on these identified opportunities form the basis of this annual joint 

scrutiny of the Partnership. 

 
 

Lines of Enquiry: 
 

- the ability to work together to respond to and address shared and 

common challenges and opportunities at a local, corporate, and sub-

regional level across the southeast region of Lincolnshire; 

- to realise a combined financial opportunity of up to £42m if all service 

integration opportunities are embraced; 

- to build on the existing and successful PSPS Ltd relationship and improve 

service effectiveness and efficiency; 

- an opportunity to improve service delivery and resilience across the 

Partnership; 

- the sharing of expertise across the Partnership; 

- the chance to create additional capacity and increased resilience to do 

more for our communities; 

- a stronger voice locally, regionally, and nationally through the creation of 

a South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership identity; 

- to cement a solid foundation of partnership working ahead of the potential 

for devolution and local reform; 

- the increased opportunity to secure external funding to enable the future 

prosperity for our communities; and 

- greater career development opportunities for our workforce. 

Page 51



Appendix B 

 

Standard Areas to Consider 

 

Relationship with Annual Delivery Plans: as per the lines of enquiry above 

 

 

Financial Implications: as per the lines of enquiry above 

 

 

 
 

Witnesses 

 

Internal:  

ELDC/BBC/SHDC Leader & Deputy Leader, Chief Executive,  

ELDC/SHDC/BBC Members,  

Other relevant officers TBC 

 

External:  

PSPS 

TBC 
 

 

Resources 

 

Liaison Officer:  

Rebecca James, Scrutiny Officer,  

James Gilbert, Assistant Director, Corporate 

 

Required officer expertise:  

To be decided as the scrutiny review progresses 

 

Timescale 

Start date: early October 

End date: mid-November 

Target ELDC Overview Committee Meeting: November 29th  

Target BBC Overview & Scrutiny Meeting: November 22nd  

Target SHDC Scrutiny Committee Meeting: November 29th  

Target Council Meeting: ELDC 14.12.22, SHDC 18.01.23, BBC 23.01.23  

 

 

Page 52



Appendix C 

Questions for guest witnesses 

 

1. What since the partnership has changed - good & bad? 

 

2. What progress, benefits, problems etc. have you found? 

 

3. What would you do differently? 

 

 

Questions for PSPS Board members 

 

1. How do you feel PSPS have adjusted with the changes brought about by the 

Partnership?  

2. What opportunities do you think there are for PSPS given the 3 councils have now 

formed their Partnership?  

3. Has the Partnership presented any new challenges for PSPS? 

 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



ID

What do you think have been the positives of the 
S&ELCP so far? Do you have any examples of 
positive impact you would like to share?

What would you improve about the S&ELCP? Do 
you have any suggestions you would like to 
share?

What do you think the key area(s) of focus should be 
for the Partnership in the year ahead?

1

Seeing how other councils work. Sharing staff. Cross-
council scrutinies that have a bigger impact. 

It’s like working in a much bigger organisation, so 
it’s easier to lose track of staff roles and other 
staffing changes. I could do with a database to 
look it all up sometimes!

Finances. Local government finance looks like it is going 
to be targeted again by austerity, and being able to 
deliver services will depend on actually having money to 
do that. Collective lobbying will be important there. 

2

A higher profile for the sub-region in dealings with 
central government 

Response times to questions from elected 
members

Economic growth and efficient delivery of services

3

The partnership has enabled us to engage with 
higher offices in local and national government due 
to the size of the organisation and the added 
strength that gives us in negotiating with these 
offices. As a partnership we are achieving more 
joined up ways of doing things by adopting best 
practices that have been adopted and used 
successfully by other partners in the partnership in 
the past

In some areas there appears to be gaps in officer 
cover. This could be due to the ambitious 
resourcing targets and in understanding ways of 
work in the three organisations joining as one. It 
is early days in the partnership and these things 
will no doubt be identified and rectified, 
wherever possible, in the future

One of the key areas is ensuring that finances remain 
stable across the partnership in these times of financial 
pressure
Staffing issues should be taken in to account to ensure 
our officers remain challenged but not ‘over challenged’ 
as they carry out their daily roles and responsibilities 
We must continue to ensure that we remain focused on 
overcoming some of the inequalities we see across areas 
of the partnership where we have many residents living 
in great deprivation 

4

Not a positive for SH, but one for another council is 
they have seen the success of our pride work, so 
rolled it out in their area- and rolled it out quickly 
without red tape and hold up. Sadly we seem to be 
unable to achieve similar  benefits and roll outs 
quickly for the benefit of the residents of SH 

More time focussed on SH. Growth in particular 
seems to be far more interested in EL and Boston 
and we seem to be lagging more and more 
behind. Extremely disappointing. 

Simple areas to collaborate on and share ideas.- 
communities is the ideal service to look to combine and 
share- waste would be a terrible one to do so- it’s crucial 
to SH and one of the few things we do well- we can’t risk 
that as an area being diluted due to sharing, so I hope 
no plans to look at that service until things are much 
better within the partnership. 

Appendix D

P
age 55



5

Nothing obvious. Try Try and improve services to our electorate and

6

We have a longer name. Provide a better service to East Lindsey residents 
because as far as we can see so far our services 
have got much worse, officers cannot be 
contacted without a lot of delay, they have little 
or no knowledge of background to issues and 
they have no idea of the constitutional 
requirements. If these could be remedied so 
much the better….and we could return to a bit 
more normality.

Doing the job better, caring about the job and being 
efficient. Economic Development seems to avoid market 
towns. So attention to detail in something would help!

7

The partnership having more success at grant 
funding due to the coverage of the partnership.

It is difficult to say how to improve from a 
councillor point of view.  At least we have a 
contact list and a point of contact if we are 
unsure who to contact. 

Solidifying the partnership so that at all levels, the stall 
feel happy and confident in their role and feel valued 
over the whole partnership, not just the council they 
work for where their role is over the three councils. 

8

Greater impact with our partners, selling ourselves 
as a sub region and therefore getting more traction 
with the like of the Midland Engine, NHS , central 
government and businesses all of which is and will 
bring in more inward investment.

An assumption that the delivery plan has all been 
signed off and can be taken through the three 
councils without any challenge. The reality is that 
it has only been signed off at a strategic level and 
the detail has not been approved. Time needs to 
be built in to allow proper scrutiny of business 
cases when they are presented and not rushed 
through. 

Devolution / Unitary plans will inevitably need to be at 
the top of the agenda and we need to ensure we are 
well prepared for any bids the County might put in. 
Delivery on key projects such as the towns deals, UKSPF 
and Levelling Up bids if successful.

P
age 56



9

The ability to have a louder voice when lobbying, 
applying for funding, or talking to investors. We also 
have access to more expertise from officers who 
have worked in other areas. Economies of scale and 
being able to balance the budget.

I would like the Councils to get together and plan 
the annual meeting calendar and if some topics 
affect all three councils develop more in depth 
joint scrutiny to help get a joined up policy 
making it easier for residents who cross over 
areas and to save time in officer presentations.

Drainage rate alteration, i.e. taken out of the capped 
precept. Continue to review policy and more joint 
working whilst retaining sovereignty of each council.
Making the electorate aware of how our three council 
now work and promoting the benefits

10

Value for money, combined skills are greater, there 
is greater capacity within the Council and Partners.

Directives need to work together more, One 
Team.

Meeting each of the sovereign councils strategies, while 
bedding in further and enabling staff at all levels. 

11

Positive shared resources which is also a negative.

Negative not much of a scrutiny if there are only 3 
questions, just seems a box ticking exercise. Doesn’t 
really matter what anyone says good or bad, Things 
will only change if the ruling party wants it too.

Allow all parties an equal say/share as to what 
happens with the partnership and not a one side 
vote from the ruling party.

Lowering the price of the green bins.

12
Haven't seen any yet Get back to proper in house meetings Stick to the promises first made

13

The combined officer cadre has positively 
influenced operational activity in both finance and 
property. The officers have all had a positive 
influence on our ability to deliver for residents.

We need to improve communication. That will 
happen as the new structure crystallises. 

Maintaining financial resilience. 

14

Greater combined power and influence in the main 
issues that affect us all, drainage, flooding and 
transport issues.

Collectively apply pressure on LCC and 
Government for improved road repairs 
considering 40%+ of all fresh produce originates 
do passes through South Holland!

Improved internal communications regarding business 
developments and ways of savings by simplifying 
processes and streamlining functions.

P
age 57



15

I've not seen any evidence yet of this partnership 
being the success that was promised. Middle 
managers and junior staff appear overwhelmed 
with work, as they now appear to juggle several 
roles at the same time. Workloads have increased 
and vacancies are held open for far too long and 
this has had a detrimental impact on their ability to 
deliver. It's become a rather patronising practice of 
the ruling groups to continually offer sickly praise to 
staff in public, however, this often leaves the 
listener feeling that the orator is being 
disingenuous. Councillors who have their finger on 
the pulse are just fed up with this nonsense and if 
you watch carefully whenever this happens, you just 
might catch weary officers rolling their eyes in 
disbelief.

 Only SHDC has a political leader who possesses 
vision, imagination, conviction and political skill 
so it's depressing to think that the other two are 
by consequence officer-led. Sadly, the majority 
of the residents don't care as they don't bother 
to vote, and most of the councillors are too lazy 
to acquaint themselves with what's actually 
going on and rely on their 'Leaders' to spoon 
feed them. All three councils make a mockery of 
scrutiny so in an effort to be constructive, why 
not start there? The three LAs need to be open 
to real challenge and stop manoeuvring 
'friendly,' incompetent or closely related 
councillors (to the Executive) into Chairmanship 
positions. There are also too many dual-hatted 
members and most of them are just in it for the 
allowances. We know this because when it 
comes to actually doing any ward work, they are 
lazy, lazy, lazy, lazy. This in turn gives each 
council a really bad reputation. As to ELDC and 
BBC the fish rots from the head.

Staffing: departments need to be properly staffed in 
order for each council to be able to deliver effectively. 
Working from home: a discreet piece of work around the 
benefits or drawbacks of this and a forward strategy 
drawn up and consulted on. Real estate: if buildings are 
going to be half empty with LA staff, then we need to 
find a way to ensure that these buildings are put to good 
use in other ways. 

16

I do think the positivity will be achieved in the 
future.

Regular meeting through Teams. Study each case of each Borough individually. 

17

I think it is difficult to asses at this early stage if the 
changes made are actually positives. However it 
does appear that the senior management 
arrangements are now well embedded. Whether 
the pledge of ‘three councils, one workforce’ has 
been fully delivered I think we have to say the jury is 
still out on that one.

Ultimately it is something of a unique animal 
within the local government world, neither a 
combined authority nor a unitary, and ultimately 
further powers need to be acquired to move 
towards being the latter or it will need to be sold 
to Westminster as the role model for all areas. 
Sometimes being unique can often mean also 
being side-lined.

I think the answers to the first two questions answer 
this.

P
age 58



18

Just the opposite. It has causes more problems. 
Obviously in this questionnaire no provision has 
been considered for people who consider it to have 
been a backward more.

Dissolve it. Cut out the overburden of senior managers and replace 
them with workers.

19

Better coordination of staff policies and 
departments

Better communications and not having to wait so long 
on the phone 

20

Promotion at top management level jobs for the ‘in 
gang’

Look at customer service issues……seem to have 
forgot as s service level

Customer service and public being able to get answers 
more efficiently,
A need to scrutinise the whole  organisation especially at 
grass roots

21

There have been many positive impacts of the 
partnership so far some of them include
Considerable financial savings
Access to a greater number of officers/able to 
attract more people to want to become an officer 
because of the increased opportunities for officer 
development 
Ability to development more ambitious economic 
opportunities for example, private electrical 
network/generation and supply of power. Hydrogen 
production. 
Joint strategy between the councils on Carbon 
Reduction, Community Safety

I think the councils have made giant steps 
towards working more closely in many areas but 
think there is much more could be done by 
aligning portfolio/cabinet areas of responsibility 
this would allow more joint/focussed portfolio 
scrutiny meetings.
Standardise IT provision for members to deduce 
costs
All three councils using the same providers for 
services i.e. MV for culture and leisure provision 
have a more integrated waste collection serviced 

Consolidate where we are, we have got a far larger voice 
in the county and regionally and can really have an 
influence on developing economic activity, developing 
“Place” through supporting diverse culture and local 
community hubs where we support local communities in 
delivering what they identify their needs are.
Having a greater influence on the way that the national 
spend is shared out and used.

22

Hopeful reduction in staff and staff costs No Staff ,planning consistency ,integration 

P
age 59



23

It has facilitated a staff structure with the skills and 
knowledge to drive improvements in service 
delivery and scope out major projects across the 
combined districts. The recent presentation 
explaining the possible relationship with the 
renewable energy innovation is something which 
wouldn’t have been possible as individual districts. 

Use the building blocks S&ELCP already has in 
place to press for a devolvement agreement 
which will benefit districts across the county. 

Bring together what we do best over the three districts 
to drive forward radical improvements to road and rail 
infrastructure to link with our underused private ports 
and create strategic hubs to aid a more efficient 
distribution of food across the country

24

Unlike when we were in the Breckland partnership I 
really feel we are working as one team with Cllrs 
and residents who have so many of the same issues 
as we do. We are so close we can work cross border 
without any  difficulties/

Could we find a more simple and easy to say 
acronym for the partnership? SH - South Holland, 
EL - East Lindsey, BB - Boston Borough. SHELBB 
pronounced Shelby ! Only slightly tongue in 
cheek.

Promoting growth, looking at new methods of 
construction for social housing to relieve the backlog of 
homelessness and help more residents into safe, 
economical housing.

25
Housing ,well-being ,environmental protection ,cost of 
living protections

26

Financial savings and strong geographic unity 
between the participating Councils. Expertise shared 
across the Councils offering better job opportunities 
for the staff.

Communication and access to officers for 
Councillors. Still difficult to locate who is 
responsible for what. Greater depth of mutual 
understanding about each Council’s uniqueness. 
Clarity on how we track officer time dedicated to 
each Council across the Leadership Team and 
whether each participating Council is getting a 
fair share of the resources.

Ensuring all core and statutory functions of a District 
Council are at or above statutory minimum 
requirements. Ensuring Towns Fund and other grant is 
successfully drawn down. Ensuring Financial stability is 
maintained in the face of inflationary pressure.

P
age 60



27

NONE So far as I can say from my point of view, and 
fellow Councillors, the partnership has not 
helped our day to day contact with Officers 
working for ELDC.  I feel left behind and out of 
touch with EL decisions being made together lack 
of response from Executive Members when 
asking for information.  Back Benchers, 
specifically in EL are very despondent about this.  

Not the Partnership - more inclusion of ELDC Members 
in matters and promises that we were elected on!!!

28

Collaborative work. Understanding other way’s of 
working, whilst sharing sovereign Councils work 
methods

Further working within the partnership and 
development, especially below Cabinet level

Leisure and culture, transport/road links

29

Shared management function ensures joined up 
approach from C/Ex, Deputy C/Ex and ADs.

Flow of information from management structure 
to port folio holders and councillors is not always 
straight forward.

Expedite service reviews in order to share services 
across the partnership.

Review what services could be absorbed into PSPS.

Restore the balance of power (e.g. too much delegation 
to officers at BBC/SHDC and perhaps not enough at 
SHDC).

Acceptance that SHDC Councillors seek more a more 
granular level of involvement than their BBC / ELDC 
peers.

Acknowledgement that ADs are busy and a scenario 
where the next level down can on occasion be 
responsible for briefing councillors and port folio 
holders.

P
age 61



30

Savings Expanding to include West Lindsey. Tourism and improving officer response rates.

31

Greater diversity/ experience officers and members - 
potentially wider view of experience and ideas

We have many similarities with S Holland but are 
demographically different. We share the agri-
food industry as being key to us both. How can 
we get to each other's areas better so that we 
can work out how we can share ideas better? In 
particular, let's start with the similarities and 
look at each other's methods. E Lindsey has more 
similarity with the heritage / tourism offer so 
maybe we be looking at how they promote and 
capitalize on this side of their economy? 

We need to know what we aim to achieve in advance of 
councillor elections of next year. Therefore, I believe 
that we should be planning what is the future purpose 
of the partnership and the possible scenarios that might 
arise countywide.

32

I feel been able to work with portfolio holders 
across the councils has been supportive as we all 
strive for similar goals.

 Councillor allowances should be the same across 
the partnership, whether they go up or down to 
achieve this. Boston Councillors are few, so we 
have extra meetings and more duties but not 
valued at the same rate as the other councillors 
we work with in the partnership.

To continue to make great use of each other's strengths, 
Knowledge and assets. A great example of this was the 
department were able to redeploy a much-needed 
street cleansing machine from our partners to the 
benefit of the residents of Boston.

33

It’s good that 3 areas can work together creating a 
safer community and improving infrastructure and 
transport systems for all residents.

Transport and infrastructure.

34

None evident. As a councillor: better communication with 
officers: clearer signposting of which officers are 
responsible for what and across which areas, 
more officer time for them to respond / be 
available.

Poverty, sustainable energy security, affordable 
sustainable housing, public transport and access to 
education / training.

P
age 62



35

None None Cleaning up littering and fly tipping.

36

Successful integration of services
Increase in efficiency and savings
Good integration of cultures

More integration of policies 
Aiming for a common delivery of individual 
services-for example, planning

Better integration of policies and approach
Look to integrate North and South Kesteven District 
Councils into the partnership
Prepare actively for local government reorganisation 
and devolution

37

Can't think of anything positive. Negative - it is now 
virtually impossible to contact anyone - have also 
received negative comment from residents I 
represent.

Make it easier to contact officers and customer 
services for councillors and members of the 
public

Communication with Councillor back-benchers - we are 
kept very much in the dark over what is going on in East 
Lindsey

38

 Very few positives, sometimes officers appear 
distant, some appear nervous, meetings are being 
organised around officers calendars not members, 
but they carry on and members miss meetings.

LETS DO THINGS WELL, include members as 
earlier as poss., get details to cabinet members 
well before meetings. Some officers think they 
make the decisions, wrong.

  STEADY AS YOU GO, NO RUSH otherwise P ship will fall 
over.

39

Access to officers with specialist experience has 
been most beneficial in the heritage, visitor 
economy and arts sector. We are now in the final 
stages of launching a new Discover Boston Website 
thanks to the cooperation fostered by Lydia Rusling 
who was part of the ELDC Team. Plans to promote 
the big 2030 celebrations of the foundation of 
Boston Mass will be more effective and on a greater 
scale because of our cooperation.

I am happy with the way we are working 
together and developing the working practices in 
an organic way as required

Promoting the visitor economy

P
age 63



40

I believe that the partnership  is working better than 
the last one which we  had with Breckland.
The three authorities butt up to the Wash and 
problems with flooding are relevant to all Councils.

Better IT system so we can all connect Fly tipping, better policing, harassment to Councillors by 
members of the public.

41

Not to be negative, I am still chasing the advantages 
of the Alliance.

A general meeting of all Cllrs and officers. Finance, Effectivity, Deliverance, and Projects.

42

Releasing potential of our districts and residents Spread the knowledge of what’s being done 
more with residents 

Flood defence and growth 

43

It is early days yet, but the apparent willingness of 
three councils, which all have more in common than 
not, to work together for their mutual citizen's 
benefit is very promising. Am an enthusiast for it.

More real meeting (in person) between 
members of the 3 councils would be good. I 
already know quite a number on ELDC and BBC, 
but not all my colleagues do.

1 - making sure sea defences are on the government 
radar as sea level is on the rise.
2 - ensuring not only that we try to attract new 
businesses to an area where worker loyalty is strong, but 
let the sizeable ones we've already got know how glad 
we are that they are here (that helped get Prices to 
invest in SHDC area)
3 - improve the retail markets. People travel for huge 
distances to a really good market, ours leave a lot to be 
desired.
4 - ensure that children's play and leisure facilities are up 
to date and suitable. It's one of the first things people 
consider when relocating. Good examples are Cumbria 
and North Kesteven.

P
age 64



Appendix E 

PARTNERSHIP SCRUTINY PANEL – MEETING NOTES 
 

Date and Time: Monday 3rd October 2022, 6:00pm 
 

Rob Barlow 
 

• We spent considerable time discussing and agreeing the business 

case to ensure financial savings; money into the region; and most 
importantly the ability to have conversations with partners not open 

to them before - including shared work programmes and discussions 
around, for example, IDB levies with Government. These were 

difficult conversations to open prior to the Partnership. 
• There were concerns initially about the fast pace of the partnership – 

it moved at a quicker pace than anticipated to everyone's credit. 
• Pleased that many staff have been able to further their career in the 

first 12 months. There are greater opportunities for advancement. 
• We have done well with our profile as a Partnership – it is known by 

Government and achieves regular national media profile in Local 
Government press 

• Trust - some of the organisational barriers have broken down 
positively between staff cohorts and staff are trusting one another. 

• In creating a single organisational culture, there are still lessons to 

learn as officers and much work to do 
• There is a challenge to PFHs as some aren't currently engaging cross 

partnership and in doing so   could achieve more for the Partnership. 
• Constitutional differences - more work to consider around 

standardisation and alignment. 
• PSPS - need to do more with the company given their criticality.  

• ICT still a barrier and more integration needed. 
• Service Reviews - small scale so far - need to consider a wider scale 

of transformation to achieve Partnership benefit. 
• We have met with Government officials to explain that half Council 

Tax collected goes to IDBs rather than councils being able to use to 
fund services like other Councils can. There has been an unofficial 

promise they would seek to build something into the financial 
settlement this year to help – I have concerns that staff turnover at 

government means this get lost in transition. We remain hopeful but 

no guarantees. 
• Constitutional review is a big piece of work - it is a challenge.  There 

are areas of the constitution worth looking at first - contract 
procedure rules for examples. Hard for officers when limits/processes 

are different.  
• We are not leaving posts vacant to show savings, we are actively 

recruiting to vacant roles. Many of the savings so far were there on 
day one - with savings initially from senior management team and a 

few from service reviews.  A lot of benefit has been from cost 
avoidance so far as opposed to removing costs. 

Page 65



Appendix E 

• We are filling posts well generally, but Housing Revenue Account at 
SH is a challenge sometimes.  We are seeing a lot of turnover, but 

that is the nature of the employment market generally at present. 
• We have had lots of feedback from partners. As we do good things, 

we should promote them as having the public on side is helpful. 
• Devolution issue - changes at Government make the situation hard 

to read.  They may delay until a general election or might need to 
push forward to create a more efficient model of Local 

Government.  Much of what we are doing is what we would be doing 
if we were to be a single local authority.  The work we have done has 

placed us in the best possible place for the future. 
• Transport and other areas not in our remit – it will be a long haul to 

see any real change in these areas as we are not directly responsible 
but do have more power to influence the solutions. 

 

Adrian Sibley 
 

• Officers are spread more thinly. Teams/Zoom has helped with this by 
reducing travel time. There is an issue with taking the same 

presentations to multiple different meetings and streamlining would 
be helpful. 

• Things turned around more quickly than we thought.  
• Strengths brought to partnership e.g., Christine excellent 

governance.  
• Bringing on lots of projects for all 3 councils.  

• Need to embed the partnership through the tiers of areas / services. 
This would not be about where teams are based - it would be about 

working as partners and the solution would look different for each 
team. 

 

Councillor 1 
 

• SHDC joining was a much smoother process than when we brought 
forward the ELDC/BBC alliance. 

• We now have different officers with different strengths – it is about 
using those strengths for the benefit of the whole partnership and not 

just individual Councils. 
• I am pleased with how things have gone so far; we have knowledge 

we didn’t have before. 
• It is about more than money saving; we also have greater 

representation with external partners. 
• Communication – it is useful to have regular updates for councillors 

from each directorate. 
• PSPS – need some nuances to help work through issues but on the 

whole, we work well with them. It is important to keep them on side 

to know they are valued even when there are blips. 

Page 66



Appendix E 

• Future – we can get more out of this; we can push the partnership to 
other service areas  and empower others with decision making  

• Staff development is key to recruitment and retention 
• Cultural change – executive / cabinets meet, joint scrutiny meets, we 

are working hard to provide opportunities to bring different groups of 
councillors together to understand how each other works. 

• Education, skills, employment – will have more success with this as 
a partnership over time (e.g., Plant & Bean factory). 

• Best use of officer time – shared briefings / member days, align 
papers/templates, video presentations for use at all 3, we have paved 

the way with joint scrutiny and executive/cabinet, also some more 
joint briefings coming up too on Police and NHS. 

 
Councillor 2 

 

• We have been carefully treading this first year – it has been not 
without challenge but is important for this to happen at a steady pace 

to ensure things are done for the right reason.  
• Budgets and shared learning set us in good stead for future 

challenges e.g., devolution – this is a useful footprint for a way 
forward, the potential of what we have done is positive. 

• We faced incredible challenges through covid, but we became an 
alliance then a partnership whilst dealing with those challenges. 

• Concerns over PSPS, helpful to learn from these and move forward. 
• I have good relationship with other leaders – it is good to know a 

sense of their ‘place’ and where they are from / how they see things. 
• We are already seeing real differences; we have a much bigger 

say/impact in things we are involved in than we did on our own. 
• Levelling up / shared prosperity has been a 3-way piece of work. 

• Not always apparent to the public what we are doing and why. 

• We need to keep up with the fundamentals, but also shout about the 
‘extras’ we do as we’ve not always had the funding share, we should 

have but still managed to get good outcomes. 
• Starting to work together more closely e.g., arrangements for  

Operation London Bridge were a good example of strong partnership 
working. 

• Politically we are about improving residents ‘place’ wherever that is, 
some see the partnership as a threat to traditional councils, but I 

want to sell the benefits of being part of a bigger group that has 
different strengths and backgrounds but with many common threads 

to tie us together. 
 

Panel discussion – emerging themes and recommendations 
 

The panel discussed what they had heard and noted the following as key 

areas for further discussion / investigation: 
 

Page 67



Appendix E 

• How to make the best use of officer time (e.g., recordings of 
presentations); 

• Constitution / policy alignment; 
• Embed partnership through all tiers; 

• Culture needs to be cascaded / embedded ;             3 linked themes 
• More departmental collaboration / amalgamation; 

• Bring public on board re: benefits of partnership; 
• Barriers with ICT; 

• Influencing key issues outside our remit. 
 

 Date and Time: Tuesday 18th October 2022, 6:00pm – 8:00pm 
 

Christine Marshall 
 

• This was a big change, and it takes time to adjust – for SHDC more 

as staff jumped from working for 1 council to 3 councils, whereas BBC 
and ELDC went from one, to two, to three so the change was slightly 

more gradual; 
• Each council had their own strengths to bring to the Partnership, for 

example Boston from a size perspective benefits from the extra staff 
resource and expertise; 

• It is easier to have 1 conversation with partners for all 3 councils and 
also gives us a much more powerful voice; 

• It is good for staff in terms of opportunities for promotion compared 
with a single authority, which in turn helps with recruitment; 

• We have a good mix of members who are happy to work together; 
• There is some disconnect from ‘place’ especially in SHDC and these 

issues need to be picked up; 
• Councillors and residents are sometimes waiting too long for 

responses so this needs to be improved; 

• Sometimes we look inwards too much to compare each other, instead 
of comparing to other authorities 

• Some frustration over the time it is taking to align governance and 
processes; 

• Good pace in getting things done – but also need to mindful of careful 
adjustment to allow for place / intricacies of each council; 

• Some good opportunities for efficiencies with PSPS; 
• Pace of change was impacted by Covid, grants, Ukraine, the legacy 

of these issues had to be absorbed first; 
• Need to use S113 to share staff on more projects to help build 

relationships; 
• There is a need to realise this is not going to be perfect straight away, 

we are 3 large areas with similarities and differences; 
• Need enhanced arrangements on ‘place’; 

• We need a Partnership transformation resource to drive change and 

ensure the capacity to follow it through; 

Page 68



Appendix E 

• Closer working with PSPS, this needed to have been factored in more 
at the start of the journey; 

• Need to ensure robust governance; 
• alignment of policies is key – ICT aligned, HR currently in final stages 

of being aligned, CPRs due to go through approval process shortly; 
• PSPS – we have changed what we want from them so they will need 

time to adjust their plans to align and take advantage of new ways 
of working; 

• There will be more opportunities for efficiencies through PSPS once 
theirs and our processes are aligned; 

• There are some big projects to work on and some service reviews 
may take 1 – 2 years to fully align teams; 

• Top 3 recommendations before the elections in May 2023 – 1. 
Transformation resource to enable service reviews, 2. Process of 

supporting members queries, 3. Key work with PSPS as a facilitator. 

 
Michelle Sacks 

 
• Greater sphere of influence e.g., we hosted DEFRA today, wouldn’t 

have happened as an individual council; 
• What we can do collectively and collaboratively is much greater as a 

three rather than individually; 
• Joint scrutiny work – recognition of positive collaboration, and more 

meaningful outputs (such as the Public Transport scrutiny); 
• Reputation and ability to deliver 

• Governance can be bureaucratic, process focused and risk averse – 
need to reflect on this and in transition to a shared, One Team 

approach could look at being more strategic and less risk averse, 
more flexible in how we deal with things so we can be innovative 

• Managing member expectations - response to member times need 

work better – is there a better process for this. 
• Alignment of portfolios would help when looking to align other things 

such as policies. E.g., my PFHs meet together but for other PFHs not 
always possible as there are different mixes – one for post-May; 

• Managing member expectations – in terms of what is happening in 
each area – whilst we are still a new partnership reflecting that some 

areas are more developed, because of Town Fund as an example, and 
partnerships are more firmly established, but this does not mean this 

can be not delivered across the whole partnership; 
• One voice – transport, sub-regional impact  

• Inward investment – having a 3-council partnership makes the 
difference when making business cases to prospective partners and 

investors 
• Sharing of expertise – helps with funding submissions on quick 

turnaround; 

• Alignment of constitution in terms of decision-making process – 
creates complexities as 3 processes to follow to get 1 decision made; 

Page 69



Appendix E 

• PSPS – finance and ICT not been an easy process – they don’t always 
appreciate that some of the client base is councillors and that their 

issues need to take priority e.g., when starting a meeting; 
• Need some innovation from PSPS to allow us to carry out what we as 

councils want; 
• S113 agreements – should have as many staff on these as possible 

to allow further collaboration between teams; 
• Align all 3 council’s constitution as a priority to ensure we are as 

efficient and effective as possible; 
• Program in more all-member events face to face to build 

relationships, share experiences across the 3, opportunity to hear 
things directly from councillors – brings more breadth and depth; 

• Priorities 1. Governance – alignment and flexibility, 2. S113 staff 
arrangements, 3. PSPS to match our ambition and aspiration, 4. Work 

more collaboratively with PSPS and partners and build on our 

reputation for collaborative working; 
 

John Leach 
 

• Partnership can work like a unitary in terms of a higher profile with 
partners and better resilience, whilst respecting the three councils 

sovereign identity; 
• The 3 councils work collaboratively on challenges faced  

• A larger organisation offers more opportunities for staff careers; 
• We operate at size and scale effectively and efficiently; 

• We are on the right footing to do more as a 3. We had good starting 
points as individually all had things to positively bring to the 

Partnership Each Council  does really well so together, we can do a 
really fantastic job to deliver good services to all our residents; 

• Uncertainty and in some instances a lack of confidence can be a 

challenge  – need to turn this into a positive.  We need to help build 
self-confidence, there are lots of positives. 

• Has been a steep learning curve, need to be careful not to move too 
fast or be too greedy.  The system needs to be able to cope. 

• Be impactful rather than try to do too much too soon; there’s been 
some great progress so far and it’s important to keep a balanced and 

at the same time progressive momentum 
• Build on our resources and capacity over time in order to achieve all 

our ambitions for the three sovereign councils; 
• The 3 councils have understandably different cultures, we need to 

encourage a level playing field on standard matters by looking at 
policies, procedures, constitution, whilst respecting and 

understanding local identity; 
• Need to be empowered by the size and scale of the partnership to get 

on with what we have been tasked with; 

• Some good progress– climate change strategy, community safety 
strategy, £400K of funding for community safety, £7.2 million green 

Page 70



Appendix E 

homes/sustainable warmth funding, community lottery, carbon 
reduction plan, Healthy Living Board, Envirocrime contract for the 

Partnership progressing, emergency planning arrangements in place 
across the sub-region – all done by joint teams for the Partnership, 

same thing for 3 councils but using one team; 
• Like many places need better IT infrastructure; 

• Regardless of devolution, we need to do this now as it is the right 
thing to do for our 3 councils; 

• We have a higher profile, more resilience, better pool of knowledge; 
• Collaboration has enabled many projects including access to various 

grant funding schemes, Towns Fund, UK Shared Prosperity Fund; 
• Benefits for staff ambitions and their career development and also for 

the councils in terms of succession planning; 
• We can use best practice from each authority to deliver better 

services across all 3 areas; 

• There have been some savings as well as cost avoidance 
• There is more to do regarding service reviews 

• Key things to resolve / alignment where possible in terms of 
constitution, terms and conditions, resourcing, ICT; 

• Need to build on communications 1. To ensure officers and councillors 
are up to date, supporting the role of councillors with good 

information and on delivery, 2. To build relationships, face to face on 
the ground as well as virtually, 3. To ensure awareness of roles across 

the Partnership; 
• Need to build on opportunities for  collaboration between 

departments; 
• Alignment of portfolios where appropriate; 

• S113 opportunities for more staff; 
• Need clearer understanding of the collective resources available 

(internally and externally, working with partners); 

• Need to ensure we never lose focus about why we are here is to 
deliver excellent public services for our residents.  Always seeking   to 

ensure continuous improvement through collaboration; 
• Top 3 recommendations before the elections in May 2023 1. Ensure 

financial resilience, 2. Be realistic whilst agreeing  progressive activity 
through the Annual Delivery Planning process, 3. Always ensure we 

know what direction councillors want us to go in as that is the ‘sense 
check’ for officers. 

 
Panel discussion, including emerging themes and 

recommendations 
 

• SHDC did not have an easy partnership with Breckland, so had a 
concern over things not going well this time either; 

• It was agreed by panel members that there is a need to move forward 

to the future of the partnership and look to future opportunities, draw 
on the shared expertise and ensure councils are ‘on the same page’; 

Page 71



Appendix E 

• There is a need to listen to officer expertise and use it to help deliver; 
• There is a need to break down the barriers that stop officers getting 

on with things; 
• Important to use each other’s strengths; 

• Joining as three means we have the benefits of a large partnership 
but with the ability to keep things local and keep the local connection; 

 
Date and Time: Monday 24th October 2022, 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

 
Councillor 3 

 
• More joined up strategic planning 

• High level agreement on priorities 
• Bigger single voice as a sub-region 

• More influence with partners 

• Shared senior management works well, junior members need to also 
feel part of the partnership 

• Need to ensure balance with member briefings, can seem Town Deal 
focused sometimes 

• Bigger opportunities as a 3, more outward thinking, seen as a bigger 
partner and better option by external partners, can have wide ranging 

discussions that lead to some key priorities being dealt with 
• Shared expertise of getting funding has been shared across the 

partnership 
• Peer Review is designed to help us improve so the 1-year point 

seemed a good time to ask what we have done well and to get 
pointers on what to focus on moving forward. 

 
Councillor 4 

 

• We have influence as a partnership now 
• Officers can speak at a regional level, and we are able to build on this 

• There are resources we can tap into such as planning expertise 
• Communication is harder to ensure it is kept relevant across 3 

sovereign councils 
• Economic side aligned quickly; other departments are not as easy to 

align as they are ‘place’ centric rather than area/region centric 
• Need to realise areas of service may all move at a different pace 

• Need to ensure the public know how the partnership works and how 
it can benefit them 

• Increased workload due to joint projects 
• Need all member briefings for things that affect the partnership and 

council specific briefings for things affecting sovereign councils 
 

 

 
 

Page 72



Appendix E 

Councillor 5 
 

• We can do more joint work as portfolio holders, but need to move 
steadily to ensure we get it right 

• We have good foundations to build on, but need to ensure we are 
being measured and thoughtful 

• Looking at joint opportunities such as hydrogen production plants; 
• Agreement generally with the points raised by other councillors     

 
 

Councillor 6 
 

• I am cautiously optimistic; it is early days and there is more work to 
do 

• It is currently more difficult to access information, it takes longer to 

get answers 
• Huge increase in workload for PSPS during Covid that created a 

backlog they weren’t prepared for, this cleared now but did cause 
difficulties at the time 

• We need to build on economies of scale 
• We need to share best practice and expertise across all 3 councils 

• We are more efficient as we have an integrated finance system across 
the 3 councils 

• I think PSPS should stick with the 3 councils they have for now and 
consolidate what they are doing and ensure it is right 

• There is no substitute for human interaction, the councils need a 
different split in home / office requirements as PSPS have 

 
Councillor 7 

 

• Good to have a shared team structure, I now deal with staff across 
the partnership, and we have gained some excellent staff 

• There is motivation to get things delivered 
• Concerns around structural changes caused some confusion initially, 

particularly amongst councillors 
• Pressure on staff now working across 3 councils, need to manage the 

workload carefully 
• We are on track to deliver shared services and savings 

• We can share knowledge and staff expertise 
• We need better / more communication for members, and this would 

help embed the partnership more quickly 
• We may be too reactive; we need to identify the right kind and level 

of support for the extra workload successful grant funding brings 
• The delivery teams are under pressure due to our success rate in 

accessing financial Capital support and we need to identify the right 

kind and level of support to deliver the extra workload successful 
grant funding brings 

Page 73



Appendix E 

• We are 3 areas historically left behind, now we are getting money 
offered to us, we need to ensure we are in a position to make the 

most of those opportunities 
• We lost a good finance officer due to our inadequate home working 

policies,  so if we wish to obtain and retain good staff, we need to be 
mindful of the difference between what officers want and what 

councillors want. 
 

Councillor 8 
 

• Worried there is too much in the Annual Delivery Plan 
• Strong alliance across the 3 councils, thinking alike and sharing so 

much, such as the coastline, drainage board, gives us a strong footing 
if devolution comes along 

• Lots of work to do, need to be mindful not to overload staff 

• Useful to look and compare through performance indicators 
• Need to ensure all staff are aware of the partnership and the benefits 

it can bring 
• Have moved too fast on some things, need to stop, and take stock, 

rethink priorities, cannot keep adding extra work just because the 
opportunity may be there 

• As finance portfolio holders, we are sovereign lookers as we each 
have to balance the books for our sovereign councils, we have no 

specific shared budget 
• There are not as many issues as I feared there may be, but because 

our finances are run through PSPS, we need to ensure they can grow 
to provide the services we want them to 

• Officer core have been through the pandemic and lockdown so are 
prepared for the coming months, we may need to brush up our 

business preparedness and risk register (James Gilbert clarified that 

there is a single emergency plan and continuity plan being created 
for the partnership) 

• Harder to get answers and decisions, made more difficult by home 
working, I feel staff need a better balance of home and office working 

to allow them to learn and collaborate and discuss more easily 
 

Councillor 9 
 

• The partnership has been positive, I believe we should be a 4-way 
partnership to include PSPS as they are integral to what we are doing 

• Services provided through PSPS are becoming aligned, creating 
capacity and resilience 

• Creating efficiency and capacity in the longer term is easier now we 
also have Boston in the team 

• Timing of the partnership wasn’t ideal for PSPS as they were already 

tasked with bringing BBC on board, the partnership was added very 
quickly after that 

Page 74



Appendix E 

• There has been additional staff turnover due to workloads and it has 
been difficult to recruit to some senior positions 

• PSPS have found it more difficult to liaise with Council staff, harder 
to meet and chat and have informal discussions when staff are 

working remotely 
• PSPS are trialling different ways of working such as a 4-day week, 

people applying always ask what the home / office split is 
• Boston needed time and investment to be brought on board, we need 

to be aware of the pace of change, steady the ship to ensure 
resilience 

• There is a lot of pressure on PSPS, we should concentrate on the 4-
way partnership and ensure it is settled and happy. 

 
Panel Discussion 

 

Key thoughts from panel members on priorities moving forward were noted 
as follows: 

 
• Pace of changes 

• Balance of home and office working 
• Member response times 

• Improve public perception 
• PSPS recruitment and retention issues 

• Public and backbench knowledge of the Partnership 
• Alignment of systems and processes such as ICT 

• Capacity regarding finance – being proactive not reactive regarding 
funding pots available 

• Ability to be proactive not reactive in terms of funding availability 
 

Date and Time: Tuesday 1st November 2022, 6:00pm – 8:00pm 

 
Lewis Ducket 

 
• PSPS has adjusted fairly well but also had some challenges brought 

about by additional work/timing ; 
• The Partnership was announced only 6 months after we had started 

‘onboarding’ Boston Borough Council, which created additional 
work/requirements which impacted on resourcing  

• Our initial priorities were aligning finance, HR, and payroll systems 
both for the S&ELCP but also as we are doing this as part of 

onboarding BBC; 
• Customer contact and revenue and benefits had additional significant 

workload demands, linked to covid support measures (grants/energy 
rebates payments etc 

• ICT technological alignment process has started both in supporting 

partnership but also aligning BBC across PSPS services; 

Page 75



Appendix E 

• There are continual evolving adjustments/changes/additional 
requirements at the moment and likely to be more going forwards 

• There are still challenges with the remaining pandemic work which is 
still creating extra pressure – high levels of calls/closing off covid 

support activity such as energy rebate scheme; 
• Staff turnover has also been a challenge during part of the post 

pandemic phase; however, this is impacting all organisations and not 
just PSPS 

• Reprioritisation of work – lots of what PSPS do is cyclical, so the 
changes disrupted some of that regularity coupled with the need to 

do additional work without any additional resource ; 
• Staff turnover issues meant at times we had additional 

demands  coupled with normal work with either new staff or 
additional work needing to be absorbed 

• We Need to re-look at priorities and what will have the most impact; 

• PSPS is not currently looking to expand outwards, rather to provide 
more services to existing partners such as a procurement service; 

• Pre-partnership we were doing lots of things twice in 2 different ways, 
now we can look to align back-office functions so they are done in the 

same way across the partnership – this will then create capacity’ 
• We hope to recruit and retain staff in a changing work market to 

provide a more streamlined and efficient service, a shared model of 
delivery across the partnership and realise the benefits of the councils 

having a LATCO vehicle for delivery; 
• I am aware of some challenges which were faced between PSPS, and 

partner councils and they occurred at the same time with big 
programmes of change work – onboarding BBC created difficulties, 

but some issues were not linked to the creation of the partnership 
but linked to covid grants and council tax rebate payments and BBC 

receiving the PSPS delivery of shared model service v’s the in-house 

model they were used to; 
• There is the option for the councils to look at how they commission 

services in the future and align programmes of work; 
• The Partnership need to involve PSPS at an earlier stage with some 

projects of their forward planning  
• The balance between the current cost of PSPS Services v’s service 

levels expected needs careful monitoring – the councils may have to 
consider further investment into parts of PSPS to achieve some of 

their future ambitions – there are big expectations placed on 
HR/Finance and ICT; 

• ICT – opportunity to achieve alignments of systems across all 3 
councils; 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 76



Appendix E 

Q&A session with staff members 
 

James Gilbert left the meeting at this point to allow the staff members 
joining the meeting to speak openly and honestly without a member of 

management team present. 
 

• Staff forum meets every 6 weeks and has representation from across 
all 3 councils and different service areas and teams; 

• Issue of staff terms and conditions raised, no answer as yet; 
• Ongoing issue of capacity, including recruitment and retention; 

• ELDC and BBC have number of concerns from some frontline staff 
and those services out in the community; 

• At an operation level, if you work across more than one council, you 
cannot access the different IT systems at partner offices; 

• There are better career opportunities as a partnership 

• More access to cross council expertise; 
• Creates more resilience if done correctly; 

• Partnership is a mystery for many residents, staff out in the 
community still refer to their sovereign council when identifying 

themselves to residents; 
• Closing CAPS at ELDC was an issue for elderly, vulnerable and 

disadvantaged; 
• Staff need to be told reasons behind why certain requests are 

declined or decisions rejected; 
• Staff would like a timescale for the review and alignment of pay and 

terms and conditions; 
• Managers need to be honest with staff about the purpose of service 

reviews and staff otherwise just assume it is about cuts; 
• Inconsistency in how requests for new posts are approved, Boston 

staff feel unfairly treated on this issue; 

• Recruitment is difficult across the country, but our salaries are not 
competitive, and we are not ‘savvy’ enough in how we advertise jobs; 

• Need to do recruitment well, attract the right people to the area and 
to the jobs we have; 

• Morale is low and stress levels are increasing, staff do not feel that 
there is ‘One Team’ as managers do not follow the Value and 

Behaviours instilled on the rest of the staff; 
• Inconsistency in team meetings and staff receiving information and 

updates about the partnership; 
• Home working is different from person to person but there needs to 

be flexibility and choice depending on the needs of the service; 
• There is a leadership programme, but there is a need for something 

on a more ‘entry level’ for junior staff; 
• The leadership programme needs improving – you are developed but 

not necessarily progresses; 

• Need to make the most of the apprenticeship levy as they do at BBC; 

Page 77



Appendix E 

• Would be good to meet with PSPS staff to ensure good working 
relationships but as the Partnership is new, need separate staff 

forums at this time; 
 

Panel discussion / emerging recommendations 
 

• ICT, communication, and alignment seem to be the key issues raised 
by those we have spoken with 

• Need accountability from Leaders on recommendations, suggest 
these are monitored more regularly than once a year 

• Need to include staff forum members at all future scrutiny of the 
partnership panels 

• Are HR a barrier to successful recruitment? 
• Infrastructure of our areas affect recruitment 

• Managers need to follow the ‘One Team’ values and adopt best 

practice to ensure all staff are kept informed and feel part of the 
partnership – great branding, is it followed through by everyone? 

• Frustration with delays in the ICT work programme including the 
shared strategy for the Partnership 

 

Page 78



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

23rd JANUARY 2023 
 

 
To receive the confirmed minutes  

of the meeting of the  
Audit and Governance Committee held on  

3 October 2022. 
 
 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

3 October 2022 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman), Councillor George Cornah (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Richard Austin BEM, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, Frank Pickett, 
Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
Officers –  
Insights & Transformation Manager, Manager – Public Sector, Mazars, Assistant 
Director - Finance (Deputy S151 Officer), Section 151 Officer, Deputy Chief Finance 
Officer (Corporate) and Interim Treasury Manager, Financial Services 
 
49   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the last meeting, held 18th July, were agreed. 
 
50   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Tom Ashton. 
 
51   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
52   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
53   GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2021/22 

 
At the meeting of Full Council held on 26 September 2022 consideration had been given 
to a report setting out the draft financial position for the Council at the end of the 
2021/22 financial year, and seeking approval for the transfer and drawdown of reserve 
funds and carry forward of capital budget in the sum of £3.55m. 
 
During debate a request was made for the report to be considered by the Audit and 
Governance Committee prior to Council decision. The amendment at Council was not 
agreed, however after the substantive motion to approve the recommendations was lost, 
the Leader agreed to refer the report to the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee as an urgent item, which the Chairman agreed to accept.  
 
Throughout the year, quarterly monitoring reports were completed forecasting the 
expected year end outturn against the budget. The report provided a summary on the 
provisional full year outturn at 31st March 2022 for the following areas;  

• The General Fund Revenue Budget 

• The General Fund Reserves Position 

• The Capital Outturn for 2021/22  

• High level Treasury Management Performance for the year 
 
The report set out the draft financial position for Boston Borough Council for 2021/22.  

Page 81



Audit & Governance Committee 
3 October 2022 
 

 
The Chairman explained the reason he requested this report come to scrutiny was 
because Full Council doesn’t offer question and answer sessions.  
 
Following Member questions the Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & 
S151 outlined the following;  

• Any interest made on grant money goes back into the Council’s general fund 
reserve.  

• The surplus of £165,000 will be used to top up the transformation reserve  
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee support the report being send through the 
relevant decision making bodies.   
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
54   ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT  2022/23 

 
The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS advised that the title of the report 
should have read Quarter 1 Treasury Management Report 2022/23 before presenting 
the report. The report covered the following areas;  

• An economic update for the first quarter of the 2022/23 financial year; 

• The outlook for the remainder of the financial year along with interest rate 
forecasts;  

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23;  

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2022/23;  

• Debt rescheduling;  

• Compliance with Treasury and Prudential indicators.  
 
Following Members questions the Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS 
confirmed that the borrowing rates for the Public Works Loan Board were fixed.  
 
RESOLVED:  
That the Committee approve the contents of the report.  
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
55   UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2021/22 

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer presented a report which contained the unaudited 
Financial Statements including Annual Governance Statements to the Committee.  
 
Attached at Appendix A of the report was the unaudited Financial Statements for 
2021/22, the appendix also included the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement, and Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2022.  
 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that;  

• The Responsible Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) signs the unaudited 
Financial Statements no later than 31 May each year; and  

• The Financial Statements be considered and approved by a Committee of the 
Council no later than 31 July each year.  

Due to the Coronavirus Pandemic the regulations for the period 2021/22 have been 
amended as follows;  

Page 82



Audit & Governance Committee 
3 October 2022 

 

• The Responsible Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) signs the unaudited 
Financial Statements no later than 31 July 2022;  

• The Financial Statements including the Annual Governance Statement be 
considered and approved by a Committee of the Council no later than 30 
September 2022.  

 
The Deputy Chief Finance Officer reported that the net worth of the Council had 
increased by £13.646m, and this was also reflected in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Other major changes include;  

• An increase of £2.8m in Long Term Investments, due to an increase in the value 
of property funds in the year.  

• A decrease of £1.4m in Short-term Debtors, partly due to the accounting entries 
associated with the resulting deficits on the Council Tax and Business Rates 
Collection Fund at 31 March 2022.  

• A net increase of £9.3m in Cash and Cash Equivalents due to increase cash 
received in 2021/22 relating to government grants to be utilised in 2022/23. This 
was also included in the net increase of Short-term creditors of £4.7m as the 
monies were owing back to Central Government at 31 March 2022.  

• The Actuary’s assessment of the Council’s net pension liability decreased by 
£9.2m, as a result of changes in demographic and financial assumptions, but had 
only reduced on the Balance Sheet by £6.2m as the 2021/22 position includes 
Boston’s share of PSPS’ pension liability.  

 
It was confirmed that the Council’s net worth had increased as at end of March 2021 
due Government Grants being received this elevated the figure at the end of the year. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee considered the report.  
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
56   RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 
The Insights & Transformation Manager presented a report which set out the Q1 (end of 
June 2022) Risk report.  
 
Following Member comments at the previous meeting the four following items were 
addressed;  

• Infrastructure – a new infrastructure risk has been added to the Strategic Risk, 
which covers road, rail, waste management, water supply, energy and digital 
connectivity. It was a medium risk at that time and the mitigation was across the 
sub-region, which was widened following Member suggestion 

• Environmental Crime in the waterways, a response was circulated to the 
Committee ahead of the meeting. 

• Recruitment & Retention – this was raised at the last clinic and was noted, there 
had been no chance since the previous meeting.  

• Impact of Ukraine conflict – this was discussed at the clinic and it was agreed that 
as it does not affect one single risk, it will affect a number of risks both strategic 
and operational and across the three Councils. As such, the Partnership Risk 
Register will be following up.   

 

Page 83



Audit & Governance Committee 
3 October 2022 
 

Members were concerned with the current economic climate; specifically the Housing 
and Health Risk. Members were in agreement that those should be marked higher on 
the Risk register.  
 
RESOLVED: That the Committee note the report.  
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
57   BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL & EAST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL - 

JOINT REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (RIPA) POLICY 
UPDATE 
 

The Assistant Director – Regulatory and Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) for RIPA 
presented a report which provided Members with an update relating to the Council’s 
Policy and Procedures on the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA 
Policy), its use and to provide assurance and information. This was a joint Policy with 
East Lindsey District Council and followed s successful inspection by the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner (IPCO) who reviewed both Councils use of the Policy under the 
strategic partnership agreement. The Policy remained in use and relevant across ELDC 
and BBC.  
 
The most recent inspection by IPCO took place in 23rd March 2021, following that the 
Policy was reviewed and updated. 
 
The Assistant Director – Regulatory and SRO for RIPA then confirmed the following;  

• The Council had not authorised any applications for direct surveillance or CHIS 
over the past year.  

• Five names Officers in the policy with specific roles have undertaken or updated 
relevant training thereby ensuring knowledge was up to date across the two 
Councils.  

• Sixty-one other members of staff in roles such as Community Safety, CCTV, 
Enforcement and Environmental Health had also completed a short awareness 
course on the basics of RIPA in order to be able to deal with queries directly or 
raise to the SRO if necessary.  

• Data security assurances were in place and with no applications in the last year, 
no data security issues had arisen.  

• The Policy is due to be renewed in 2024 by the SRO, who also acts as the RIPA 
Co-ordinator.  

• There is sufficient staff to effectively carry out RIPA.  
 
Following comments from Members regarding the use of surveillance and fly-tipping the 
Assistant Director and SRO confirmed that the surveillance under RIPA is covert, and 
that fly-tipping is an overt-surveillance issue, which was not covered by RIPA.  
 
RESOLVED: The Committee note the report.  
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
58   INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

 
The Internal Audit Manager presented the Internal Audit Progress Report which 
provided Members with an update on the previous Internal Audit Progress report.  

Page 84



Audit & Governance Committee 
3 October 2022 

 

 
The Internal Audit Manager updated Members on the following areas;   

• There were audits around IT and Key control work around the Council’s financial 
controls, income and the Towns Fund, which had been a major investment for 
Boston at that time.  

• That there was a lot of substantial assurance throughout the Audit.  

• The one limited was the Housing Benefit Subsidy work, this work was carried out 
every year for the previous year, meaning this year was looking at the 2021 year 
which resulting in limited assurance. The details which lead to this was attached 
at appendix 1 of the report pack.  

• PSPS had agreed to share their most recent audit as the audit was based around 
client management with the partnering councils which ended with a high level of 
assurance, summary was attached with the report.  

• The overdue audit recommendations showed that there was 1 high and 7 
medium recommendations that are overdue, it was confirmed that this was a very 
small amount and none of those recommendations apply to a limited or low 
assurance review.  

 
Members made comments relating to an external review that stated there should be at 
least two Lay Members in a Committee – the Internal Audit Manager confirmed that 
while it is considered good practice to have two Lay members, he understood they are 
difficult to find.  

 
RESOLVED: The report be noted by the Committee.  
(Mr Pickering agreed with the decision) 
 
59   MONITORING OFFICER UPDATE 

 
The Monitoring Officer informed Members that work is being carried out looking into 
Local Code of Corporate Governance across the partnership.  
 
He was also working with the Section 151 and Deputy Section 151 officers to look at the 
Constitution, following comments across the partnership authorities. Areas such as 
Contract Procedure Rules are being looked at for amendments with the view to add 
value to the organisation.  
 
Following Member comments the Monitoring Officer confirmed that the intention was not 
to have one Constitution for all three Council’s but to further align specific areas. 
 
60   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Work Programme was noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.32 pm 
 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23 January 2023 

SUBJECT: 

 

 

PURPOSE:  

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 

 

 

To determine the Council Tax Support scheme for 2023/24. 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

REPORT OF: 

 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Christine Marshall, deputy Chief Executive – Corporate 

Development (S151) 

Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits (PSPS) 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Council approval of the Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2023/24 

Local Council Tax Support scheme, 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the framework for localism of Council Tax 

Support. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council approves the Cabinet recommendation for continuation of the current Council Tax 

Support scheme, including uprating in line with DWP’s annual update of allowances and 

premiums for 2023/24. 

 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

This Council must make any revision to its scheme, or any replacement, and agree its final 

scheme no later than 11 March 2023 in respect of the 2023/24 financial year.   

Retention of the current scheme will provide continuity for customers in terms of the level of 

support provided, and it will maintain scheme expenditure at an affordable level.   

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

No change.  This would retain the current scheme into 2023/24, not uprated in line with DWP 

updating of allowances and premiums.  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Council Tax Support (CTS) provides financial assistance to people on low incomes, by way of 

reduction in Council Tax.  Each year the Council needs to consider whether to review its CTS 

scheme. This report advises the conclusion of the annual review and the results of 

consultation for the 2023/24 scheme.  

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 
approve a local Council Tax Support scheme, including consultation with major preceptors 
and stakeholders, to inform a final scheme design.  
 

1.3 Local CTS schemes replaced the former national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme from 

April 2013. The scheme for pensioners continues to be prescribed by government and 

allows up to 100% support against Council Tax liability.   

1.4 The Welfare Reform Act contained provisions regarding the introduction of Universal Credit 

(UC) which impacts on the administration of Housing Benefit. UC was introduced for the 

Boston area in April 2015, and the full service was rolled out in September 2018, for new 

claims only.  The government has confirmed their latest plans for the migration of existing 

legacy claims to be complete by the end of 2024.  

1.5 The scheme for Working Age claimants is determined locally. The Government set out its 
expectations for local authorities to protect the vulnerable and for schemes to support 
incentives to work.   
 

1.6 Boston Borough Council has retained a Council Tax Support Scheme since April 2013 that 
requires all working age households to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax liability. The 
Council’s local scheme applies a number of principles: -   
 

• Protecting the most vulnerable – pension-age and war pensioners  

• Continuation of a means-testing approach, based on the previous CTB rules as far as 
possible  

• The scheme will be reviewed annually  

• Protecting war pensioners from reductions in support  
 

Page 88



1.7  Since April 2022, the scheme also provides for discretion to disregard national schemes 

introduced during a financial year in the calculation of Council Tax Support. 

 

2.  CURRENT SCHEME FIGURES 

2.1 At 31 May 2022 the CTS caseload and spend was as follows: - 

 Total Claims Percentage of Total 2022/23 CTS 
Expenditure 

All Groups 4142  3,675,639 

Elderly 2038 49.20% 2,063,578 

Working Age 2104 50.80% 1,611,061 

 

2.2  The cost of the scheme is borne by major preceptors, Lincolnshire County Council, and 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire, in proportion to their precepts. The cost to 
the Borough Council is approximately £493k (13.4%). 

2.3  It remains difficult to forecast caseload and expenditure with any degree of certainty in the 
current economic climate.  As the level of CTS expenditure fluctuates through the year, it is 
only at the end of a financial year that we can be assured of the total expenditure incurred. 
Pensioner caseloads tend to attract higher levels of awards than those of working age and 
are generally more static.  As the scheme responds to circumstances and the economic 
climate, the caseload will also fluctuate, increasing and reducing as people go on and off 
benefits across the working age claimant group. 

 

3 CURRENT ECONOMIC POSITION 

Cost of Living 

3.1  As part of this years’ review, there is recognition of the cost of living and energy cost crises, 

and the uncertainty and difficulties that households are experiencing. 

3.2  We are likely to see fluctuations in numbers of CTS claimants, potentially increasing with 

the prospect of a recession, and the subsequent increased demand for benefits and local 

support for low-income households. 

3.3  Any change to a CTS scheme must be considered alongside wider challenges faced by local 

authorities; the need to strike a balance between a local fair and affordable CTS scheme 

which provides support to those in most need, and the cost of the scheme to all residents is 

essential.  As such, the importance of maintaining current levels of support, providing 

consistency and continuity for customers, has been a priority consideration in the proposals 

for the next financial year. 

 

Further Support 

3.4  In addition to the local CTS scheme, the council has discretionary powers to award one-off 

Council Tax discounts to support households where there are exceptional personal 

circumstances or hardship.  In line with local policy, applications are determined on a case-

by-case basis, therefore ensuring due consideration is given to the unique circumstances of 

Page 89



the applicant.  It is anticipated, due to the current crises, that the council may see greater 

demand on the discretionary scheme. 

3.5  BBC provides information on a range of wider support schemes which are delivered by, or 

signposted by, the council. Full details are published, and maintained, on the website and 

include the current Household Support Fund schemes.   

3.6 People who are struggling to pay their Council Tax are encouraged to make contact with the 

council.  This helps to ensure households are receiving any discounts and reductions that 

they may be eligible for.  Alternative payment arrangements can also be made, for example 

helping with frequency of payment, or extending over a longer period. 

3.7 By the end of November, a share of a discretionary Energy Rebate fund of £119k will be 

distributed to eligible low income / benefit households. 

 

4 2023/24 SCHEME CONSULTATION 
 

4.1 Consultation for the 2023/24 scheme proposals, as agreed with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, took place between 15 August and 30 November 2022, and sought views on: - 
i) Retaining the current scheme, and 

ii) Updating in line with the Department for Work and Pensions uprating provisions  
 

4.2 Major precepting authorities have been consulted on the proposals. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has responded, noting the proposal to retain the current 

scheme, aligned to the DWP uprating.  

 
4.3 The Corporate and Community Committee received a report at its meeting on 6 October 

2022 inviting review of the current scheme operation, and consideration of the proposals 

for 2023/24.   

Members supported the retention of the current scheme and agreed the Council should 

uprate in line with DWP provisions, and were also in agreement that a fundamental review 

should take place with the view of improving the service, making it easier for claimants and 

saving money for the Council.  

4.4 The wider public and stakeholder consultation was published by media release and on the 

Council’s website and social media sites. The questionnaire was made available on the 

website, and paper copies were available on request.  

4.5 A total of 87 responses have been received.  Although an increase on the previous year, this 
is still a low response rate and it has to be recognised that the results cannot be relied upon 
as being wholly representative or statistically significant. 

 
4.6 High level findings of responses are summarised: - 

 

• 56 (68%) respondents that answered this question agreed that the council should 
retain the current scheme for the next financial year. 

• 63 (75%) respondents that answered this question agreed we should increase the 
scheme in line with DWP uprating provisions for 2023/24 and future years. 

 

Page 90



4.7 The full consultation report is shown at Appendix A.  This includes a copy of the 
consultation survey form. 

  

5.  CONCLUSION 
 

5.1 The recommendation made to retain the current scheme for 2023/24 along with uprating 
and harmonisation with DWP annual update of allowances and premiums will continue to 
align the CTS scheme for working age customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit 
and the CTS scheme for pensioners. This has been consistent each year since the introduction 
of local Council Tax Support schemes. 

 
This is supported by the feedback obtained through the consultation exercise.  This will 
provide consistency for claimants, and there will be no new additional impacts on current 
levels of expenditure as a result of the recommendations. 

 
 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

There are no benefits to the partnership as a direct result of this report.    
 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

FINANCIAL 

Page 91



The actual financial impact of any scheme will be subject to the normal fluctuations in demand as 
determined by various factors including economics, needs and demographics as well as overall 
council tax base which are part of the normal MTFS and consultation process to be undertaken. 
 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

The Section 151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance have been consulted. 

Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities, the public 

and other stakeholders where changes to the scheme are proposed.  Consultation has been carried 

out, as detailed in Section 4 of this report.  

 

REPUTATION 

None 

 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

The existing Council Tax Support scheme continues to be delivered on the basis of the DWP’s 

previous Council Tax Benefit scheme regarding protection for vulnerable groups, including children 

and the disabled.   

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

ACRONYMS 

CTS: Council Tax Support 
Page 92



UC: Universal Credit 

CTB: Council Tax Benefit 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Consultation Report 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Signed off by: Deputy Chief Executive - Corporate Development 

(S151) 

Christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

 

Page 93

mailto:Christine.marshall@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 

Consultation Report  

Published  

 

“You Said, We Listened” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



2 
 

Introduction to this consultation 

 

1. This report contains the responses we received for the Council Tax Support Scheme 

2023/24 consultation which took place between 15th August 2022 and 30th 

September 2022. 

 

2. The exercise was performed to gain the views of residents on the proposed Council 

Tax Support Scheme for the 2023/24 financial year.   

  

Methodology 

 

3. The consultation, which was available in both hard copy and online, was promoted 

in a number of ways. 

• A media release was circulated announcing the proposals for the Council 
Tax Support Scheme 2023/24. The media release also provided residents 
with details of the consultation exercise being undertaken and details of 

how to complete or request a copy of the consultation. 
• A letter was forwarded to precepting Authorities on 15th August 2022, 

inviting them to give their views on the proposals for 2023/24.   
• Social media; Facebook and Twitter were also used to inform residents that 

the consultation exercise was being undertaken.  

• A homepage banner was placed on Boston Borough Council’s website to 
draw attention to the consultation.   

• Paper questionnaires were made available on request. 
• An email was sent to 54 groups that represent those individuals with the 

characteristics identified in the Equality Act. A few of these are listed below: 

  Lincs Care Leavers 
  Disability Lincs 

  Victim Support in Lincolnshire 
  Age UK Boston & South Holland 
  Alzheimer’s’ Society 

  Deaf Association 
  British Heart Foundation 

  Lincs YMCA 
  ME Lincs 

  Citizens’ Advice mid Lincs 
  Boston Salvation Army 
  Boston United Disabled Football Club 

  Edan Lincs (Domestic Abuse) 
  Lincolnshire Rural Support Network 

• The questionnaire was also made available for people to complete on 
Boston Borough Council’s website. 
 

4. It should be noted that base data has been rounded to the nearest number (so  

may add up to between 99% and 101%. It should also be noted that numbers 

detailed in brackets may not always add up to 87 due to some respondents only 

choosing to answer certain questions. Where available this report details 

comparisons with the previous consultation.  

 

5. A copy of the consultation is included at the end of this report.  

 

Page 96



3 
 

Response Rate 

 

6. 87 electronic responses were received. 

 

7. In addition, written responses were received from Lincolnshire County Council and 

the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner. Their responses are detailed at 

numbers 9 and 10 in this report. 

 

Results and Analysis 

 

8. All respondents were asked if they thought that the Council should retain its current 

scheme for the next financial year, to retain continuity. The comparison chart below 

shows that 68% (56) of all respondents thought that the Council should retain its 

current scheme; a slight increase of 2% when compared to the previous 

consultation exercise undertaken in 2022/23.  22% (18) of all respondents thought 

the Council ‘should not’ retain its current scheme for the next financial year, with 

the remaining 11% (9) stating that ‘they did not know’.  

 

 
 

 

2023/24

68%

2023/24

22%

2023/24

11%

2022/23

66%

2022/23

21%

2022/23

14%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Yes No I don't know

Question 1 - Do you think that the Council should retain its current scheme for the next 

financial year, to provide continuity

Page 97



4 
 

9. All respondents were advised that each year the Government reviews and generally 

increases the amount people need to live on for the calculation of welfare benefit 

and that by applying the same changes to Boston Borough Council’s Council Tax 

Support scheme it would ensure that the scheme remains up to date with the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) allowances and premiums each year. 

They were then asked if they thought the Council should increase its scheme in line 

with the Department for Work and Pensions provisions for 2023/24 and future 

years. 

 

The comparison chart below shows that three quarters (75%) (63) of all 

respondents thought that the Council should increase its scheme in line with the 

Department for Work and Pensions provisions for 2023/24 and future years; a 

slight decrease of 4% when compared to the previous consultation exercise 

undertaken in 2022/23. The chart also shows that 20% (17) of all respondents 

thought the Council  ‘should not’ increase its scheme in line with the Department of 

Works and Pensions provisions for 2023/24 and future years; an increase of 10% 

when compared to the previous consultation exercise undertaken in 2022/23. The 

remaining 5% (4) of all respondents stated that they ‘did not know’. 

 

 
 

2023/24, 75%

2023/24, 20%

2023/24, 5%

2022/23, 79%

2022/23, 10%

2022/23, 10%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90%

Yes

No

I don't know

Question 2 - Do you think that we should increase our scheme in line with the Department 

for Work and Pensions provisions for 2023/24 and future years?

Page 98



5 
 

Responses from precepting authorities 

 

10. A response was received from the Office of the Lincolnshire Police and Crime 

Commissioner confirming that they noted Boston Borough Council’s proposals for its 

Council Tax Support Scheme in 2023/24.  

 

11. No response was received from Lincolnshire County Council. 

 

Contact:  

For more information relating to this report contact: 

• Jackie Todd, Consultation Officer at policy&performance@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

or 01507 601111 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99

mailto:policy&performance@e-lindsey.gov.uk


6 
 

 

Page 100



7 
 

 

 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Report To: Council 

Date: 23rd January 2023 

Subject: 

 

Purpose:  

Proposed amendments of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 

and Financial Procedure Rules 

To introduce a new updated version of the Contract Procedure Rules 

and an amendment to the Financial Procedure Rules 

Key Decision: N/A 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Noble 

Report Of: 

 

Samantha Knowles – Assistant Director for Finance and Deputy S151 

Officer and John Medler – Assistant Director for Governance and 

Monitoring Officer  

Ward(S) Affected: All 

Exempt Report? No 

 

SUMMARY 

The purpose of this report is to present to the Council a revised draft set of Contract Procedure 

Rules with appropriate delegations that provide additional clarity around the procedures to be 

followed and reflect the Council’s management structure. There is also a recommended change 

to the Financial Procedure Rules which will allow alignment with the new finance system used 

across all 3 councils when authorising payments.  

The suggested amendments, set out in this report, were considered by the Audit & Governance 

Committee on 5th December 2022, and recommended to the next available full Council for 

approval.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Council:  

1. Agrees to adopt the revised Contract Procedure Rules at Appendix 1 to this report, 

without amendment, as the Contract Procedure Rules (CPR).  

2. Agrees that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make the necessary changes to 

update the Council’s Constitution, accordingly, including delegation to amend where 

inconsistencies arise, noting that the CPR will take primacy. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 5



3. Approves the revised financial procedure rule for Banking arrangement and cheques as 

detailed in Paragraph 1.12 of the report. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

• To ensure that the Council has robust, up-to-date Contract Procedure Rules that provide 

clarity to officers, members, and potential contractors.  

• In addition to the above, to ensure compliance with audit requirements as some of the 

Partner Councils have had audit recommendations to update their Contract Procedure 

Rules.  

• To ensure a clear and consistent approach in the award of contracts and safeguard the 

public’s trust and confidence and promote public accountability and good procurement 

practice.  

• To help avoid governance failures in the Council’s procurement activity.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To do nothing - which would result in the retention of the existing Contract Procedure Rules.  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1. In accordance with section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 every local authority must 
adopt standing orders with respect to the making by them or on their behalf of contracts for 
the supply of goods or materials or for the execution of works. 
 

1.2.  The basic principles in relation to public procurement require all procurement and disposal 
procedures must: 
 

• Achieve Best Value for public money spent 

• Be consistent with the highest standards of integrity 

• Ensure fairness in allocating public contracts 

• Comply with all legal requirements 

• Ensure that non-commercial considerations do not influence any contracting 
decision 

• Support the Council’s corporate and departmental aims and policies with the 
Council’s corporate Procurement Strategy and other relevant policies 
 

1.3. The draft Contract Procedure Rules at Appendix 1 to this report seek to ensure, as a 
minimum, the Council meets these basic principles.  
 

1.4. The Council’s current Contract Procedure Rules were approved by Council in May 2016. The 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) form part of the Constitution and govern the way 
in which the Council procures goods, services, and works. The current CPR can be found 
here: https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1361/Public%20reports%20pack%2002nd-
May-2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10  
 

1.5. The Rules were reviewed in May 2019, but procurement best practice has developed 
significantly since that time along with updated legislation (particularly since the United 

Page 104

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1361/Public%20reports%20pack%2002nd-May-2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1361/Public%20reports%20pack%2002nd-May-2019%20Constitution.pdf?T=10


Kingdom left the European).  In addition, the Council is utilising Public Sector Partnership 
Services (PSPS) new Procurement & Contracts Service, thereby recognising the importance 
of procurement.  
 

1.6. The intention is to seek adoption of the amended CPR (shown at Appendix 1) across  the 
three Councils that make up the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP) so 
collaboration and shared working on procurement activities can be maximised (such as all 
the partners adopting the same procurement thresholds). The adoption of the proposed 
Rules ensure the Council has Rules that reflect the current procurement legislation, 
providing clarity to procurement officers and ensuring there is consistency across service 
areas. Appendix 2 sets out the Delegations to Officers that will apply to the implementation 
of contracts if the amended CPR are approved by Council.   
 

1.7. These decision-making proposals provide greater clarity and transparency and will ensure 
those strategic procurement decisions are taken at the appropriate level of management 
within the Council. The recent Peer Review also highlighted the importance of robust 
procurement practices, and these changes help to address this across the Partnership. 
 

1.8. The key changes being proposed are explained fully at Appendix 3 of this report. 
 

1.9. In addition to the above, the council’s financial procedure rules have the following rules 
regarding banking arrangements and cheques, Section 34 of the Financial Procedure Rules, 
concerning banking arrangements and cheques: 
 

• Payments in excess of £30,000 shall be countersigned by two designated signatories 
and authorised by the Section 151 Officer/Deputy S151 Officer. 
 

1.10. In July 2022, the Council implemented a new finance system known as Unit 4, which 
is uses an automated workflow system for the raising and authorisation of orders and 
invoices. Within Unit4 there are 2 ways an invoice can be paid: 
 

o Purchase orders are raised by a requisitioner and approved by the relevant 
approver in Unit4 in line with the approved scheme of delegation. Where an 
invoice is matched to the purchase order, along with the appropriate Goods 
Receipt Note (GRN), the invoice is processed for payment.  

o Where a purchase order is not applicable, the invoice is approved in Unit4 in line 
with the approved scheme of delegation. 

 
1.11. The automation and workflow controls within the new unit 4 system provides the 

assurance that purchase orders and invoices are appropriately approved, before payment is 
made.  This has led to us considering the purpose and practical application of the current 
financial procedure rule requirement for payments in excess of the limits for each council.  
 

1.12. Following a review of the system controls of Unit 4, the current rule for Banking 
arrangements and cheques has been considered and the following amendment is proposed: 

 
o Supplier payments in excess of £100,000 shall be countersigned by 2 approved 

bank signatories. Prime documents must be produced for checking at the time of 
countersigning. 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Page 105



As alluded to above with the proposed adoption across the S&ELCP, it will provide greater flexibility 
and greater collaboration across the partnership, with the potential for increased economies of 
scale, for greater efficiencies and value of money in its procurement activity.   
 
IMPLICATIONS  

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

The opportunity to work more collaboratively across the Partnership and realise increased 

opportunities to achieve best value in its procurement activity.  

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

Contract and Financial Procedure Rules are essential components of the Council's governance 

framework which underpins delivery of its corporate strategy priorities. 

STAFFING 

None 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

By virtue of section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 every local authority must adopt standing 

orders with respect to the making by them, or on their behalf, of contracts for the supply of goods 

or materials or for the execution of works.   

It is vital that the CPR are kept under review and reflect current legal requirements, and clear 

delegations are provided in the exercise of the powers set out in the CPR.  

DATA PROTECTION 

No direct data protection issues associated with this report. 

FINANCIAL 

The financial implications and specifically the procurement financial thresholds are referenced 
throughout the draft Contract Procedure Rules, and the Delegations to Officers.   
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

By reviewing current CPR and updating them to reflect current best practice, the Council can seek to 
mitigate against the risk of acting unlawfully in respect of its procurement activity.  
 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

None 

REPUTATION 

Improper procurement activity can have a direct impact on the reputation of the Council, officers, 

and Members.  It is important therefore, that the Council adopts up to date, robust CPR, to  mitigate 

against this potential for adverse reputational impact.  

CONTRACTS 

None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

Page 106



None 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

The Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty. This duty applies to the exercise 
of all public functions. The duty applies to all of the decisions made in the course of exercising public 
functions, not just to policy development and high-level decision-making. Those who exercise its 
functions must be aware of the general equality duty’s requirements. 
 
HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

ACRONYMS 

CPR – Contract Procedure Rules 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX 1A 
APPENDIX 1B 
APPENDIX 1C 

Revised Contract Procedure Rules  
Exemption Form for S&ELCP 
Above PCR CCR Regulation Thresholds 

APPENDIX 2 Delegations to Officers in relation to contracts 

APPENDIX 3 Key changes document 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

This report has been previously considered by the following bodies: 

Name of body Date 

Audit & Governance 5 December 2022 

Cabinet 17 January 2023 

 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Page 107



Report author: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance and 

Monitoring Officer  

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director for Finance 

and Deputy Section 151 Officer 

Signed off by: Christine Marshall, Deputy Chief Executive – 

Corporate Governance 

 

 

 

Page 108



Appendix 1A 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 
 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 
 

1.1 All procurement procedures must: 
 

1.1.1 realise value for money by awarding contracts that have the most economically 
advantageous contribution to delivering the Council’s objectives, 

1.1.2 be consistent with  the highest standards of integrity, 
1.1.3 operate in a transparent manner, 
1.1.4 ensure fairness in allocating public contracts including managing conflicts of 

interest, 
1.1.5 comply with all legal requirements including but not limited to the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 or successor 
legislation, 

1.1.6 support all relevant Council priorities and policies, including the Medium-Term 
Financial Plan. 
 

NB: These Rules shall be applied to the contracting activities of any partnership for which the Council 
is the accountable body unless the Council expressly agrees otherwise (see the Delegations to 
Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 
 

1.2 “written” or “in writing” means any expression consisting of words or figures which can be 
read, reproduced, and subsequently communicated, including information transmitted 
and stored by electronic means. 

 
2. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
2.1 Officers 

 
2.1.1 Officers will make sure that:  

 
(a) they comply with these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), 
(b) they comply with the Council’s Constitution,  
(c) they comply with the Delegations to Officers;  
(d) the requirement to declare prior to the commencement of the procurement 

process any personal interest they may have in that process; 
(e) all tenders/quotations are kept confidential; 
(f) a written contract is issued and signed by both parties, or a purchase order is 

issued before the supply of goods, services or carrying out of works begin; 
(g) Where appropriate identify a Contract Manager with responsibility for ensuring 

the contract delivers as intended; 
(h) a review of each contract is carried out at an appropriate stage; and  
(i) they comply with all legal requirements. 

 
Officers must ensure that any agents, consultants, and contractual partners acting on 
their behalf also comply. 
 

2.1.2 Officers will: 
 

(a) keep any necessary records required by these Contract Procedure Rules, 
(b) take all necessary procurement, legal, financial, and professional advice, taking 

into account the requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules, 
(c) prior to letting a contract on behalf of the Council, check whether: 

Page 109



(i) the Contracts Register lists an appropriate contract in place for the 
Council, or: 

(ii) an appropriate national, regional, or other collaborative contract is 
already in place. 

 
Where the Council already has an appropriate contract in place, then 
this must be used unless it can be established that the contract does 
not fully meet the Council’s specific requirements in this particular 
case, and this is agreed following consultation with a Contracts and 
Procurement Service. 
 
Where an appropriate national, regional, or collaborative contract is 
available, consideration should be given to using this, provided the 
contract offers value for money. 
 

(d) ensure that when any employee, either of the Council or of a service provider, 
may be affected by any transfer arrangement, then any Transfer of Undertaking 
(Protection of Employment) issues are considered and legal and HR advice 
from within the Council is obtained prior to proceeding with the procurement 
exercise. 
 

2.1.3 Failure to comply with any of the provisions of these Contract Procedure Rules, 
the Council’s Constitution or any legal requirements may be brought to the 
attention of the Monitoring Officer, Head of Internal Audit, or relevant Officer as 
appropriate. Depending on the nature of the non-compliance this may result in 
disciplinary action being taken. 
 

2.1.4 A contract may be let through any framework agreement to which the Council has 
access. Where the contract to be let is subject to the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 or the Concession Contracts 2016, use of such framework agreement shall 
be subject to compliance with those regulations (see the Delegations to Officers 
for details of Officers who may action this rule). 
 

2.2 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers 
 

2.2.1 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers will: 
 

(a) ensure their Services  complies fully and are familiar with the requirements of 
these Contract Procedure Rules; 

(b) ensure contracts with a value over £5,000 are recorded on the Contracts 
Register as held and maintained by the Contracts and Procurement Service; 

(c) ensure compliance with English Law and U.K. legislation and Council policy. 
(d) ensure value for money and optimise risk allocation in all procurement matters; 
(e) ensure compliance with any guidelines issued in respect of these Contract 

Procedure Rules 
(f) take immediate action in the event of a breach of the Contract Procedure Rules 

or any Code of Practice within their directorate or service area; 
(g) ensure that all existing and new contracts anticipated during the forthcoming 

financial year are clearly itemised in the Budget supporting documentation; 
(h) make appropriate arrangements for the opening of tenders and their secure 

retention using secure electronic means; 
(i) ensure original contract documents with a total value over £5,000 are forwarded 

to a Contracts and Procurement Service  for safekeeping; 
(j) ensure effective contract management, contract reviews and monitoring during 

the lifetime of all contracts in their areas; 

Page 110



(k) seek and act upon advice from a Contracts and Procurement Service and 
Performance team where necessary to ensure compliance with these 
responsibilities; and 

(l) keep records of variations and exemptions of any provision of these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 
 

2.2.2 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers must keep a register of 
 

(a) contracts entered into by or on behalf of the Council, and 
(b) exemptions recorded under Rule 3 and satisfy themselves that the use of 

exemptions has been monitored and a record kept by a Contracts and 
Procurement Service. 
 

3. EXEMPTIONS 
 
3.1 Except where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts 

Regulations 2016 apply, the Cabinet/Executive has the power to waive any requirements 
within these Contract Procedure Rules for specific projects. An exemption under this Rule 
3 allows a contract to be placed by direct negotiation with one or more suppliers rather 
than in accordance with Rule 9. 
 

3.2 These Contract Procedure Rules may be exempted where the circumstances meet any 
of the following criteria within 3.3. An exemption form must be completed and sent to the 
Head of Procurement & Contracts in the first instance to allow comments which will assist 
with the approval or rejection of the exemption. 
 

3.3 The Head of Procurement & Contracts will then pass this through to the Section 151 
Officer and Monitoring Officer for approval prior to consideration by the Chief Executive 
and the Portfolio Holder for the relevant area, as well as the Portfolio Holder for Finance. 
This process must be followed in advance of the award of contract, and in compliance 
with the criteria set out in the Delegations to Officers: 
 

3.3.1 for works, supplies, or services which are either patented or of such special 
character that it is not possible to obtain competitive prices; 

3.3.2 for supplies purchased or sold in a public market or auction; 
3.3.3 with an organisation already engaged by the Council for a similar and related 

procurement and where there is significant benefit to extending the contract to 
cover this additional requirement that does not breach legal requirements such as 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 
2016; 

3.3.4 involving such urgency that it is not possible to comply with the Contract Procedure 
Rules and there is a significant risk to the council of not acting with urgency; 

3.3.5 for the purchase of a work of art or museum specimen, or to meet the specific 
requirements of an arts or cultural event which cannot be procured competitively 
due to the nature of the requirement; 

3.3.6 in relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, where the time 
limitations will not allow a competitive procurement process to be completed and 
where the grant conditions allow this; 

3.3.7 where relevant legislation not otherwise referred to in these Contract Procedure 
Rules prevents the usual procurement process from being followed;  

3.3.8 goods, works or services contracts may be awarded directly to a legal person 
where that legal person meets the criteria as set out in Regulation 12 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 or Regulation 17 of the Concession Contracts 
Regulations 2016 (formerly known as "Teckal" companies); 

Page 111



3.3.9 where building development opportunities are available to the Council, and have 
been proven to be financially viable, and the value is under the FTS Thresholds 
for Works (as per Appendix 2 – Above Public Contracts Regulations 2015 / 
Concessions Contracts Regulations 2016 thresholds.). 
 

3.4 In addition to approval by a Contracts and Procurement Service: 
 

3.4.1 the Monitoring Officer must be consulted where purchases are to be made using 
standing arrangements with another local authority, government department, 
health authority, primary care trust or statutory undertaker. 

3.4.2 The Monitoring Officer must be consulted where the contract is an extension to an 
existing contract and a change of supplier would cause: 
 

(a) Disproportionate technical difficulties 
(b) Diseconomies 
(c) Significant disruption to the delivery of Council services. 

 
3.5 Every variation/exemption must be recorded on the Council’s Procurement Exemption  

Form at Appendix 1 to these Contract Procedure Rules and the form will be recorded on 
a master register to be maintained by a Contracts and Procurement Service. 
 

3.6 Where a variation/exemption is necessary because of an unforeseeable emergency 
involving immediate risk to persons, property or serious disruption to Council services, 
Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer may approve the exemption but must prepare a report 
for the next meeting of the Cabinet/Executive to support the action taken. 

 
3.7 Where grant conditions require expenditure to be incurred within a financial year, and 

notification of grant is received so late as to prevent compliance with Rule 9, an exemption 
may be approved by the Chief Executive on receipt of a report from the relevant service 
where the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer have been consulted. 

 
3.8 A Contracts and Procurement Service must monitor the use of all exemptions. 

 
4. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

 
4.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules.  A Relevant 

Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council for the carrying out of 
works, supplies, goods, materials, or services. These include arrangements for: 
 

4.1.1 the supply or disposal of goods or materials, 
4.1.2 the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment, 
4.1.3 execution of works, 
4.1.4 the delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those related to: 

 
(a) the recruitment of staff 
(b) land and property transactions 
(c) financial and consultancy services 
(d) the supply of staff by employment agents, consultants, or any other companies 

 
4.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 

 
4.2.1 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the 

authority, 
4.2.2 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (to which the 

Financial Procedure Rules apply),  

Page 112



4.2.3 the payment of grants to third parties 
 

4.2.4 The lending or borrowing of money by the Council. 
 

4.2.5 Contracts between Local Authorities as defined by Clause 12 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. 

 
4.2.6 Contracts between Local Authorities as defined by Clause 17 of the Concession 

Contracts Regulations 2016 
 

4.2.7 Contracts between Local Authorities as defined by Clause 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970. 

 
4.2.8 Section 75 NHS Act 2006 arrangements (although details must be recorded on the 

Council’s Contract Register). 
 
NB: While grants are not covered by these Contract Procedure Rules, there are rules 
on the awarding of grants which do need to be observed.  The Council cannot simply 
choose to treat procurement as a grant in order to avoid conducting a competitive 
process. 
 

5. RECORDS 
 
5.1 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 

require contracting authorities to maintain the following comprehensive records of 
procurement activities: 
 

5.1.1 contract details including value 
5.1.2 selection decision 
5.1.3 justification for use of the selected procedure 
5.1.4 names of bidding organisations, both successful and unsuccessful 
5.1.5 reasons for selection 
5.1.6 reasons for abandoning a procedure 

 
5.1A Most contracts and extensions to contracts will be awarded by Officers making a decision 

under delegated authority (see Delegations to Officers).  All such Officer decisions must 
be published unless the decision is administrative, minor, or not closely connected to the 
discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-in.  Where 
Call-in applies, the winning contractor must be advised that the award of contract is 
subject to Call-in and will not be confirmed until the Call-in period has expired. 

 
5.2 For contracts up to £40,000 the following records must be kept: 

 
5.2.1 invitations to quote (where applicable) 
5.2.2 all quotes returned 
5.2.3 all tenders/quotes returned; 
5.2.4 notification to the successful, and unsuccessful (where applicable) bidders of the 

outcome of the quotation exercise 
5.2.5 the contract; 
5.2.6 a written record of: 

(a) any exemptions and reasons for it; and 
(b) the reasons if the lowest price is not accepted 

 
 

Page 113



5.3 A Contracts and Procurement Service should be made aware of any procurement 
requirements at the earliest opportunity to assist with this process. Where advertising is 
required by these rules, competitive procurement processes must be advertised on the 
Council's e-Tendering portal.  Where the total value is greater than £40,000.00 but less 
than £85,000.00 for works, supplies of goods materials or services, the following records 
must be kept: 
 

5.3.1 invitations to quote/tender; 
5.3.2 all communication with suppliers; 
5.3.3 all tenders/quotes returned; 
5.3.4 a completed evaluation sheet with scores and comments justifying the score 

awarded; 
5.3.5 feedback letters to the unsuccessful bidders; 
5.3.6 all communications with the successful contractor; 
5.3.7 the contract; 
5.3.8 a written record of: 

(a) any exemptions and reasons for it; and 
(b) the reasons if the lowest price is not accepted 

5.3.9 written records of communications with the successful contractor. 
 

5.4 For contracts up to £40,000 records should be kept following the principles as above but 
the actual record kept should be proportionate to the value of the contract.   
 

5.5 Where the total value exceeds £85,000.00 for works, supplies of goods, materials or 
services, the Officer must record the same details as in Rule 5.2 above and any further 
records as advised by a Contracts and Procurement Service.  

 
5.6 Written records required by this Rule 5 must be kept for six years (twelve years if the 

contract is under seal) after the final settlement of the contract. All documents which relate 
to unsuccessful candidates (tender responses, feedback letters etc.) must be kept for 12 
months from award of contract provided there is no dispute about the award or where 
there is a dispute, once the dispute is resolved, 12 months from resolution of the dispute.  

 
5.7 Prospective candidates must be notified simultaneously in writing and as soon as 

possible of any contracting decision.  If a candidate requests in writing the reasons for a 
contracting decision, the officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of the 
request. 

 
5.8 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives a general right of public access to all types 

of ‘recorded’ information held by public authorities, sets out exemptions from that general 
right, and places a number of obligations on public authorities with regard to the 
disclosures of information.  The Council will, as a general rule, allow public access to 
recorded information where possible and the contractor shall agree to the Council making 
any disclosures in accordance with the Act. 
 

6. RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 Officers must consider any risks in the procurement process including the skills and 

capacity within the Council to manage the procurement process.  Where any risk 
assessment identifies a need for further specialist advice that specialist advice must be 
procured in accordance with these rules. 
   

Page 114



7. ADVERTISING 
 
The Contracts and Procurement Service will ensure that the minimum advertising requirements 
in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 and 
as outlined in Rule 9 are met. 
 

8. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 
8.1 Framework Agreements (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may 

action this rule): 
 

8.1.1 Framework Agreement has the same meaning as in the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 - "Framework Agreement means an agreement between one or 
more contracting authorities and one or more economic operators, the purpose of 
which is to establish the terms governing contracts to be awarded during a given 
period, in particular with regard to price and, where appropriate, the quantity 
envisaged. 

8.1.2 The term of a Framework Agreement must not exceed four years. 
8.1.3 Contracts based on Framework Agreements may be awarded in one of two ways, 

as follows: 
 

(a) where the terms of the agreement are sufficiently precise to cover the particular 
call-off, by applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement without 
re-opening competition, or 

(b) where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not precise or 
complete enough for the particular call-off, by holding a further competition in 
accordance with the following procedure: 

(i) inviting the organisations within the Framework Agreement, that are 
capable of executing the subject of the contract, to submit bids, with 
an appropriate time limit for responses, taking into account factors 
such as the complexity of the subject of the contract, 

(ii) awarding each contract to the bidding organisation who has 
submitted the most economically advantageous tender on the basis 
of the relevant Award Criteria set out in the Framework Agreement. 
 

 Where a Framework Agreement is used and the arrangements under that 
Agreement include further competition, the Delegations to Officers details which 
Officers may seek, receive, and evaluate quotations/tenders. 

 
8.1.4 Most contracts will then be awarded by Officers making a decision under delegated 

authority.  All such Officer decisions must be published unless the decision is 
administrative, minor, or not closely connected to the discharge of an executive 
function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-in.  Where Call-in applies the 
winning contractor must be advised that  the award of contract will not be confirmed 
until the Call-in period has expired.  
   

9. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS / ASSETS FOR DISPOSAL 
 
9.1 Competition Requirements 

 
9.1.1 Chief Officers/Deputy Chief Officers must establish the total value of the 

procurement including whole life costs and incorporating any potential extension 
periods which may be awarded.  Where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or 
the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 rules apply, Chief Officers/Deputy 

Page 115



Chief Officers must also ascertain the value of a contract in accordance with those 
rules. 

9.1.2 Contracts must not be artificially under or over-estimated or divided into two or 
more separate contracts where the effect is to avoid the application of Contract 
Procedure Rules, the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, or the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016. 

9.1.3 Where the estimated total value for a purchase or concession is within the values 
in the first and second columns of the table below, the tendering procedure in the 
third column must be followed (see the Delegations to Officers for details of 
Officers who may action this rule). 
 

Works and 
Concessions  

Supply of Goods, 
Materials and Services 

Tendering Procedure 

£0 to £5,000 £0 to £5,000 One quote - this should be a local 
provider wherever possible. A 
purchase order must be raised. 

£5,001 - £10,000 £5,001 - £10,000 Two written quotes – one should be a 
local provider wherever possible. A 
purchase order must be raised. 

£10,001 to £40,000 £10,001 to £40,000 At least three written quotes shall be 
sought and two must be received. 
Local providers must be given an 
opportunity to provide a quote, 
wherever possible. A purchase order 
must be raised 

£40,001 to £85,000 £40,001 to £85,000 At least five written quotations shall be 
sought via a Request for Quotation via 
e-Tendering Portal. Local providers 
must be given an opportunity to 
provide a quote, wherever possible. A 
purchase order must be raised. 

£85,001 up to Public 
Contracts Regulations 
2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 
2016 threshold*) 

£85,001 up to Public 
Contracts Regulations 
2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 
2016 threshold*) 

Open tender   via E-Tendering Portal 
including Contracts Finder. A social 
value clause must be built into the 
specification and contract. (Public 
Service (Social Value) Act 2012). A 
purchase order must be raised 

Above Public 
Contracts Regulations 
2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 
2016 threshold*) 

Above Public Contracts 
Regulations 
2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 
2016 threshold*) 

UK Public Procurement Procedure – 
via E-Tendering Portal & Find a Tender 
notice. Local social value clause must 
be built into the specification of the 
contract. (Public Service (Social Value) 
Act 2012). A purchase order must be 
raised 

 
* As per Appendix 2 – Above Public Contracts Regulations 2015 / Concessions Contracts 
Regulations 2016 thresholds.  

 
9.1.4 Where it can be demonstrated that there are insufficient suitably qualified 

candidates to meet the competition requirements, all suitably qualified candidates 
must be invited (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may 
action this rule). 

9.1.5 Where services are currently purchased internally, i.e., from within the Council, for 
internal provision, the requirement to obtain other quotations or tenders does not 

Page 116



apply. However, the purchaser may choose to seek alternative quotations/tenders 
for the purpose of market testing. 

9.1.6 Where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession Contracts 2016 
apply, the procuring Officer shall consult a Contracts and Procurement Service to 
determine the procedure for conducting the procurement exercise. 
 

9.2 Assets for Disposal (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may 
action this rule): 
 

9.2.1 Assets for disposal must be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules. 

9.2.2 Assets for disposal must be sent to Public Sale except where better value for 
money is likely to be obtained by inviting quotations and tenders. In the latter event, 
the method for disposal of surplus or obsolete stocks/stores or assets other than 
land must be determined as follows: 

 

 

Total Value Procedure 

Where the cost of disposal is likely 
to outweigh the value of the asset 
for disposal 

By (in order of preference) 
1. gifting to a local organisation if they can 

make use of the asset;  
2. disposal for recycling; or  
3. disposal by the most environmentally 

friendly option possible.   

Up to £10,000 Two written quotations or public sale 

£10,000.01 and above At least three written quotations or public sale, 
or an invitation to tender 

 
10. PRE-TENDER MARKET TESTING AND CONSULTATION 

 
10.1 The Council may consult potential suppliers, prior to the issue of the Invitation to Tender 

or Request for Quotation, in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the 
supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice 
any potential organisation (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may 
action this rule). 
 

10.2 When engaging with potential suppliers, the Council may use any advice in the planning 
and conduct of the procurement procedure, provided that it does not have the effect of 
distorting competition and does not result in a violation of the principles of non-
discrimination and transparency.   
 

10.3 The council shall take appropriate measures to ensure that competition is not distorted 
by the participation of a candidate or tenderer who has provided any advice by ensuring 
all other candidates and tenderers are provided with all of the information the advising 
candidate or tenderer has received or given and that all candidates or tenderers are given 
sufficient time to respond to the tender or quote. 
 

10.4 In undertaking any market testing activities, the Officer responsible must seek advice 
from a Contracts and Procurement Service. 
 

Page 117



11. EVALUATION CRITERIA AND STANDARDS (see the Delegations to Officers for details of 
Officers who may action this rule): 
 
11.1 Evaluation Criteria 

 
11.1.1 In any procurement exercise the successful bid should be the one which: 

 
(a) offers the lowest price where payment is to be made by the Council, or offers 

the highest price if payment is to be received, or: 
(b) offers the most economically advantageous balance between quality and price. 

In the latter case, the Council will use criteria such as qualitative, environmental 
and/or social aspects, linked to the subject matter of the contract to determine 
that an offer is the most economically advantageous. Such criteria  may include: 

(i) quality, including technical merit, aesthetic and functional 
characteristics, accessibility, design for all users, social, 
environmental, and innovative characteristics and trading and its 
conditions; 

(ii) organisation, qualification, and experience of staff assigned to 
performing the contract, where the quality of the staff assigned can 
have a significant impact on the level of performance of the contract; 
or 

(iii) after-sales service and technical assistance, delivery conditions such 
as delivery date, delivery process and delivery period or period of 
completion. 

 
11.1.2 Issues that are important to the Council in terms of meeting its corporate objectives 

can be used to evaluate bids.  The criteria can include, for example sustainability 
considerations, support for the local economy, or the use of subcontractors.  The 
bidding organisations’ approaches to continuous improvement and setting targets 
for service improvement or future savings could also be included.  All criteria must 
relate to the subject matter of the contract, be in line with the Council’s corporate 
objectives and must be objectively quantifiable and non-discriminatory. 

11.1.3 The procurement documentation should clearly explain the basis of the decision 
to bidding organisations, making clear how the evaluation criteria specified in the 
process will be applied, the overall weightings to be attached to each of the high-
level criteria, how the high-level criteria are divided into any sub-criteria and the 
weightings attached to each of those sub-criteria. 

11.1.4 The evaluation criteria must not include: 
(a) Non-commercial considerations 
(b) Matters which discriminate against suppliers who are signatories to the 

Government Procurement Agreement. 
 

11.2 Standards 
 

11.2.1 Relevant British and International standards which apply to the subject matter of 
the contract, and which are necessary to properly describe the required quality 
must be included within the contract.   

11.2.2 Officers should refer to the Procurement and Contracts Service if they have any 
queries or require further guidance. 
 

12. INVITATION TO TENDER / REQUEST FOR QUOTATION (see the Delegations to Officers for 
details of Officers who may action this rule) 
 
12.1 Invitations to Tender/Requests for Quotation must be issued in accordance with the 

requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules. 

Page 118



 
12.2 The Invitation to Tender shall state that no tender will be considered unless it is received 

by the date and time stipulated in the Invitation to Tender, subject to 15.5.3. No tender 
delivered in contravention of this Rule 12 shall be considered. 

 
12.3 All Invitations to Tender shall include the following: 

 
12.3.1 A specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to 

enable the submission of competitive offers, together with the terms and conditions 
of contract that will apply. 

12.3.2 A requirement for candidates to declare that the tender content, price or any other 
figure or particulars concerning the tender submitted by the candidate has not been 
disclosed by the candidate to any other party (except where such disclosure is 
made in confidence for a necessary purpose). 

12.3.3 A requirement for candidates to complete fully and sign all tender documents 
including a form of tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion. 

12.3.4 Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 
compiled at the candidate’s expense. 

12.3.5 A description of the award procedure and, unless defined in a prior advertisement, 
a definition of the award criteria in objective terms and the percentage weighting 
of each criterion in the evaluation. 

12.3.6 The method by which arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted tenders are 
to be dealt with. In particular, whether the overall price prevails over the rates in 
the tender or vice versa. 
 

12.4 The Invitation to Tender or Requests for Quotation must state that the Council is not 
bound to accept any tender or quotation. 
 

12.5 All candidates invited to tender, or quote must be issued with the same information at the 
same time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be 
given on the same basis. Where a candidate asks a clarification question regarding the 
tender or quote, the question and the answer will be provided to all candidates. 

 
12.6 Under the Public Contract Regulations 2015, the Council is required to request an 

explanation of the price or costs proposed in a tender where that price or those 
costs appear to be abnormally low in relation to the requirement.  
 

12.7 Advice should be sought from the Contracts & Procurement Service during this 
investigation process to ensure that the requirements of the Public Contract Regulations 

2015 are complied with.  
 

13. SHORTLISTING 
 
Any shortlisting (i.e., supplier selection or pre-qualification) must have regard to the economic 
and financial standing and the technical and professional ability of the candidates to deliver the 
required goods, services or works. 
 

14. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS / QUOTATIONS (see the Delegations 
to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule): 
 
14.1 Tenders 

 
14.1.1 Bidding organisations must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and 

submit a proper quotation or tender, consistent with the complexity of the contract 
requirements. 

Page 119



14.1.2 Tender Contents: 
Each tender must contain, where relevant: 

(a) An undertaking signed by the tenderer that to the best of their knowledge and 
belief they have complied with all the relevant provisions of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974 and regulations made under it or where they have not 
complied, an explanation of the remedial action they have taken to ensure 
compliance; 

(b) A statement that the tenderer will comply with all current relevant British 
Standard Specification or Code of Practice or equivalent international standards 
offering guarantees of safety, reliability, and fitness for purpose; 

(c) A statement by the tenderer that they will not try to obtain or receive by whatever 
means any information which gives or is intended to give the tenderer or another 
party any unfair advantage over any other tenderer (including the Council’s own 
workforce) in relation to the tendering for and award of any contract; 

(d) A statement that the Council shall not be liable for expenses incurred in the 
preparation of tenders; nor shall the Council be bound to accept the lowest or 
any tenders submitted; and shall have reserved to them the right to invite fresh 
tenders should they consider that course desirable. 
 

14.2 Electronic Arrangements 
 

14.2.1 Tenders, Quotations, Further Competition bids and Selection Questionnaires will 
be received electronically and will be opened by a Contracts and Procurement 
Service. The system will not allow any quotations to be opened until the allocated 
return date / time has passed. (See the Delegations to Officers for details of 
Officers who may action this rule. 
 

14.3 Hard Copy Arrangements  
 

14.3.1 In the limited circumstances where a Quotation, Further Competition bid or Tender 
cannot be received electronically, a Contracts and Procurement Service will 
consult with the Monitoring Officer to agree a suitable way to receive the  
Quotation, Further Competition  bid or Tender.  
 

15. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST TENDER NEGOTIATIONS 
 
15.1 Seeking clarification of a tender received whether in writing or by way of a meeting is 

permitted.  However, any such clarification must not involve changes to the basic features 
of the bidding organisation’s submission and all tenderers must be treated equally (see 
the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 
 

15.2 Post tender negotiation means negotiations with any tenderer after submission of a 
tender and before the award of the contract with a view to obtaining an adjustment in 
price, delivery, or content.  Where the value of the Tender is above the threshold in the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015, or the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 
advice must be sought from a Contracts and Procurement Service. Where post tender 
negotiation results in a fundamental change to the specification (or contract terms) the 
contract must not be awarded but re-tendered (see the Delegations to Officers for details 
of Officers who may action this rule). 

 
15.3 If post tender negotiations are necessary after a single stage tender or after the second 

stage of a two-stage tender, then such negotiations shall only be undertaken with the 
tenderer who has previously been identified as submitting the best tender.  Tendered 
rates and prices shall only be adjusted in respect of a corresponding adjustment in the 
scope or quantity included in the tender documents.  Officers appointed by the Chief 

Page 120



Officer/Deputy Chief Officer to carry out post tender negotiations should ensure that there 
are recorded minutes of all negotiation meetings and that both parties agree actions in 
writing. 

 
15.4 Post tender negotiation must only be conducted in accordance with guidance given by 

the Monitoring Officer and a Contracts and Procurement Service. 
 

15.5 The Monitoring Officer and a Contracts and Procurement Service must be consulted and 
agree: 

 
15.5.1 Wherever it is proposed to enter into post tender negotiation; 
15.5.2 About whether negotiation is with all tenderers; 
15.5.3 To either accept or reject late submissions before opening any of the responses. 

Late submissions must only be accepted in exceptional circumstances.  
 

15.6 Negotiations must be conducted by a team of at least two officers, one of whom must be 
from a section independent to those leading negotiations (see the Delegations to Officers 
for details of Officers who may action this rule). 
 

16. EVALUATION, AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING OF ORGANISATIONS 
 
16.1 Evaluation (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this 

rule): 
 

16.1.1 The evaluation of bids must be conducted in accordance with the evaluation 
criteria set out in the procurement documents provided to bidding organisations, 
and in line with any guidance given by a Contracts and Procurement Service. 

16.1.2 The arithmetic in compliant tenders must be checked.  If arithmetical errors are 
found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be requested to confirm 
or withdraw their tender.  Alternatively, if the rates in the tender, rather than the 
overall price, were stated within the Invitation to Tender as being dominant, an 
amended tender price may be requested to accord with the rates given by the 
tenderer. 

16.1.3 Deputy Chief Officers  must ensure that submitted tender prices are compared with 
any pre-tender estimates and that any discrepancies are examined and resolved 
satisfactorily. 
 

16.2 Award of Contract and Contract Extensions (see the Delegations to Officers for details 
of Officers who may action this rule): 
 

16.2.1 The Council is required to notify successful and unsuccessful bidders of the 
outcome of a procurement process, in writing, in as timely a fashion as possible. 

16.2.2 Where a contract was advertised with an extension option and that extension 
option forms part of the contract, the decision to extend the contract may be made 
after ensuring that taking up the extension option delivers value for money.    

16.2.3 Decisions on award of contract and contract extensions must be made in 
accordance with the Delegations to Officers.   
 

16.3 Debriefing 
 

16.3.1 The debriefing of organisations will be sent by a Contracts and Procurement 
Service, in line with the relevant Officer's evaluation comments. 
 

Page 121



17. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 
 
17.1 Format of Contract Documents 

 
17.1.1 Every Relevant Contract/must be in writing and must state clearly: 

(a) what is to be supplied (description and quality) 
(b) payment provisions (amount and timing and seeking electronic invoices) 
(c) when the Council will have the right to terminate the contract 
(d) that the contract is subject to the law as to prevention of corruption 

The Council's standard terms and conditions must be used where possible. 
17.1.2 In addition, every Relevant Contract for purchases over £25,000.00 for works, 

supplies of goods, materials or services must also as a minimum state clearly: 
 

(a) that the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior written consent 
(b) any insurance and liability requirements 
(c) health and safety requirements 
(d) ombudsman requirements 
(e) data protection requirements if relevant 
(f) that charter standards are to be met if relevant 
(g) requirements under the Equalities Act 2010 
(h) obligations under the Care Act 2014 in safeguarding adults and children 
(i) a right of access to relevant documentation and records of the contractor for 

monitoring and audit purposes, including obligations under the FOI Act 200 and 
2015 Transparency Code 

(j) requirements under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and Prevent 
Strategy where applicable 

(k) obligations under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 including employee 
whistleblowing. 

(l) Statement requirements under the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 

17.1.3 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the supply, service or 
construction work begins, except in exceptional circumstances, and then only with 
the written consent of the Monitoring Officer.  An award letter is insufficient. 

17.1.4 All contracts must include the following paragraph: 
‘The Contractor recognises that the Council is under a duty to act in a 
manner which is compatible with the Convention rights as defined by 
Section 1(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 ('Convention Rights').  This duty 
includes a positive obligation on the Council to ensure that contractors 
providing services on the Council's behalf act in a way which is compatible 
with the Convention Rights.  The Contractor therefore agrees to provide the 
Services and comply with its other obligations under this contract in a 
manner which is compatible with the Convention Rights.' 

17.1.5 The Officer responsible for securing the signature of the contractor must ensure 
that the person signing for the contracting party has authority to bind it. 
 

17.2 Contract Signature (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may 
action this rule): 
 

17.2.1 A contract entered into by or on behalf of the Council must: 
 

(a) Where the contract is in the form of a deed (see below), be made under the 
Council’s seal and attested as required by the Constitution, or: 

(b) Where the contract is in the form of an agreement, either: 
(i) be signed by at least two officers of the Council authorised as 

required by the Constitution, or: 

Page 122



(ii) be formalised by the sending of an award letter and the subsequent 
issuing of a purchase order. 

17.2.2 A contract must be in the form of a deed (see below) and sealed where; 
(a) The Council wishes to enforce the contract for more than six years after it ends; 

or 
(b) The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does not 

reflect the value of the goods or services; or 
(c) Where there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the 

contracting party. 
 
A contract in the form of a deed must state in the signature pages that the Contractor and the Council 
are executing the contract as a deed. Where an Officer is unsure whether a Contract should be 
signed under hand, or sealed, they must contact the Procurement & Contracts service to seek 
advice. 
 

17.3 Legal Services Review of Tenders and Contracts 
 

17.3.1 To ensure the integrity of the procurement process: 
 

(a) All proposed Invitations to Tender, where they are not in compliance with the 
Council’s harmonised contract documentation or standard terms and conditions 
issued by a relevant professional body, will be reviewed by the Deputy Chief 
Officer. 

(a) Any proposed Invitations to Tender which are subject to the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 or the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, or which are 
deemed to be of high risk, must be reviewed by the Deputy Chief Officer. 

(b) Any proposed contract where there is any deviation from the contract terms 
included in the invitation to tender must be reviewed by the Deputy Chief Officer 
 

18. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 
 
18.1 Every formal written contract which exceeds £85,000.00 in value or amount and is for the 

execution of works shall provide for liquidated damages to be paid by the contractor in 
case the terms of the contract are not duly performed. 
 

18.2 The Officer must consult the Deputy Chief Officer  when a tenderer is a subsidiary of a 
parent company and the officer does not think that a parent company guarantor is 
necessary, and: 

 
18.2.1 The total value exceeds £85,000.00. 
18.2.2 Award is based on evaluation of the parent company, or 
18.2.3 There is some concern about the stability of the tenderer. 

 
18.3 The officer must consult the Deputy Chief Officer  about whether a bond is needed: 

 
18.3.1 Where the total value exceeds £85,000.00. 
18.3.2 Where it is proposed to make stage payments or other payments in advance of 

receiving the whole of the subject matter of the contract. 
 

19. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 
 
19.1 Rules and regulations pertaining to the prevention of corruption are outlined in the 

Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and must be adhered to. 
 

19.2 The following clauses must be put in every written Council contract: 

Page 123



 
‘The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor, its 
employees, or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf do any of the following things: 
 

19.2.1 Offer, give, or agree to give anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or 
any other Council contract (even if the Contractor does not know what has been 
done); or 

19.2.2 Commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 1972 Act; 
or 

19.2.3 Commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract whether 
alone or in conjunction with Council members, contractors, or employees. 

 
Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this cause.’ 
 

19.3 Any suspected irregularity shall be referred to the Audit Manager who shall notify the 
Monitoring Officer where necessary.  Any examination of contractors’ or tenderers’ books 
and records as a result of any such suspected irregularity shall be conducted by the Audit 
Manager.  If, in the investigation of any irregularity, the Monitoring Officer considers that 
disciplinary procedures may need to be invoked, the appropriate Chief Officer/Deputy 
Chief Officer shall also be notified. 
 

20. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Rules and regulations pertaining to the Declaration of Interests are outlined in the Code of 
Conduct for Employees within the Constitution and must be adhered to. 
 

21. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT / MONITORING 
 
21.1 All contracts must have an appointed Contract Manager for the entirety of the contract.  

The responsible Deputy Chief Officer must ensure a Contract Manager is designated 
prior to award. 
 

22. POST CONTRACT MONITORING AND EVALUATION 
 
22.1 During the life of the contract the Contract Manager must monitor in respect of: 

 
22.1.1 performance 
22.1.2 compliance with specification and contract 
22.1.3 cost 
22.1.4 any Best Value requirements 
22.1.5 user satisfaction and risk management 
22.1.6 social value or any other contractual obligations to deliver additional value arising 

from the contract 
 

22.2 Where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £85,000.00 the Officer must make a 
written report evaluating the extent to which the purchasing need and contract objectives 
were met by the contract.  This should be done normally when the contract is completed.  
Where the contract is to be re-let, a provisional report should also be available early 
enough to inform the approach to re-letting of the subsequent contract. 
 

22.3 For contracts awarded under £85,000, if, at any point during the delivery of the contract, 
the cost looks likely to exceed £85,000 the Contract Manager must notify a Contracts and 
Procurement Service.  A Contracts and Procurement Service and the Contract Manager 
will consider the following options: 

 

Page 124



 
Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £85,000 is not significant,  
allow the contract to run to its natural conclusion; 

 
Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £85,000 is significant and 
the contract allows termination, terminate the existing contract, and retender. 
   
Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £85,000 is significant and 
the contract does not allow termination, or continuing with the contract represents value 
for money, allow the contract to run to its natural conclusion     
 

23. INTERNAL PROVIDERS 
 
Where an in-house Service is bidding in competition for the provision of goods, works or 
services, care must be taken to ensure a fair process between the in-house provider Service 
and external bidding organisations. 

 
24. EXTERNAL BODY GRANT FUNDING 

 
24.1 Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding which has 

been awarded to the Council by an external funding body, a Contracts and Procurement 
Service must ensure that any rules or conditions imposed by the funding body are 
adhered to, in addition to the requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules. 
 

24.2 Where there is any conflict between these Contract Procedure Rules and the rules or 
conditions imposed by the funding body, the stricter requirement should be followed. 
 

25. APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS 
 
25.1 The engagement of consultant architects, engineers and surveyors or other professional 

consultants including Counsel shall be subject to completion of a formal letter, contract 
of appointment or brief. 
 

25.2 Consultants shall be required to provide evidence of and maintain professional indemnity 
policies to the satisfaction of the relevant Deputy Chief Officer for the periods specified in 
the respective agreement.  

 
25.3 Consultants shall be selected, and commissions awarded in accordance with the values 

and procedures recorded in the table in Rule 9.1.3 above for services. 
 

25.4 Records of consultancy appointments shall be maintained in accordance with Rule 5. 
 

26. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CPR 
 

These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated, as necessary. 
 
27. TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS (see the Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who 
may action this rule) 
 
The Delegations to Officers details which Officers may terminate a contract.  Any termination must 
be strictly in accordance with the terms of the contract and subject to consultation with the Monitoring 
Officer and Section 151 Officer and in some cases with the relevant Portfolio Holder. 
 
 
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1B 

  

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR EXEMPTION FROM CONTRACT AND PROCUREMENT 
PROCEDURE RULES 

 

You must use existing corporate contracts set up by the Council where possible. If there is no 

existing contract you should check if a “framework” contract exists for that service.  

Contract Procedure Rules may be waived or varied where the circumstances meet any of the 

following criteria, subject to approval by the Chief Executive, Section 151 Officer, and the 

Portfolio Holder for Finance in advance of the award of contract, and in compliance with the 

criteria set out in the Log of Delegations to Officers. 

NOTE: If the total value of the contract is over the Procurement Threshold, then an exemption 

cannot be granted. 

Describe your 
requirements 

 

Supplier name   Market Testing 
undertaken? 

 

If no, why?  

Total contract value  

Contract Start Date  Contract End Date  
 

Exemption as at paragraph 3 at page XXX of the Council’s Constitution. Tick below as 
appropriate 

3.3.1 for works, supplies, or services which are either patented or of such 
special character that it is not possible to obtain competitive prices; 

 

3.3.2 for supplies purchased or sold in a public market or auction;  

3.3.3 with an organisation already engaged by the Council for a similar and 
related procurement and where there is significant benefit to extending the 
contract to cover this additional requirement that does not breach legal 
requirements such as the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016; 

 

3.3.4 involving such urgency that it is not possible to comply with the 
Contract Procedure Rules and there is a significant risk to the council of not 
acting with urgency 

 

3.3.5 for the purchase of a work of art or museum specimen, or to meet the 
specific requirements of an arts or cultural event which cannot be procured 
competitively due to the nature of the requirement 

 

Page 127



Appendix 1B 

3.3.6 in relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, where 
the time limitations will not allow a competitive procurement process to be 
completed and where the grant conditions allow this 

 

3.3.7 where relevant legislation not otherwise referred to in these Contract 
Procedure Rules prevents the usual procurement process from being 
followed;  
 

 

3.3.8 goods, works or services contracts may be awarded directly to a legal 
person where that legal person meets the criteria as set out in Regulation 
12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or Regulation 17 of the 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (formerly known as "Teckal" 
companies); 
 

 

3.3.9 where building development opportunities are available to the 
Council, and have been proven to be financially viable, and the value is 
under the FTS Thresholds for Works (as per Appendix 2 – Above Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 / Concessions Contracts Regulations 2016 
thresholds.). 

 

In addition to approval by the Contracts and Procurement Service: 

3.3.1 the Monitoring Officer must be consulted where purchases are to be 
made using standing arrangements with another local authority, 
government department, health authority, primary care trust or statutory 
undertaker. 
 

 

3.3.2 The Monitoring Officer must be consulted where the contract is an 
extension to an existing contract and a change of supplier would cause: 

(a) Disproportionate technical difficulties 
(b) Diseconomies 
(c) Significant disruption to the delivery of Council 

services. 

 

Explain the justification for the exemption and attach any relevant documents 
  

We Confirm the supplier has quoted against the Councils Standard terms and conditions 
 
 

If you are using the supplier’s terms and conditions, please supply a copy as part of this 
exemption.   

Tick box if you require assistance to finalise agreement or negotiate 
further 

 

 
Name of Officer requesting approval: ………………………………... 
 
Department: ………………………………………….. 
 

 

Page 128



Appendix 1B 

 
Signature: …………………………………….. Date: …………………….. 
 

Expenditure approved by Authorised Officer (see Delegations to Officers) 
 
Name: …………………………   Position: ………………………………… 
 
 
Signature: ……………………   Date: ………………………………………. 
 

Completed Forms should be sent to Head of Procurement & Contracts 
martin.gibbs@pspsl.co.uk  

For Procurement & 
Contracts Service 
 
Comments: 

 Date  

Approved by Chief Executive: 
 
Signature: ………………………………………        Date: …………………… 
 

Approved by Section 151 Officer: 
 
Signature: ………………………………………        Date: ……………………. 
 

Approved by Portfolio Holder for XXXX: 
 
Signature: ……………………………………….        Date: ……………………. 
 

Approved by Portfolio Holder for Finance: 
 
Signature: ……………………………………….        Date: ……………………. 
 

 

Page 129

mailto:martin.gibbs@pspsl.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1C 

 
 

13 October 2022 

APPENDIX 2 TO THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES – ABOVE PUBLIC CONTRACTS 
REGULATIONS 2015 / CONCESSIONS CONTRACTS REGULATIONS 2016 

THRESHOLDS 
 
 

Summary of Threshold Levels from 1st January 2022 (all values are inclusive of 
VAT) 
 

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
 
Supplies & Services: £213,477 
 
Works: £5,336,937 
 
Light Touch Regime for Services: £663,540 
 
The Utilities Contracts Regulations 
 
Supplies & Services: £426,955 
 
Works: £5,336,937 
 
Concessions Contracts Regulations 2016 
 
Concessions Contracts: £5,336,937 
 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
Amended Delegations to Officers in relation to Contracts 

(Amended delegations approved by Cabinet/Executive.   
Amended CPRs approved by full Council) 

 

Abbreviation Meaning 

  

CX Chief Executive 

DCX Deputy Chief Executive  

AD Assistant Director 

SM Service Manager 

MO Monitoring Officer  

  

 

Officer(s) Subject Delegation From Power 

CX, DCXs and ADs 
following consultation 
with the MO or S151 
Officer 

Contracts - 
contracting 
activities of any 
partnership for 
which the Council is 
the accountable 
body 

Cabinet/Executive (Note to Contract 
Procedure Rule 1) 
Authority to agree 
that Contract 
Procedure Rules do 
not apply to 
contracting 
activities of any 
partnership for 
which the Council is 
the accountable 
body 

CX, DCXs, ADs and 
SMs subject to 
consultation with the 
appropriate portfolio 
holder (consultation is 
not required for (i) 
routine contracts (e.g. 
routine ongoing or 
annual maintenance 
contracts, routine 
purchasing of goods 
and equipment; routine 
servicing of vehicles 
etc); (ii) contracts for 1-
off schemes where the 
scheme has been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated 
within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) 
indirect services such 
as legal services or 
consultants for 
schemes which have 
been formally approved 
and where sufficient 
money has been 
allocated within the 
budget for the contract 
as such contracts are 
not closely connected 

Contracts – letting 
(awarding) of 
contracts through 
framework 
agreement 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rules 
2.1.4 and 8) 
Authority to let 
(award) a contract 
through any 
framework 
agreement to which 
the Council has 
access where 
considered 
expedient by a CO 
or a DCO subject to 
the scheme falling 
within the approved 
budget which 
includes the 
approved 5-year 
capital programme. 
(A decision notice 
must be published 
for each award of 
contract unless 
administrative or 
minor or not closely 
connected to 
discharge of 
function.) (The 
signing of contracts 
is dealt with 
separately below.) 

Page 133



Appendix 2 
to the discharge of the 
function.) 

Approval by the CX, 
S151 Officer and the 
Portfolio Holder for 
finance in advance of 
the award of contract 

Contracts - 
variation or waiver 
(exemption) of 
Contract Procedure 
Rules 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rule 
3.3) Authority to 
vary or waive any 
Contract Procedure 
Rules subject to 
complying with all 
relevant 
requirements of 
Rule 9, and subject 
to the scheme 
falling within the 
approved budget 
which includes the 
approved 5-year 
capital programme. 

CX, DCXs, ADs and 
SMs 

Contracts - assets 
for disposal 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rule 
9.2) Authority to 
dispose of obsolete 
stocks, stores, or 
assets, other than 
land, subject to 
complying with 
Contract Procedure 
Rule 9.2. 

CX, DCXs, ADs, SMs 
and any other officer 
with the written 
approval of the 
CX/DCXs/ADs/SM (any 
sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months 
must be reported to the 
MO) 

Contracts - pre 
tender market 
testing and 
consultation 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rule 
10.1) Authority to 
consult potential 
suppliers prior to 
issue of the 
Invitation to Tender 
or Request for 
Quotation subject to 
the scheme falling 
within the approved 
budget which 
includes the 
approved 5-year 
capital programme 

CX, DCXs, ADs, SMs 
and any other officer 
with the written 
approval of the 
CX/DCXs/ADs/SM (any 
sub-delegations lasting 
more than 6 months 
must be reported to the 
MO) 

Contracts – all 
values – seeking, 
receiving, and 
evaluating 
quotations/tenders 
for contracts for 
works, goods 
materials, and 
services, and hiring 
of consultants 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rules 7 
(where a 
competition is 
required), 9.1.3 and 
9.1.4,  11.0, 12.0, 
14.0, 14.3, 16.1). 
Authority to request 
and receive tenders 
and quotations, and 
to evaluate tenders 
and quotations 
subject to 
compliance with the 
Contract Procedure 
Rules (as amended 
by any authorised Page 134



Appendix 2 
variation or waiver) 
and subject to the 
scheme falling 
within the approved 
budget which 
includes the 
approved 5-year 
capital programme. 
(The awarding and 
the signing of 
contracts are dealt 
with separately.) 

CX, DCXs, ADs and 
SMs following 
consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
(consultation is not 
required for (i) routine 
contracts (e.g. routine 
ongoing or annual 
maintenance contracts, 
routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; 
routine servicing of 
vehicles etc); (ii) 
contracts for 1-off 
schemes where the 
scheme has been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated 
within the budget for 
the contract; and (iii) 
indirect services such 
as legal services or 
consultants for 
schemes which have 
been formally approved 
and where sufficient 
money has been 
allocated within the 
budget for the contract 
as such contracts are 
not closely connected 
to the discharge of the 
function.) 

Contracts - 
awarding of 
contracts  

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rules 
5.1A,16.2) Authority 
to award contracts 
subject to 
compliance with the 
Contract Procedure 
Rules (as amended 
by any authorised 
variation) and 
subject to the 
scheme falling 
within the approved 
budget which 
includes the 
approved 5-year 
capital programme  
 
 (Decision notices 
must be published 
for each award of 
contract unless 
administrative or 
minor or not closely 
connected with 
discharge of 
function.)  
(The signing of 
contracts is dealt 
with separately.) 

CX, DCXs and ADs  
 
SMs – up to £85,000 
 

Contracts – signing 
of contracts which 
are not under seal 

Cabinet/Executive  (Contract 
Procedure Rule 
17.2) Authority to 
sign contracts 
which are not under 
seal, and which 
come within the 
jurisdiction of the 
officer concerned.  
 
(Contracts under 
seal must be signed 
only by officers who 
have specific Page 135



Appendix 2 
authority to do so – 
set out in the 
Council’s 
Constitution  

Officers of the 
Contracts team 

Contracts - 
Authorised Officer 
of relevant team 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rules 
14.2) Officers 
appointed as 
"Authorised Officer 
of relevant team" 

CX, DCXs, ADs, SMs 
and any other officer 
with the written 
approval of the 
CX/DCXs/ADs/SM  
(Any sub-delegations 
lasting more than 6 
months must be 
reported to the MO) 

Clarification of an 
invitation to tender 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rule 
15.1) Authority to 
provide clarification 
of an Invitation to 
tender 

CX, DCXs, ADs, and 
SMs  

Post tender 
negotiations 

Cabinet/Executive (Contract 
Procedure Rules 
15.2 to 15.6) (at 
least 2 officers are 
required – see rule 
15.6) Authority to 
undertake post 
tender negotiations 

CX, DCXs, ADs and 
SMs  
In consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
(consultation is not 
required for termination 
of low value or minor 
contracts (£15,000 or 
less) 

Authority to 
terminate contracts 

Cabinet/Executive  (Contract 
Procedure Rule 27) 
Authority to 
terminate contracts 
subject to 
consultation with 
the MO and S151 
Officer 

 

 

Page 136



Revised Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) Key changes for BBC                                  Appendix 3 
 

Current rule New rule Reason for change 

Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules Contract Procedure Rules Alignment across the 3 councils 

3.1.2 All exemptions, and the reasons for them, must be 
recorded. Exemptions below £25,000 shall be approved by 
The Head of Paid Service or the s.151 Officer following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer. Exemptions above 
£25,001 shall be approved by Cabinet. 
3.1.4 In those exceptional circumstances not covered in 
Section 3.1.2 above, the Cabinet also has the power to waive 
any specific provision or provisions of these Contract and 
Procurement Procedure Rules (other than the requirement to 
comply with EU Regulations), although this must be formally 
obtained by the Officer. Any such decision may be a Key 
Decision. 

3.5 Every variation/exemption must be recorded on the 
Council’s Procurement Exemption  Form at Appendix 1 to these 
Contract Procedure Rules and the form will be recorded on a 
master register to be maintained by a Contracts and 
Procurement Service. 
3.2 These Contract Procedure Rules may be exempted 
where the circumstances meet any of the following criteria 
within 3.3. Any exemption form must be completed and sent  to 
the Head of Procurement & Contracts in the first instance to 
allow comments which will assist with the approval or rejection 
of the exemption. 
3.3 The Head of Procurement & Contracts will then pass this 
through to the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer for 
approval prior to consideration by the Chief Executive and the 
Portfolio Holder for the relevant area, as well as the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance. This process must be followed in advance of 
the award of contract, and in compliance with the criteria set out 
in the Delegations to Officers 

Changed approval process for 
exemptions to allow for more robust 
scrutiny before an exemption is 
approved. 
 
To ensure the council follows a robust 
procedure for all exemptions 
 
To follow recommendations form Peer 
Review and audit on aligning 
procurement and contract procedures 
across the partnership 
 

No current comparable rule 3.8 A Contracts and Procurement Service must monitor the 
use of all exemptions. 

To ensure procurement processes are 
scrutinised and followed correctly by 
officers 

Exemption (9) Where the contract is an extension to an 
existing contract, where a change of supplier would cause: 
• disproportionate technical difficulties; 
• dis-economies; or 
• significant disruption to the delivery of Council services 

No new comparable exemption instead it is to be dealt with via 
the MO - 3.4.2 The Monitoring Officer must be consulted where 
the contract is an extension to an existing contract and a change 
of supplier would cause: 
(a) Disproportionate technical difficulties 
(b) Diseconomies 
(c) Significant disruption to the delivery of Council services. 

Change of process to ensure correct 
procurement processes are being 
followed 

P
age 137



Revised Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) Key changes for BBC                                  Appendix 3 
 

No current comparable exemption 3.3.9 where building development opportunities are available 
to the Council, and have been proven to be financially viable, and 
the value is under the FTS Thresholds for Works (as per Appendix 
2 – Above Public Contracts Regulations 2015 / Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 2016 thresholds.). 

Added to allow reasonable exemption 
for this reason to assist with the 
development of housing, where 
appropriate. 

No current comparable exemption 3.3.2 for supplies purchased or sold in a public market or 
auction; 

Added to allow reasonable exemption 
for this reason 

Finance procedure rule -  Payments in excess of £30,000 
shall be countersigned by two designated signatories and 
authorised by the Section 151 Officer/Deputy S151 Officer. 
 

Supplier payments in excess of £100,000 shall be countersigned 
by 2 approved bank signatories. Prime documents must be 
produced for checking at the time of countersigning. 
 

The automation and workflow controls 
within the new Unit 4 finance system 
provides the assurance that purchase 
orders and invoices are appropriately 
approved, before payment is made.   

£0 - £5,000 one verbal quotation, local supplier to be used 
where appropriate, officer to record details 

£0 - £5,000 - One quote - this should be a local provider wherever 
possible. A purchase order must be raised. 

To align processes across the 
partnership, including changes to rules 
following EU exit.  
 
A new appendix with the Public 
Contracts Regulations / Concessions 
Contracts Regulations thresholds will 
be used to allow changes to be made in 
line with new legislation without the 
need to bring the CPRs back to 
committee every time 

£5,000 - £10,000 minimum of two written quotations One of 
the Quotations must be from a local supplier and a local 
supplier should be used where they provide the most 
economically advantageous offer. 
Officer to record details 

£5,001 - £10,000 - Two written quotes – one should be a local 
provider wherever possible. A purchase order must be raised. 

£10,000 - £25,000 minimum of 3 written quotations -  One 
of the Quotations must be from a local supplier and a local 
supplier should be used where they provide the most 
economically advantageous offer. 
Officer to record details 

£10,001 - £40,000 -  At least three written quotes shall be sought 
and two must be received. Local providers must be given an 
opportunity to provide a quote, wherever possible. A purchase 
order must be raised. 

£25,001 - £75,000 Three Written Quotations based on a RFQ 
document with simplified Terms & Conditions (T&Cs) web-
based publications may be used documentation  Must be 
based on a written specification provided to the Economic 
Operators by the Council 

£40,001 - £85,000 - At least five written quotations shall be 
sought via a Request for Quotation via e-Tendering Portal. Local 
providers must be given an opportunity to provide a quote, 
wherever possible. A purchase order must be raised. 

£75,001 - < EU threshold  full tender process Web based 
publications may be used. Place on Contracts Finder in line 
with Public Contract Regulations 2015  Invitation to Tender 

£85,001 up to Public Contracts Regulations 2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 2016 threshold*)  
Open tender   via E-Tendering Portal including Contracts Finder. 
A social value clause must be built into the specification and 

P
age 138



Revised Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) Key changes for BBC                                  Appendix 3 
 

  

(ITT) documentation as relevant with sealed bids which may 
be submitted via an electronic tendering process. 

contract. (Public Service (Social Value) Act 2012). A purchase 
order must be raised 

EU threshold > full tender process  Official Journal of the 
European Union (OJEU), Web based publications may be used 
documentation -  Consult with the Council’s Procurement 
Advisor 

Above Public Contracts Regulations 2015/Concessions 
Contracts Regulations 2016 threshold*)  
UK Public Procurement Procedure – via E-Tendering Portal & 
Find a Tender notice. Local social value clause must be built into 
the specification of the contract. (Public Service (Social Value) 
Act 2012). A purchase order must be raised 

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23 January 2023 

SUBJECT: Mid Term Treasury Management Review 2022/23 

KEY DECISION:  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

N/A 

Councillor Jonathan Noble 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Sean Howsam (Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPSL) 

N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

Attached at Appendix A is the Mid Term Report on the Council’s “Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy.” 

It covers the following areas; 

• An economic update for the first half of the 2022/23 financial year; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 

Strategy; 

• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and prudential 

indicators; 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2022/23;  

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2022/23; 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Indicators for 2022/23. 

This report refers to a key element of the Council’s Governance Framework and therefore 

represents an important contribution to the evidence trail in support of the Annual 

Governance Statement 2022/23. 

 

Page 141

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
It is recommended that Council receive and review the contents of the report attached at 

Appendix A.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

The CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management suggests that members should be 

informed of Treasury Management activities at least twice a year. This report therefore ensures  

this Council is embracing Best Practice in accordance with CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. 

The Council’s priorities when investing surplus cash is security, liquidity and yield in that order. 

 

The report was considered by the Audit and Governance Committee at their meeting on 5 

December 2022. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

As this is an update report there are no other further options for consideration. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report provides the 2022/23 Mid Term update on the Council’s “Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy”. (Appendix A). 
 

1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued the revised Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in 2017. 
 

1.3 The Code suggests that members should be informed of Treasury Management activities at 
least twice a year. This report therefore ensures this Council is embracing best practice in 
accordance with CIPFA’s revised Code of Practice. 
 

2. BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year 
will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operations ensure this 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising 
investment return. 
 

2.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital programme. The capital programme provides a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially longer term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can 
meet its capital spending requirements. This management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on 
occasion, any existing debt may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

  

Page 142



3 
 

 

2.3 Accordingly treasury management is defined as: 
 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”. 

 
2.4 The risks around investments have always been managed effectively by the Council. 

 
3. Financial Update – to 30 September 2022 

 
3.1 The proposed revised budget for the capital programme is £10.682m which is fully funded 

from external grants and reserves. Actual expenditure as at 30 September 2022 was 
£1.105m.  
 

3.2 The Council’s external borrowing remained at £16.449m as at 30 September 2022. 
 

3.3 The Council’s 2022/23 budget for investment income is £748k net of fees. At the end of 
September 2022 investment income earned was approximately £404k. 
  

3.4 The average level of funds available for investment purposes during the first half of the 
financial year was £29.3m excluding property fund investments. 
 

3.5 Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.771% compared to the benchmark 
average 3-month Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) rate of 1.701%. 

 
3.6 Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an average net rate of 3.288%. 
 
3.7 The combined rate achieved on all investments is estimated to be approximately 1.741%. 
 
3.8 The forecast for the outturn of investment income for 2022/23 as at 31/10/22 has been 

calculated at £1m which would be £252k above budget. This will be monitored on a 
monthly basis to reflect changing market conditions. 

 
3.9 The Council’s property fund investments made an estimated contribution to the Council’s 

2022/23 revenue account of £304k after fees and the combined Net Asset Value of the 
funds fell by 1.8% from the 31 March 2022 valuations.  A full analysis of the Council’s 
property fund investments can be found in Paragraph 9.4 of Appendix `A. 
 

3.10 The projected outturn for borrowing costs for 2022/23 is £493,638 which is in line with the 
budget. 

 
3.11 The Council’s Investment Policy and Strategy is kept under constant review with the aim of 

balancing risk and reward. The investment criteria agreed for 2022/23 permitted 
investments with banks whose parent bank originates from a country with a sovereign 
rating of A+ or higher and meets Link Groups counterparty investment criteria. 

 
 

Page 143



4 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
This report provides a review of treasury management performance for the financial year 2022/23, 

to Members to ensure Best Practice is maintained as required by CIPFA Code of Practice for 

Treasury Management. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are covered in detail in Appendix A to this report.  
 
By making the investment criteria relating to financial institutions stringent, the Council receives 
lower rates of return. The Council therefore aims to strike a balance between risk and reward 
when considering its portfolio of investments. Treasury Management is a key financial 
consideration for the Authority especially in respect of its investment returns and Capital 
Programme. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The General Power of Competence (GPOC) in the Localism Act 2011 allows Councils a broad 

freedom in their operations.  

Councils have the general power to borrow under Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

The power to invest is set out in the Local Government Act 2003, Section 12, which gives the 

Council the power to invest for any purpose relevant to its functions under any enactment, or 

for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial affairs.  

The power that allows councils to spend for capital purposes is included in the Local 

Government Act 2003. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS 

Risk Management 

The Code of Practice sets out the framework for controlling the risks associated with treasury 

management decisions for borrowing and investing.  Ultimately investment and borrowing 

decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. The 

Page 144



5 
 

overriding priority is that the security of a deposit takes precedence over a return on 

investment. 

The Prudential and Treasury Indicators control the limits for investing and borrowing, to ensure 

that any borrowing is affordable and sustainable and long term borrowing is for capital purposes 

only. 

Impact on Performance 

There is a requirement to try and balance the risks and rewards from investing our available 

cash resources, as outlined within the Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23. 

 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Mid Term Treasury Management Update 2022/23 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Treasury 

Management 

Strategy 

Statement for 

2022/23 

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1744/Public%20reports%20p

ack%2007th-Mar-2022%2018.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10 

 

 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A Quarter 1 Treasury Management report was submitted to this committee on 19 September 

2022. 

 

 

 

 

CONSULTATION 

The Portfolio Holder for Finance is briefed on treasury performance on a regular basis as part 

of the monthly portfolio meetings. 

Page 145

https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1744/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Mar-2022%2018.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10
https://democracy.boston.gov.uk/documents/g1744/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Mar-2022%2018.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10


6 
 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sean Howsam – Interim Treasury & Investments 

Manager (PSPSL) Sean.Howsam@pspsl.co.uk 

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director Finance 

SKnowles@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Councillor Noble Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

 

Page 146

mailto:Sean.Howsam@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:SKnowles@sholland.gov


        Appendix ‘A’ 

 
 
 
Treasury Management Update 
 
Mid Term Report 2022/23 

ended 30 September 2022 

 

Boston Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



`APPENDIX A` 

1  Background 
 

1.1 Capital Strategy 
 
In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy, (CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes. These require all local authorities to prepare a Capital Strategy which 

is to provide the following: -  
 

• a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 
• an overview of how the associated risk is managed; 

• the implications for future financial sustainability. 
 
1.2 Treasury Management 

 
The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised 

during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with 

surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return. 
 

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 
of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 

borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning 
to ensure the Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term 

loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

 
Accordingly treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 

effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit 
of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
2  Introduction  
 
This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the 

CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017). 
  

The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 
  

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 

which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities. 

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies 
and objectives. 

Page 148



`APPENDIX A` 

3. Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 

Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 

previous year. 
4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 

monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 

execution and administration of treasury management decisions. 
5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury 

management strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this 
Council the delegated body is Audit and Governance Committee.  

 

This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following: 

 
• An economic update for the first half of the 2022/23 financial year; 
• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy; 
• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 

prudential indicators; 
• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2022/23; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2022/23; 
• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2022/23; 
• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2022/23 

 
There are no proposed changes to the Treasury Management Strategy for 

2022/23.     
 

3  Economics and Interest Rates (provided by Link 
Asset Services 7/10/22) 

 
3.1 Economics Update 

 
• The second quarter of 2022 saw: 

 

-    Gross Domestic Product (GDP) revised upwards in Q1 2022/23 to 
+0.2% quarter on quarter (q/q) from -0.1%, which means the UK 

economy has avoided recession for the time being; 
-    Signs of economic activity losing momentum as production fell 

due to rising energy prices;  

-    Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation ease to 9.9% year on year 
(y/y) in August, having been 9.0% in April, but domestic price 

pressures showing little sign of abating in the near-term;  
-    The unemployment rate fall to a 48-year low of 3.6% due to a 

large shortfall in labour supply; 

-    Bank Rate rise by 100 basis points (bps) over the quarter, taking 
Bank Rate to 2.25% with further rises to come;  

-    Gilt yields surge and sterling fall following the “fiscal event” of the 
new Prime Minister and Chancellor on 23 September. 

 

Page 149



`APPENDIX A` 

• The UK economy grew by 0.2% q/q in Q1 2022/23, though revisions 
to historic data left it below pre-pandemic levels. 

 
• There are signs of higher energy prices creating more persistent 

downward effects in economic activity. Both industrial production (-
0.3% month on month (m/m) and construction output (-0.8% m/m) 
fell in July 2022 for a second month in a row. Although some of this 

was probably due to the heat wave at the time, manufacturing 
output fell in some of the most energy intensive sectors (e.g., 

chemicals), pointing to signs of higher energy prices weighing on 
production. With the drag on real activity from high inflation having 
grown in recent months, GDP is at risk of contracting through the 

autumn and winter months. 
 

• The fall in the composite Purchasing Managers’ Index (PMI) from 
49.6 in August to a 20-month low preliminary reading of 48.4 in 
September points to a fall in GDP of around 0.2% q/q in Q3 and 

consumer confidence is at a record low. Retail sales volumes fell by 
1.6% m/m in August, which was the ninth fall in 10 months. That left 

sales volumes in August just 0.5% above their pre-Covid level and 
3.3% below their level at the start of the year. There are also signs 

that households are spending their excess savings in response to 
high prices. Indeed, cash in households’ bank accounts rose by 
£3.2bn in August, which was below the £3.9bn rise in July and much 

smaller than the 2019 average monthly rate of £4.6bn.  

• The labour market remained exceptionally tight. Data for July and 

August provided further evidence that the weaker economy is leading 
to a cooling in labour demand. Labour Force Survey (LFS) 
employment rose by 40,000 in the three months to July (the smallest 

rise since February). But a renewed rise in inactivity of 154,000 over 
the same period meant that the unemployment rate fell from 3.8% 

in June to a new 48-year low of 3.6%. The single-month data 
showed that inactivity rose by 354,000 in July itself and there are 
now 904,000 more inactive people aged 16+ compared to before the 

pandemic in February 2020. The number of vacancies has started to 
level off from recent record highs but there have been few signs of a 

slowing in the upward momentum on wage growth. Indeed, in July, 
the 3my/y rate of average earnings growth rose from 5.2% in June 
to 5.5%. 

• CPI inflation eased from 10.1% in July to 9.9% in August, though 
inflation has not peaked yet. The easing in August was mainly due to 

a decline in fuel prices reducing fuel inflation from 43.7% to 32.1%. 
With the oil price now just below $90 per barrel we would expect to 
see fuel prices fall further in the coming months.  

• However, utility price inflation is expected to add 0.7% to CPI 
inflation in October when the Ofgem unit price cap increases to, 

typically, £2,500 per household (prior to any benefit payments). But, 
as the government has frozen utility prices at that level for two 

Page 150



`APPENDIX A` 

years, energy price inflation will fall sharply after October and have a 
big downward influence on CPI inflation.  

• Nonetheless, the rise in services CPI inflation from 5.7% y/y in July 
to a 30-year high of 5.9% y/y in August suggests that domestic price 

pressures are showing little sign of abating. A lot of that is being 
driven by the tight labour market and strong wage growth. CPI 
inflation is expected to peak close to 10.4% in November and, with 

the supply of workers set to remain unusually low, the tight labour 
market will keep underlying inflationary pressures strong until early 

next year. 

• During the first half of 2022 there has been a change of both Prime 
Minister and Chancellor.  The new team (Liz Truss and Kwasi 

Kwarteng) have made a step change in government policy. The 
government’s huge fiscal loosening from its proposed significant tax 

cuts will add to existing domestic inflationary pressures and will 
potentially leave a legacy of higher interest rates and public debt. 
Whilst the government’s utility price freeze, which could cost up to 

£150bn (5.7% of GDP) over 2 years, will reduce peak inflation from 
14.5% in January next year to 10.4% in November this year, the 

long list of tax measures announced at the “fiscal event” adds up to 
a loosening in fiscal policy relative to the previous government’s 

plans of £44.8bn (1.8% of GDP) by 2026/27. These included the 
reversal of April’s national insurance tax on 6 November, the cut in 
the basic rate of income tax from 20p to 19p in April 2023, the 

cancellation of next April’s corporation tax rise, the cut to stamp duty 
and the removal of the 45p tax rate, although the 45p tax rate cut 

announcement has already been reversed.  

• Fears that the government has no fiscal anchor on the back of these 
announcements has meant that the pound has weakened again, 

adding further upward pressure to interest rates. Whilst the pound 
fell to a record low of $1.035 on the Monday following the 

government’s “fiscal event”, it has since recovered to around $1.12. 
That is due to hopes that the Bank of England will deliver a very big 
rise in interest rates at the policy meeting on 3 November and the 

government will lay out a credible medium-term plan in the near 
term. This was originally expected as part of the fiscal statement on 

23 November but has subsequently been moved forward to an 
expected release date in October.  Nevertheless, with concerns over 
a global recession growing, there are downside risks to the pound.  

• The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has now increased interest 
rates seven times in as many meetings in 2022 and has raised rates 

to their highest level since the Global Financial Crisis. Even so, 
coming after the Fed and European Central Bank (ECB) raised rates 
by 75 bps in their most recent meetings, the Bank of England’s latest 

50 bps hike looks relatively dovish. However, the UK’s status as a 
large importer of commodities, which have jumped in price, means 

Page 151



`APPENDIX A` 

that households in the UK are now facing a much larger squeeze on 
their real incomes.  

• Since the fiscal event on 23 September, we now expect the MPC to 
increase interest rates further and faster, from 2.25% currently to a 

peak of 5.00% in February 2023. The combination of the 
government’s fiscal loosening, the tight labour market and sticky 
inflation expectations means we expect the MPC to raise interest 

rates by 100bps at the policy meetings in November (to 3.25%) and 
75 bps in December (to 4%) followed by further 50 bps hikes in 

February and March (to 5.00%).  Market expectations for what the 
MPC will do are volatile. If Bank Rate climbs to these levels the 
housing market looks very vulnerable, which is one reason why the 

peak in our forecast is lower than the peak of 5.50% - 5.75% priced 
into the financial markets at present.  

• Throughout 2022/23, gilt yields have been on an upward trend.  
They were initially caught up in the global surge in bond yields 
triggered by the surprisingly strong rise in CPI inflation in the US in 

May. The rises in two-year gilt yields (to a peak of 2.37% on 21st 
June) and 10-year yields (to a peak of 2.62%) took them to their 

highest level since 2008 and 2014 respectively. However, the upward 
trend was exceptionally sharply at the end of September as investors 

demanded a higher risk premium and expected faster and higher 
interest rate rises to offset the government’s extraordinary fiscal 
stimulus plans. The 30-year gilt yield rose from 3.60% to 5.10% 

following the “fiscal event”, which threatened financial stability by 
forcing pension funds to sell assets into a falling market to meet cash 

collateral requirements. In response, the Bank did two things. First, 
it postponed its plans to start selling some of its quantitative easing 
(QE) gilt holdings until 31 October. Second, it committed to buy up 

to £65bn of long-term gilts to “restore orderly market conditions” 
until 14 October. In other words, the Bank is restarting QE, although 

for financial stability reasons rather than monetary policy reasons.  

• Since the Bank’s announcement on 28 September, the 30-year gilt 
yield has fallen back from 5.10% to 3.83%. The 2-year gilt yield 

dropped from 4.70% to 4.30% and the 10-year yield fell back from 
4.55% to 4.09%.  

• There is a possibility that the Bank continues with QE at the long-end 
beyond 14 October or it decides to delay quantitative tightening 
beyond 31 October, even as it raises interest rates. So far at least, 

investors seem to have taken the Bank at its word that this is not a 
change in the direction of monetary policy nor a step towards 

monetary financing of the government’s deficit. But instead, that it is 
a temporary intervention with financial stability in mind.  

• After a shaky start to the year, the Standard & Poors (S&P) 500 and 

Financial Times Stock Exchange (FTSE 100) climbed in the first half 
of Q2 2022/23 before falling to their lowest levels since November 

Page 152



`APPENDIX A` 

2020 and July 2021 respectively. The S&P 500 is 7.2% below its 
level at the start of the quarter, whilst the FTSE 100 is 5.2% below it 

as the fall in the pound has boosted the value of overseas earnings in 
the index. The decline has, in part, been driven by the rise in global 

real yields and the resulting downward pressure on equity valuations 
as well as concerns over economic growth leading to a deterioration 
in investor risk appetite.   

 
3.1  Interest rate forecasts 

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisors and part of 
their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. 
The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rate forecasts below are based on 

the Certainty Rate (the standard rate minus 20 bps) which has been 
accessible to most authorities since 1 November 2012. 

  
The latest forecast on 27 September sets out a view that both short and 
long-dated interest rates will be elevated for some little while, as the Bank 

of England seeks to squeeze inflation out of the economy, whilst the 
government is providing a package of fiscal loosening to try and protect 

households and businesses from the ravages of ultra-high wholesale gas 
and electricity prices.   

 
The increase in PWLB rates reflects a broad sell-off in sovereign bonds 
internationally but more so the disaffection investors have with the 

position of the UK public finances after September’s “fiscal event”.  To 
that end, the MPC has tightened short-term interest rates with a view to 

trying to slow the economy sufficiently to keep the secondary effects of 
inflation – as measured by wage rises – under control, but its job is that 
much harder now.   

 
Our PWLB rate forecasts below are based on the Certainty Rate (the 

standard rate minus 20 bps, calculated as gilts plus 80bps) which has 
been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 2012.  
 

 

Page 153



`APPENDIX A` 

4  Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 

Annual Investment Strategy update 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23 was 

approved by Council on 7 March 2022.  
 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved. 

 

5  The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential 
Indicators) 

 
This part of the report is structured to update: 
 

• The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

• How these plans are being financed; 
• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the 

prudential indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and 
• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

 

5.1   Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

 
This table shows the original capital expenditure estimate and the latest 
approved capital programme. A full breakdown of the latest approved capital 

programme is shown at ‘Appendix A1’. 
 

 

5.2 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme  
  

The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital 
expenditure plans (above), highlighting the original supported and 
unsupported elements of the capital programme, and the expected financing 

arrangements of this capital expenditure.  The borrowing element of the table 
increases the underlying indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital 

Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be reduced in part by 
revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP)).  This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing 

debt and other treasury requirements. 
 

Capital Expenditure  2022/23 
Original 

Budget 
 
 

£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure 

as at 
30/09/22 

 

£’000 

2022/23 
Proposed 

Revised 
Budget  
 as at 

30/09/22 
£’000 

Services 6,762 1,105 10,682 

Total 6,762 1,105 10,682 

Page 154



`APPENDIX A` 

 

5.3 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing 
Requirement, External Debt and the Operational Boundary 

 
The table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur 
borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position 

over the period which is termed the Operational Boundary. 
 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 
We are on target to achieve the original forecast Capital Financing 
Requirement. 

 
Prudential Indicator – The Operational Boundary for external debt 

 

 

The original estimate for the CFR for 2022/23 was set prior to the year-end 
accounts for 2021/22 being completed. The figures in the table above 
therefore take account of the actual figures in the 2021/22 financial 

statements.     
 

Capital Expenditure 2022/23 
Original 

Budget 
 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Expenditure 

as at 
30/09/22 

 
£’000 

2022/23 
Proposed 

Revised 
Budget  

 as at 
30/09/22 

£’000 

Total Expenditure 6,762 1,105 10,682 

Financed by:    

External Grants 4,874 1,075 8,005 

Reserves 1,888 30 2,677 

Total financing 6,762 1,105 10,682 

Borrowing need 0 0 0 

 2022/23 
Original 

Budget 
£’000 

Position as at 
30/09/22 

 
£’000 

2022/23 
Proposed 

Revised 
Budget  
 as at 

30/09/22 
£’000 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

CFR – non housing 20,259 20,274 20,259 

Total CFR 20,259 20,274 20,259 

Net movement in CFR 15 0 15 

    

Prudential Indicator – the Operational Boundary for external debt 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Borrowing 22,000 22,000 22,000 

Other long term liabilities 3,000 3,000 3,000 

Total debt 31 March 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Page 155



`APPENDIX A` 

5.4 Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to 
ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less 

investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing 
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022/23 and next two 

financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for 
future years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of 

need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent. 
 

   

The Deputy Chief Executive (Corporate Development) & Section 151 Officer 
reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in 
complying with this prudential indicator.   

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is 
the Authorised Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is 

prohibited, this needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level 
of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, 
but is not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum 

borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 

2003. 
 

 

 
 

 

 2022/23 
Original 

Budget 
£’000 

Position as 
at 

30/09/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
Proposed 

Revised 
Budget  
 as at 

30/09/22 
£’000 

Gross borrowing 16,449 16,449 16,449 

Plus other long term liabilities 0 0 0 

Total Debt 16,449 16,449 16,449 

CFR (year-end position) 20,259 20,274 20,259 

Authorised limit for external 

debt 

2022/23 

Original 
Budget 
£’000 

Position as 

at 30/09/22 
£’000 

2022/23 

Proposed 
Revised 
Budget  

 as at 
30/09/22 

£’000 

Borrowing 25,000 25,000 25,000 

Other long term liabilities   3,000   3,000  3,000 

Total 28,000 28,000 28,000 

Page 156



`APPENDIX A` 

6  Borrowing 

 
The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2022/23 is £20.259m.  
The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes.  If the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or 

the market (external borrowing), or from internal balances on a temporary 
basis (internal borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is 

generally driven by market conditions.  The first table in paragraph 5.4 shows 
the Council has borrowings of £16.449m and has utilised £3.81m of cash flow 
funds in lieu of borrowing.  This is a prudent and cost-effective approach in 

the current economic climate but will require ongoing monitoring in the event 
that any upside risk to gilt yields prevails. 

 
No new borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 30 September 
2022 and the table below shows the Councils external borrowing position at 

the quarter end. 
 

  

Entity Amount (£) Start Date Maturity Date Rate 

Public Works Loan Board 10,000,000 10/12/2018 10/12/2068 2.54% 

Public Works Loan Board   4,000,000 13/12/2018 13/12/2068 2.42% 

Public Works Loan Board   1,449,000 27/03/2019 27/03/2069 2.18% 

TOTAL 15,449,000   2.475% 
Average 

  

Interest costs for 2022/23 on this borrowing are £382,388. 
 
In addition to the PWLB loans above the Council has a £1m Lender Option 

Borrower Option (LOBO) loan with State Street Nominees at a rate of 
11.125% which is due to mature in 2051. 

 
Interest costs for 2022/23 on this borrowing are £111,250. 
 

It is anticipated that further borrowing will not be undertaken during this 
financial year, but this may be subject to review. 

 
PWLB maturity certainty rates year to date to 30 September 2022 
 

Gilt yields and PWLB rates were on a rising trend between 1 April and 30 
September. 

 
The 50-year PWLB target certainty rate for new long-term borrowing started 
2022/23 at 2.20% before increasing to 4.80% in September.  (Please note, 

however, that PWLB rates are projected to trend downwards through 2023 
and 2024.) 

 
The following table and graph shows the movement in PWLB certainty rates 

for the first six months of the year to date:     

Page 157



`APPENDIX A` 

 

 1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25% 

Date 01/04/22 13/05/22 04/04/22 04/04/22 04/04/22 

High 5.11% 5.44% 5.35% 5.80% 5.51% 

Date 28/09/22 28/09/22 28/09/22 28/09/22 28/09/22 

Average 2.81% 3.26% 2.99% 3.28% 3.26% 

 
 

 

 
7  Debt Rescheduling 
 
Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current 
economic climate and following the various increases in the margins 

added to gilt yields which have impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since 
October 2010. No debt rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to 

date in the current financial year.  However, now that the whole of the 
yield curve has shifted higher there may be better opportunities in the 

future, although only prudent and affordable debt rescheduling will be 
considered. 

 

8  Compliance with Treasury & Prudential Indicators 

It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 
affordable borrowing limits. The Council’s approved Treasury and Prudential 
Indicators (affordability limits) are included in the approved Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement.  

Page 158



`APPENDIX A` 

During the quarter ended 30 September 2022 the Council has operated 
within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement. 

 
9  Annual Investment Strategy  
 
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2022/23, which 

includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 7 
March 2022.  In accordance with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice, it sets out the Council’s investment priorities as being: 

 
• Security of capital 

• Liquidity 
• Yield 

 

The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and within the 

Council’s risk appetite. In the current economic climate, it is considered 
appropriate to keep investments short term to cover cash flow needs, but 
also to seek out value available in periods up to 12 months with high credit 

rated financial institutions, using the Link suggested creditworthiness 
approach, including a minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default 

Swap (CDS) overlay information.  

9.1 Creditworthiness 

Following the Government’s fiscal event on 23 September, both S&P and Fitch 

have placed the UK sovereign debt rating on Negative Outlook, reflecting a 
downside bias to the current ratings in light of expectations of weaker 

finances and the economic outlook. 
 

9.2 Investment Counterparty Criteria 

The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS 
is meeting the requirement of the treasury management function. 

9.3 Credit Default Swap Prices 

It is noted that sentiment in the current economic climate can easily shift, so 

it remains important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk 
and return in the current circumstances. 

9.4 Investment Performance Year to Date as at 30 September 2022  

 

The Council’s 2022/23 budget for investment income is £748k net of fees. At 
the end of September 2022 investment income earned was approximately 
£404k.  

The average level of funds available for investment purposes during the first 
half of the financial year was £29.3m excluding property fund investments.   

Page 159



`APPENDIX A` 

Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.771% compared to the 
benchmark average 3-month Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) rate 

of 1.701%. 

Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an average net 
rate of 3.288%. 

The combined rate achieved on all investments is estimated to be 

approximately 1.741%. 

The forecast for the outturn of investment income for 2022/23 as at 31/10/22 
has been calculated at £1m which would be £252k above budget. This will be 

monitored on a monthly basis to reflect changing market conditions.  

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the 
agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 

The table below provides details of the cash investments held by the Council 

at 30 September 2022.  

Note this represents the position at this one point in time. The peaks and 
troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily basis.  Because the Council 
collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future 

dates (e.g. Council Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at 
any point in time does not represent the value of Boston Borough Council’s 

own resources.  

 

Financial Institution Country Amount 
(£) 

Start Date Maturity 
Date 

Type Yield 

HSBC Bank  UK 2,100,000 N/A Instant 
Access  

Variable 0.01% 

CCLA Money Market 
Fund  

N/A 7,500,000 N/A Instant 
Access   

Variable 1.96% 

Barclays Bank UK 3,000,000 N/A 95-day 
notice 

Variable 2.30% 

Bank of Scotland  UK 2,000,000 N/A 175-day 
notice 

Variable 1.01% 

UK Debt 
Management Office 

UK 4,000,000 28/09/2022 05/10/2022 Fixed 1.97% 

UK Debt 
Management Office 

UK 2,600,000 30/09/2022 07/10/2022 Fixed 1.87% 

Goldman Sachs UK 3,000,000 30/08/2022 28/02/2023 Fixed 3.06% 

Standard Chartered UK 3,000,000 27/09/2022 27/03/2023 Fixed 4.34% 

Helaba Bank Germany 3,000,000 23/09/2022 22/09/2023 Fixed 4.305% 

TOTAL  30,200,000     

 
 

Page 160



`APPENDIX A` 

The 95 day notice money with Barclays Bank is being returned in October 
2022 

 
The authority is currently completing onboarding documentation to enable it 

to open a custodian account with King & Shaxson brokers.  This will enable 
the authority to purchase Certificates of Deposit with other financial 
institutions not currently available to the authority and UK Government 

Treasury Bills. This will assist the authority in reducing short term deposits 
and maximising its investment returns within the parameters laid down in the 

approved Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 
 
Once this is completed and new investments made, investment returns will 

increase due to the higher returns received on medium term deposits. 
 

The graph below shows that longer term investment rates have been on a 
rising trend during the first half of the financial year.   
 

 
 

 

Page 161



`APPENDIX A` 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the following table 
provides a breakdown in relation to the purchase of these units: 

 
Fund Date of 

Purchase 
Net Asset 

Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) 

on Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 
£ 

Black Rock UK 
Property Fund  

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 
TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real 
Estate Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 
TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle 
Property Unit 
Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 
TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments 
UK Property Fund 

 
14/09/18 

 

 
858,236 

 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
946,256  

AEW UK Core 
Property Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL 
 

17,463,209 472,813 2.30 17,936,022 

Page 162



`APPENDIX A` 

The following table provides details in relation to the performance and valuation of these funds as at 30 September 2022. 
 

 
The Projected Annualised Distribution Yield is the projected yield for the year based on dividends already received during the 
current financial year.  

 
The 2022/23 Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss is the projected gain/loss in the capital value of the fund since the start of the 

financial year calculated by reference to the change in the Net Asset Value from 31 March 2022 to the period end. 
 
The estimated combined return is the total of the Projected Dividend Distribution Yield and the Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss. 

 
Please note that this is the position as of 30 September 2022 and the capital values will fluctuate year on year.

Financial Institution 
Purchase 

Cost 
(£) 

Estimated 
Revenue 
Received 
2022/23 

(£) 

Projected 
Annualised 
Distribution 

Yield 
2022/23 

Net Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total Gain/ 
(Loss) Since 

Purchase 
(£) 

Quarterly 
Gain/ 
(Loss) 

(£) 

2022/23 
Annualised Fund 

Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 
Since 1/4/22 

2022/23 
Estimated 
Combined 

Return 

BlackRock UK Property 

Fund  

4,500,006 62,600 2.75% 

Estimate 

5,042,172 542,166 (267,647) (5.73%) (2.98%) 

Schroder UK Real 

Estate Fund  

4,250,006 78,098 3.66% 

Estimate 

4,794,788 544,782 (186,383) (4.41%) (0.75%) 

Threadneedle Property 

Unit Trust 
4,239,754 77,813 3.65% 

Estimate 
4,410,190 170,436 (246,791) 

 

(2.95%) 0.70% 

M&G Investments UK 

Property Fund (After 

Distribution Payments) 

946,256 6,193 

 

1.10% 

Estimate 

1,085,282 139,026 (19,708) N/K N/K 

AEW UK Core Property 

Fund  

4,000,000 79,137 3.95% 

Estimate 

4,047,998 47,998 (147,685) (0.86%) 3.09% 

TOTAL 17,936,022 303,841  19,380,430 1,444,408 (868,214)   

P
age 163



  APPENDIX `A` 

An analysis of dividend distributions received since the purchase of the 
property funds to 30 September 2022 can be found in the table below: 

 

 

10  Other 
 

10.1 Changes in Risk Appetite 
 

The 2018 CIPFA Codes and guidance notes have placed enhanced importance 
on risk management.  Where an authority changes its risk appetite e.g. for 
moving surplus cash into or out of certain types of investment funds or other 

types of investment instruments, this change in risk appetite and policy 
should be brought to members’ attention in treasury management update 

reports. 
 
There has been no change in risk appetite since the Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement for 2022/23 was approved on 7 March 2022. 
 

The Council has invested £9m of its short term investment balances in the 6 
month and one year period with financial institutions that meet the Council’s 
minimum credit rating criteria to take advantage of the higher interest rates 

on offer and secure greater returns.  
 

Investment balances and market rates will continue to be monitored with a 
view to lengthening the duration of the investment portfolio and maximising 
investment returns. 

 
 

Financial Institution Actual   
Dividend 

Distributions 

Received Pre 
2022/23 

Original 
Budgeted 

Distribution 

for 2022/23 

Estimated 
Dividend 

Distributions 

Received 
2022/23 

Total 
Distributions 

Received 

Since 
Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  535,257 89,083 62,600 597,857 

Schroder UK Real Estate 

Fund  
478,695 59,193 78,098 556,793 

Threadneedle Property Unit 

Trust 
636,396 65,880 77,813 714,209 

M&G Investments UK 

Property Fund  
458,562 78,465 6,193 464,755 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 622,968 56,833 79,137 702,105 

Total Revenue 2,731,878 349,454 303,841 3,035,719 

Page 164



  APPENDIX `A1` 

2022/23 Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn 

 

Original 

Budget 

2022/23

21/22 

Slippage

NEW 

Scheme

Proposed 

Revised 

Budget 

22/23

Actual 30 Sep 

2022

Forecast 

Outturn 

2022/23

Variance 

(under)/over

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Disabled Facilities Grants 280 171 451 110 451 0

Housing Strategy - 56 56 - 56 0

Resurfacing and Footpath 

Improvements
- 70 70 30 70 0

Vehicle Replacement 

Programme
215 63 278 - 278 0

Town Centre Heritage 

Scheme
42 1,243 1285 - 1,285 0

Multi Use Games Area - 17 17 - 17 0

Information Technology 

Refresh
170 13 183 - 183 0

ICT Finance Upgrade via 

PSPS
- 272 272 - 272 0

Changing Places - - 370 370 - 370 0

Total Non-Towns Fund 

Projects
707 1,905 370 2,982 140 2,982 0

Boston Town Deal – 

Accelerated Funding
- 252 252 5 252 0

Leisure 2,935 -86 2849 150 1,163 -1686

Mayflower 720 102 822 285 822 0

St Botolph’s Library - 222 222 - 222 0

Centre for Food and Fresh 

Produce Logistics
453 383 836 134 836 0

Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 746 845 391 845 0

Healing the High Street 283 29 312 - 312 0

Boston Station 1,565 -3 1562 - 1,562 0

Total Towns Fund Projects 6,055 1,645 0 7,700 965 6,014 -1,686

Grand Total 6,762 3,550 370 10,682 1,105 8,996 -1,686

2022/23 Capital Programme and Q2 Forecast Outturn

Scheme

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	1 PEER REVIEW REPORT
	Appendix A.  Peer Challenge Report
	Appendix B.  Action Plan

	2 JOINT SCRUTINY OF THE SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP
	Appendix A.  Partnership Scrutiny Report
	Appendix B. Scoping Document
	Appendix C. Questions for guest witnesses.
	Appendix D. Questionnaire Results
	Appendix E. Meeting Notes.

	3 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES
	Minutes

	4 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2023/24
	Appendix A. Consultation

	5 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCILS CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES
	Appendix 1a. Revised Contract procedure Rules
	Appendix 1b. Exemption Form SELCP
	Appendix 1c. Above PCR CCR Regulation Thresholds
	Appendix 2. Delegations to Officers in relation to Contracts
	Appendix 3. Key Change Document

	6 TREASURY REPORT
	Appendix A. Mid Term Report


